


Based in Hong Kong, PYI Corporation Limited focuses on
infrastructure investment in, and the operation of, bulk cargo
ports and logistics facilities in the Yangtze River region of
China. It also engages in land and property development

in association with port facilities. In addition, PYI provides
comprehensive engineering and property-related services
through Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B 751 &

2

Turnover (HK$m)
Gross profit (HK$m)

Earnings before interest and taxation (HK$m)

Profit attributable to shareholders (HK$m)

Shares outstanding (m)

Net asset value per share* (HK$)
Earnings per share* (HK$)
Dividend per share (HK$)

Total assets (HK$m)

Quick assets (HK$m)

Net current assets (HK$m)
Net debt (HK$m)
Shareholders’ funds (HK$m)

Current ratio

Quick ratio

Net debt/equity ratio
Gearing ratio

Return on equity
Total shareholder return*

*  Adjusted for rights issue in July 2009
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2010

4,260.4
383.1
468.8

149.3

4,529.1
0.91
0.035

14,041.0
3,991.5
1,003.6
1,453.4
4,129.7

1.21
0.82
0.35
0.74

4%
85%

2009

4,835.9
360.1
654.2

138.8

1,508.4
0.88
0.039

12,315.9
3,770.5
231.9
1,717.5
3,646.6

1.05
0.87
0.47
0.83

4%
-71%



TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN*
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MAJOR CORPORATE EVENTS
REEREE

With the strengthened financial capacity, we continued
our focused work in building an efficient bulk cargo
network which aims for a profitable future.

2 O O 9 e PYlinjected 60% of the new

capital into Yichang Port Group
for its 51% equity stake.
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PRt - AN EFEEF60% °

06.2009

e PYI completed rights issue and
raised HK$362 million.
REEETRHER - KIHEE3.62(E
BIT °
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRHESE

We will continue to deliver an
efficient logistics network with

a view to generate sustainable
returns to our shareholders.

SESHEES NERS RN
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report our annual results for the year ended 31
March 2010. Our net profit after taxation amounted to HK$149
million (2009: HK$139 million), an increase of 8% year on year.
The Board has resolved not to declare final dividend for the year
(2009: Nil).

The overall global economy stabilized during the year, while

the momentum of recovery varies across major economies.
Implementation of the RMB4 trillion program launched by the
Central Government in autumn 2008 led to quick and strong
rebound of the Mainland economy, which subsequently achieved
the target 8% GDP growth for 2009.

6 P(I:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report
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SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

HK$

4 1305,

As a result of the massive stimulus program, strong domestic
demand and continual development of infrastructure, especially

in those developing provinces, drove the demand for basic
commodities and logistics support services. Against this backdrop,
our network of bulk cargo ports contributed positively in fulfilling
the market need for time and cost-efficient transportation. Synergy
among these ports also enhanced our operational performance
during the year.

On the business development front, we improved our capital
structure after completion of the rights issue in July 2009, and
continued to take measured steps in extending our port network.
Our investment in Yichang Port Group completed in November
2009, following which Yichang Port Group became our subsidiary.
We also acquired 25% interest in Jiangyin Sunan Container
Terminal in June 2009, and increased our stake to 40% in July
2010. On the other hand, we materialized significant return by
disposing 15% interest in Yangkou Port Company. A detail review
of our operation and development this year is set out in the
Managing Director’s Report.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRHES

As we continue to tap opportunities along the Golden Waterway,
we also consistently take up our corporate social responsibility. We
were accredited the title “Caring Company” again by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of our philanthropic
contribution and voluntary services. We also maintain high
standards of corporate governance by implementation of our new
Code of Conduct and consistent internal audit programs, and
provision of relevant trainings across our offices in the Mainland.

Looking ahead, the short-term outlook of the global economy
remains uncertain, due to concerns over the recent financial crisis
in Europe and, more importantly, the lack of coordination in the
implementation of “exit strategies” by the major economies.
However, such issues are unlikely to cast major impacts on the
Mainland economy, which is supported by the strong domestic
markets and rapid urbanization. Besides, various fiscal tools

and adjustment measures used by the Central Government

will optimize the pace of economic development and avoid
overheating.
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During and after the fiscal year, more national and provincial
policies were launched. One of these policies was the Jiangsu
Coastal Region Development Plan, which raised the strategy on
development of Jiangsu Coastal Region into national level. In May
2010, the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
and Guiding the Healthy Development of Non-government
Investment was issued to encourage private investment to enter
into port development, infrastructure construction and utility
development in the Mainland. PYI fully appreciate the significance
of such policies in the economic development of the Mainland.
Therefore we have been following the national mission as we
pushed forward our Yangtze Strategy over the years and will
continue to deliver an efficient logistics network with a view to
generate sustainable returns to our shareholders.

| sincerely take this opportunity to appreciate my fellow Board
members for their successful leadership. My appreciation also goes
to our executives and staff across the nation for their dedication
and loyal service. | am most grateful to our shareholders, clients
and partners for their trust and support in our vision.

Yours faithfully,

Joseph Chow ost,
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’'S REPORT

BB IREE

The medium to long term prospect
of the bulk cargo ports and logistics

along the Yangtze River remains
positive.

RIIRBHARREEEH
ZHRRBAIRDALE -

SEVES

Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to report that PYI achieved satisfactory financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2010. Turnover amounted to
HK$4,260 million, while gross profit reached HK$383 million, an
increase of 6% from that of the preceding year. Net profit was
HK$149 million, with earnings per share reaching 3.5 HK cents.
Shareholders’ funds increased by HK$483 million to HK$4,130
million, representing a NAV per share of HK$0.91.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Ports Development

Yangkou Port

Yangkou Port contributed about HK$405 million (2009: HK$375
million) to the Group's operating profit for the year which was
mainly attributable to the gain on revaluation of about HK$325
million (2009: HK$334 million) from about 5.2 sq km land bank
situated at the harbour-front industrial zone of Yangkou Port, and
the income from usage and management of infrastructure facilities
in Yangkou Port. A deferred tax charge of HK$155 million (20009:
HK$157 million) relevant to the revaluation gain was charged to
the income statement.

10 P(I:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report
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Yangkou Port declared soft open in October 2008, with the
navigation channel also declared open and a general cargo berth
in operation. The construction of the 13 km Yellow Sea Crossing
and the 1.4 sq km man-made island, the Sun Island, had been
completed. A 0.3 sq km land parcel of the Sun Island had been
handed over to PetroChina for the construction of a LNG facility,
which is expected to commence operations in the first half

of 2011.

As at 31 March 2010, about 7.9 sq km (2009: 6.7 sq km) out

of the 30 sq km land bank at the harbour-front industrial zone
and about 1.1 sq km (2009: Nil) land bank at the Sun Island of
Yangkou Port had reached the formed and serviced stage. About
5.3 sq km (2009: 5.2 sq km) of the parcel of formed land have
been classified as investment properties of the ports development
business and measured at fair value of about HK$1,926 million
(2009: HK$1,474 million). The remaining 3.7 sq km (2009: 1.5 sq
km) of the formed land have been classified as stock of properties
under the property business.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Embankment works for the reclamation of the final 20 sq km
industrial land bank has commenced, with 10 sq km scheduled
for completion in early 2011. Highways, railway, canal and other
connecting infrastructure and utility associated with Yangkou Port
were being developed by other parties.

In June 2009, the State Council of the People’s Republic of China
approved the Jiangsu Coastal Region Development Plan, which
raised the strategy on development of Jiangsu Coastal Region
into national level. In response to the strategy, Jiangsu Provincial
Government issued the Circular Addressing Issues in Supporting
Faster Development Pace of Yangkou Port and Nantong Municipal
Government also committed to accelerate the development of
Yangkou Port as the spearhead of new growth for the city. Being
an integral part of these Plans, Yangkou Port was paved the way
for becoming a key hub port in Eastern China.

In December 2009, the Group disposed an aggregate of 15%
interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port Development and Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Yangkou Port Co"), a 75%-owned subsidiary, to

two independent third parties at an aggregate consideration

of RMB300 million (equivalent to about HK$341 million). The
disposal broadened the shareholder base of Yangkou Port Co and
optimized the background of shareholders to facilitate its future
development. Also, the disposal created a good opportunity for
the Group to crystallize the value of its investment in Yangkou Port
Co while maintaining its controlling interest in the company.

12 P(I:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report
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Ports and Logistics

PYI achieved satisfactory progress in implementing its Yangtze
Strategy during the year. The Group’s network of cargo ports was
strengthened and extended to the middle reach of the Yangtze.
These earning accretive investments make our network along the
Yangtze River more complete and synergized.

Nantong Port Group

Despite facing the global financial tsunami, due to increase in iron
ore import and domestic demand as well as the enhanced cargo
mix and rates, Nantong Port Group outperformed this year and
achieved a significant increase in net profit. Nantong Port Group
contributed about HK$59 million (2009: HK$38 million) to the
Group’s operating profit for the year. Its net profit amounted to
about HK$131 million (2009: HK$85 million) for the year ended
31 December 2009.

Nantong Port is a major river port in the Yangtze Delta, one of
China’s category-one national ports opened to foreign trade and
an important hub port of the country. The main cargoes handled
by Nantong Port Group are iron ore, minerals, cement, steel,

coal, fertilizers, grains and edible oil. It houses the second largest
distribution centre for bulk cargo down-stream. It is also the
largest sulphur feeder port in the nation and the largest hub port
for iron ore trans-shipment along the Yangtze River. Nantong Port
provides easy access to the Yangtze region by road and waterway
and is an ideal hub port for cargo trans-shipment.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Annual cargo throughput of Nantong Port Group in 2009
increased by 2% to 55 million tonnes (2008: 54 million tonnes),
while the container throughput in 2009 has dropped by 14% to
345,000 TEUs (2008: 400,000 TEUs).

Yichang Port Group

In November 2009, the Group acquired 51% equity interest

of Yichang Port Group Limited (“Yichang Port Group”) by the
injection of new capital into Yichang Port Group of RMB114
million (equivalent to about HK$130 million), giving rise to the
gain on bargain purchase of Yichang Port Group of HK$13 million.
In addition, the operation of Yichang Port Group contributed
about HK$12 million (2009: Nil) to the Group’s operating profit for
the year.

Yichang Port Group is principally engaged in transport logistics and
properties investments, providing transportation, cargo loading
and discharging, storage, shipping agent, cargo agent, port
logistics and port equipment rental services in Yichang Port, which
is situated on the Yangtze River near the Three Gorges Dam in
Yichang, Hubei.

Annual cargo throughput of Yichang Port Group for the year
ended 31 March 2010 increased by 4% to about 7.3 million
tonnes (2009: 7 million tonnes). Its annual container throughput
also increased by 33% to 53,000 TEUs (2009: 40,000 TEUs).
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Logistics sector along the Yangtze
River benefits from improved
international and domestic trades with

encouraging growth in 2009.
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Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal

In June 2009, PYI acquired 25% interest in Jiangyin Sunan
International Container Terminal Co., Ltd. (“Jiangyin Sunan”) from
Shanghai Container (Macau) Company Limited at a consideration
of RMB27.65 million (equivalent to about HK$31.4 million).
Jiangyin Sunan operates the container terminal in Jiangyin Port,
Jiangsu. It contributed about HK$1 million (2009: Nil) to the
Group's operating profit for the year.

In June 2010, the Group entered into a capital increase

agreement with other shareholders of Jiangyin Sunan to increase
the registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan from US$12.5 million
(equivalent to about RMB100.7 million) to RMB400 million.
Through the capital increase, Jiangyin Sunan can further strengthen
its capital base to induce future development and growth of its
container handling and logistics businesses. In July 2010, the Group
contributed about RMB134.8 million (equivalent to about HK$154.6
million) to the enlarged registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan to
increase its equity interest held from 25% to 40%.

Jiangyin Sunan is principally engaged in containers loading

and unloading, storage, maintenance, washing and leasing of
containers. The container terminal operated by Jiangyin Sunan

is the only container terminal in Jiangyin. Its annual container
throughput reached about 500,000 TEUs in both 2008 and 2009.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

LPG and Logistics

The LPG business of Minsheng Gas recorded an operating loss of
about HK$18 million (2009: operating profit of HK$1 million) for
the year. Minsheng Gas maintained a competitive price strategy to
capture a larger share of automotive LPG market in Wuhan, which
led to margin erosion during the second half of the year. Following
the announcement by NDRC of a recent price uplift for CNG in
June 2010, selling margin of LPG returned to a healthy level in
July 2010.

Engineering Business — Paul Y. Engineering

Paul Y. Engineering Group achieved turnover of HK$3,645 million
(2009: HK$4,427 million) during the year, down 18% compared
with last year. It contributed about HK$61 million (2009: HK$58
million) to the Group'’s operating profit during the year and
proposed a final dividend of 1.6 HK cents per share (2009: 1.5 HK
cents), or a pay-out ratio of 22% (2009: 22%). Despite the decline
in turnover, the improved margin and cost control measures had
resulted in a higher contribution to the Group.

Paul Y. Engineering Group has considerably improved its order
book and maintained stability in the amount of new contracts
secured. During the year, the management contracting division
of Paul Y. Engineering Group secured new contracts totaling
HK$4,481 million (2009: HK$4,149 million) in aggregate value.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the engineering
business secured additional contracts of HK$812 million. As

at 31 March 2010, the total value of contracts on hand of

Paul Y. Engineering Group was about HK$10,093 million (2009:
HK$10,625 million).
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While the private sector remained cautious in their investment
plans throughout the year, expenditure in public works saw
substantial growth. Paul Y. Engineering Group has taken
proactive approach in tapping such opportunities, and has been
awarded a number of advance work contracts related to the Ten
Major Infrastructure Projects, paving the way for tapping major
construction contracts in the future.

Property

The property business contributed about HK$34 million (2009:
HK$328 million) to the Group's operating profit for the year. The
profit was mainly attributable to the gain on revaluation of about
2 sq km (2009: 2 sq km) formed land situated at Xiao Yangkou of
HK$41 million (2009: HK$335 million). A deferred tax charge of
HK$19 million (2009: HK$154 million) relevant to the revaluation
gain was also charged to the income statement.

As at 31 March 2010, about 2 sq km (2009: 2 sq km) of the

12 sq km land bank situated at Xiao Yangkou have reached the
formed and serviced stage and were classified as investment
properties and measured at fair value of about HK$462 million
(2009: HK$420 million), whereas 2.7 sq km (2009: 1.5 sq km)
formed land situated at the harbour-front industrial zone and
about 1 sq km (2009: Nil) formed land situated at the Sun Island of
Yangkou Port were held as trading stock.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Wanhua Zijin Garden, a residential property development near
Yangkou Port with a gross floor area of 65,000 sq m, was
substantially completed and contributed turnover of about
HK$108 million (2009: HK$21 million) during the year. A
cumulative area of about 38,000 sq m with a total contract value
of about RMB194 million has been sold or pre-sold up to 31 March
2010, representing about 64% of its total saleable area.

Nantong International Trade Center is a commercial and office
development in the heart of Nantong with a gross floor area of
some 80,000 sq m. This complex is scheduled for completion by
mid 2011. A cumulative area of about 22,000 sq m with a total
contract value of about RMB192 million has been pre-sold up to
31 March 2010, representing about 35% of its total saleable area.

In Hangzhou, PYI holds an investment property, the Pioneer
Technology Building, which is an office building with gross floor
area of some 20,000 sq m. The building contributed rental income
of about HK$6 million (2009: HK$4 million) and its occupancy
reached about 96% as at 31 March 2010.
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Treasury

The treasury investments contributed about HK$38,000 (2009:
loss of HK$54 million) towards the Group's operating profit for the
year. During the year, the trading securities recorded a fair value
gain of HK$14 million against a fair value loss of HK$67 million
in previous year. Despite an impairment loss on an available-for-
sale investment of about HK$37 million (2009: HK$20 million),
the high-yield loans income contributes to keep the segment
profitable. As at 31 March 2010, total value of the Group’s
portfolio of trading securities amounted to about HK$44 million
(2009: HK$13 million), equivalent to about 0.3% (2009: 0.1%)
of the Group’s total assets. Portfolio of high-yield loans receivable
amounted to about HK$267 million (2009: HK$353 million),
equivalent to about 2% (2009: 3%) of the Group’s total assets.
Subsequent to the year end, this loan portfolio has been reduced
to about HK$112 million.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year, the Group acquired 51% interest in Yichang Port
Group at a consideration of about HK$130 million and disposed
15% interest in Yangkou Port Co at an aggregate consideration of
RMB300 million (equivalent to about HK$341 million). The Group
remains holding a 60% equity stake in Yangkou Port Co.

Apart from the above, there are no other material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries and associates during the year.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In June 2010, the Group entered into a capital increase agreement
to increase the registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan from US$12.5
million (equivalent to about RMB100.7 million) to RMB400 million.
The Group has contributed about RMB134.8 million (equivalent

to about HK$154.6 million) to the enlarged registered capital of
Jiangyin Sunan to increase its equity interest held in Jiangyin Sunan
from 25% to 40%.

Apart from the above, there are no other major subsequent events
since the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this
report.

OUTLOOK

Despite improvement of international market sentiment during the
first half of the fiscal year, signs of deterioration appeared again
near and after year end. Concerns were sparkled over the financial
crisis in Europe and potential double-dip of the global economy.

In China, the Central Government has taken various initiatives to
successfully fine tune the domestic property market. However,
China is still expected to register relatively steady growth in the
second half of 2010.
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The medium to long term prospect of the bulk cargo ports

and logistics along the Yangtze River remains positive, as the
irreversible and ongoing development of Central and Western
China is supported by organic growth as well as national policies.
More policies were launched by the Central Government during
and after the fiscal year, calling for enterprises’ further participation
in the development of ports and infrastructure. PYI will continue to
follow these national policies and will strive to further implement
our Yangtze Strategy. With the strengthened financial capacity, PYI
is ready to deliver the strategic options on our Yangtze Strategy
with a view to enhance our shareholders’ value through effective
adjustments to our implementation measures.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to
our Chairman for his vision and successful leadership, to our board
members for their valuable guidance and monitoring, and our
executive and staff team across the nation for their dedication and
loyalty. We also appreciate our business partners and shareholders
for their trust in our vision and support over the years.

Yours faithfully,

Tom Lau
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010

ERREMEEARBELERBREESRT  KEN
MR ERIAFATHREEGEORYRZTER
ASMALE - PABRNEVRFERRIERKELE

SRE BEHECEL2EBORERER -REFLEER
BEELBERBE  FHE-—SERRIRE - BEAM
BERIVBEN RECEFGRE  BRRITREBEFLE
BRMERE WEBAMBEETHEG RBAKRRZEER-

AANBUROBHEEEIRNELERAEE EFH
LANBERESEER UREBEEREINAMER
B RELCAHNHERHERREEEARBEAOSEER
ZERNIE  TTRRHE -

AR
28R
RERK

HE - 201057 H16H

il gexEaram 201088 21



FINANCIAL REVIEW
B 75 2] B8

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded a
consolidated turnover of about HK$4,260 million (2009: HK$4,836
million), representing a decrease of about 12% when compared
with last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in turnover of the Group’s engineering arm - Paul Y.
Engineering and its subsidiaries (the “Paul Y. Engineering Group”).

The Group’s gross profit increased by 6% to about HK$383 million
(2009: HK$360 million) as compared with the last year. Such
gross profit represented a gross margin of 9% (2009: 7%) of the
consolidated turnover. Profit before taxation of about HK$402
million was achieved as compared with about HK$577 million for
the last year. The Group’s profit before taxation was composed of:

(i) net gain of about HK$61 million in Paul Y. Engineering
Group engaged in management contracting and property
development management businesses (2009: HK$58 million);

(i) net gain of about HK$405 million in ports development
business (2009: HK$375 million);

(iii) net gain of about HK$67 million in ports and logistics
business (2009: HK$39 million);

(iv) net gain of about HK$34 million in property business (2009:
HK$328 million);

(v) net gain of about HK$38,000 in treasury business (2009: net
loss of HK$54 million);

(vi) net corporate and other expenses (including inter-segment
profit eliminations) of about HK$99 million (2009: HK$92
million) of which about HK$22 million was acquisition-related
costs (2009: HK$11 million); and

(vii) finance costs of about HK$66 million (2009: HK$77 million).

Net profit for the year attributable to the owners of PYl was

about HK$149 million (2009: HK$139 million) and basic earnings
per share was 3.5 HK cents (2009: 3.9 HK cents). The improved
net profit was mainly attributable to (a) the increase in profit
contribution from the ports and logistics business, as benefited
from the growth in share of profit from Nantong Port Group by
55% to HK$59 million (2009: HK$38 million) despite facing the
global financial tsunami; (b) gain on bargain purchase of 51%
interest in Yichang Port Group of HK$13 million (2009: Nil); and (c)
continuous cost control measures.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

When compared with the Group’s financial position as at last year
end, total assets increased by 14% to about HK$14,041 million
(2009: HK$12,316 million) and net current assets increased by
333% to about HK$ 1,004 million (2009: HK$232 million). These
changes were mainly attributable to the fair value appreciation

of investment properties and the completion in development

of certain properties held for sale located at Yangkou Port.
Consequently, current assets increased from 1.05 times to 1.21
times of current liabilities. After accounting for the net profit of
about HK$149 million, net proceeds of about HK$350 million
from issue of shares on subscription of rights issue completed

in July 2009 and surplus arising from RMB exchange translation
of about HK$15 million, equity attributable to owners of PYI
increased by 13% to about HK$4,130 million (2009: HK$3,647
million), representing HK$0.91 per share as at 31 March 2010
(2009: HK$2.42 per share, equivalent to HK$0.88 per share

after adjustments of the net proceeds from rights issue of about
HK$350 million and the 3,019,350,218 rights shares in issue as a
result of the rights issue completed in July 2009).

Net cash inflow from operating activities was about HK$44 million
(2009: HK$76 million) and that from financing activities was about
HK$444 million (2009: HK$742 million). Net cash outflow from
investing activities was about HK$229 million (2009: HK$682
million), resulting in a net increase in available cash and cash
equivalents of about HK$259 million (2009: HK$136 million) for
the year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group continues to adopt a prudent funding and treasury
policy with regard to its overall business operations. A variety

of credit facilities are maintained to meet its working capital
requirements and committed capital expenditure. The loans of the
Group bear interest at market rates and have terms of repayment
ranging from one year to ten years. In an effort to minimize the
adverse impact of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations on
the Group’s earnings, assets and liabilities, the Group continues to
manage the fluctuation exposures on specific transactions.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s total borrowings amounted

to about HK$3,049 million (2009: HK$3,023 million) with about
HK$1,563 million (2009: HK$1,272 million) repayable on demand
or within one year and about HK$1,486 million (2009: HK$1,751
million) repayable after one year. Out of the Group’s total
borrowings of about HK$3,049 million (2009 : HK$3,023 million),

about HK$322 million (2009: HK$316 million) was non-recourse to

the Group (excluding the Paul Y. Engineering Group).
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As at 31 March 2010, about HK$461 million (2009: HK$476
million) of the Group’s borrowings bore interest at floating rates
and were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, about HK$144
million (2009: HK$129 million) bore interest at fixed rates and
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, about HK$2,161
million (2009: HK$2,267 million) bore interest at floating rates
and were denominated in Renminbi, and about HK$283 million
(2009: HK$151 million) bore interest at a fixed rate and were
denominated in Renminbi. The Group’s gearing ratio was 0.74
(2009: 0.83), which was calculated based on the total borrowings
of about HK$3,049 million (2009: HK$3,023 million) and the
Group’s shareholders’ fund of about HK$4,130 million (2009:
HK$3,647 million).

Cash balance as at 31 March 2010 amounted to about HK$1,033
million (2009: HK$922 million), of which about HK$34 million
(2009: HK$183 million) has been pledged to banks to secure
general credit facilities granted to the Group. As at 31 March
2010, the Group has a net debt position (being cash balances net
of bank borrowings) of about HK$ 1,453 million (2009: HK$1,718
million).

In July 2007, the Group, through Yangkou Port Co, entered into
a 7-year project loan facility agreement for RMB960 million with
a syndicate of eight domestic banks in Nanjing, China. This
syndicated loan, bearing the current Renminbi long-term loan
benchmark interest rate as announced by the People’s Bank of
China, has been used to fund construction of the 13 km Yellow

Sea Crossing and the 1.4 sg km man-made island at Yangkou Port.

As at 31 March 2010, the outstanding balance of the syndicated
loan amounted to RMB600 million (2009: RMB800 million).

In July 2009, PYI completed a rights issue by issuing and allotting
3,019,350,218 rights shares at a subscription price of HK$0.12
each on the basis of two rights shares for every share of PYI held
on 9 June 2009. The net proceeds of about HK$350 million were
intended to be used on PYI’s investment in port and port-related
projects and as general working capital of PYI.

In December 2009, the Group disposed an aggregate of 15%
interest in Yangkou Port Co and a net proceed of about HK$316
million was received.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has contingent liabilities in
respect of guarantees given to banks for banking facilities given
to third parties of about HK$46 million (2009: HK$23 million for a
third party and HK$12 million for an associate).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2010, certain property interests, property, plant
and equipment, trade receivables and bank balances of the

Group with an aggregate value of about HK$1,980 million (2009:
HK$1,676 million) and benefits over certain construction contracts
were pledged to banks and financial institutions to secure general
credit facilities granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2010, about
HK$48 million (2009: HK$83 million) of these pledged assets was
used to secure credit facilities which were non-recourse to the
Group (excluding the Paul Y. Engineering Group).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has expenditure contracted for
but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment and
project under development in the amount of about HK$97 million
(2009: HK$541 million).
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
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PYI strives to deliver the Yangtze Strategy to
building a critical mass and to forming an
integrated network in all reaches of the
Yangtze River region, and taps on opportunities
from peripheral property developments.
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Yangkou Port
FOB

Yangkou Port, a natural deep-sea port near the mouth of the
Yangtze River in Eastern China, declared soft open with its first
general cargo berth in operation in October 2008 and is poised
to become a major trans-shipment hub specializing in bulk cargo
and a large-scale petrochemical industrial and logistics zone. PYI
developed, owned and operated Yangkou Port which comprises
of an industrial and logistics park, a 13 km completed Yellow Sea
Crossing and a 1.4 sq km completed man-made island with 29
berths.

Embankment works for the final 20 sq km of the total 42 sq km
land bank has commenced. Building of LNG facilities on a 0.3
sg km land parcel on the Sun Island acquired by PetroChina is
expected to be completed in the first half of 2011. Highways,
railway, canal and other connecting infrastructure and utility
associated with Yangkou Port are being developed concurrently.

According to the Jiangsu Coastal Region Development Plan
approved by the State Council in June 2009, and the Circular
Addressing Issues in Supporting Faster Development Pace of
Yangkou Port issued by the Jiangsu Provincial Government,

Yangkou Port is highlighted as one of the major development port.

In order to crystallize the value of Yangkou Port as part of our
Yangtze Strategy, PYI disposed 15% interest in December 2009
and as a result, Yangkou Port became a 60% subsidiary of PYI.

134

YELLOW SEA CROSSING
COMPLETED
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Nantong Port Group
MEEOEE

Nantong Port is a major river port in the Yangtze Delta and

an important hub port of the country. It is one of China‘s
category-one national ports opened to foreign trade. It owns a
shoreline of 4.2 km and a land mass of 1.5 sq km with 5 major
terminals namely Tongzhou Terminal, Jianghai Terminal, Yaogang
Terminal, Langshan Terminal and the Container Terminal. They
together operate 23 berths, including 2 berths for vessels of
150,000 tonnage, 5 berths for vessels of 70,000 tonnage, 3
berths for vessels of 50,000 tonnage and 3 berths for vessels of
10,000 tonnage.

The main cargoes handled by Nantong Port Group are iron ore,
minerals, cement, steel, coal, sulphur, fertilizers, grains and edible
oil. It houses the second largest distribution centre for bulk cargo
down-stream. It is also the largest sulphur feeder port in the nation
and the largest hub port for iron ore trans-shipment along the
Yangtze River. Nantong Port provides easy access to the Yangtze
Region by road and waterway which is an ideal hub port for cargo
trans-shipment.

In 2009, Nantong Port had reached over 100 million tonnes
annual throughput for the fourth consecutive year. Annual cargo
throughput of Nantong Port Group recorded 55 million tonnes in
2009, representing 2% year-on-year growth.
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Based in Wuhan, Minsheng Gas owns and operates the largest
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) river terminal and storage tank farm
in mid-stream Yangtze. Minsheng Gas is poised to boost its leading
position in the infrastructure and logistics facilities for LPG, oil and
liquid bulk chemicals market in Central China.

Minsheng Gas is a leading player in the Wuhan LPG market for
automotive consumption, as well as wholesale and distribution
of LPG products. Minsheng Gas established a Vehicle Conversion
Research and Development Center to support the application of
its research and development on the construction of LPG fueling
stations, conversion of motor vehicles to LPG and vehicles gas
fueling. In 2009, the retail “Good Luck” brand was launched to
provision high-quality industrial, commercial and domestic LPG
products serving Wuhan and peripheral cities.
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ur - Jiaxing International Feeder Port
_u 5= B R SR [ PR A 5

B W WA

Located at Nanhu district of Jiaxing city, Jiaxing Feeder Port multi- i
% %JE’]E@I%W/—J/%DZ &/Tﬁ/lé E%I& °

functional zone is one of the major feeder ports in China planned
by Ministry of Transport and a focal infrastructure project in

o

Zhejiang province. BEAEM32.68FHK A FFBERSTOR - BEZ10

, R 2mEK - HARM NG EDFF2508 0 o &
The feeder port owns a shoreline of 570 m gnd a land mass of BREEOESEEN  SWA I EENSREG - £
326,000 sg m. Its annual throughput capacity could reach 2.5 IR SR R RSB - B IR E Y eE B

million tonnes upon completion of the 10 berths. Custom office
is situated in port area for efficient consignment, clearance and
declaration at one stop. The port also features a range of logistics

Fr-Bf&E ERFEESENEZEMAERYRE
W% EEEAUEDRELNAL -

supporting services such as examination, steam sterilization T 58 2 34201 04F 5 h ) 25 38 7, « 25 B 7 A IS T 9B 2%
ey . . . < /

facilities, storage and information services etc. N L

The port declared soft open in mid 2010. Riding on the prime B LBERMER D -

location, Jiaxing International Feeder Port is poised to become
a major feeder port that supports the Shanghai International
Shipping Centre, providing comprehensive supporting and
logistics services.
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.‘;f’-"‘;i Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal

¥ IRHmEREER

Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal operates the container terminal
in Jiangyin Port which is the only container terminal in Jiangyin.
The terminal occupies a land area of 0.49 sq km and a shoreline
of 589 m long with 3 berths of 50,000 tonnes maximum capacity
as well as a secondary shoreline of 1,090 m long with 8 berths

for barges of 5,000 tonnes capacity each. The annual container
throughput of the terminal reached 500,000 TEUs in both 2008
and 2009.

Jiangyin Sunan is principally engaged in containers loading
and unloading, storage, maintenance, washing and leasing of
containers etc.

In June 2009, PYI acquired 25% interest in Jiangyin Sunan from
Shanghai International Port Group at a consideration of RMB27.65
million (HK$31.4 million). In July 2010, PYl increased the capital
base of Jiangyin Sunan from US$12.5 million (RMB100.7 million)
to RMB400 million by contributing RMB134.8 million (HK$154.6
million) for an increase of equity interest from 25% to 40%.
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Yichang Port Group
HEBKEER

Yichang Port is situated on the Yangtze River near the Three
Gorges Dam in Hubei Province. Yichang Port Group is principally
engaged in transport logistics and property investments, providing
transportation, cargo loading and discharging, storage, shipping
agent, cargo agent, port logistics and port equipment rental
services in Yichang Port.

In this fiscal year, the annual cargo throughput of Yichang Port
reached 7.3 million tonnes, representing a 4% year-on-year
growth. Its annual container throughput also increased by 33%
to 53,000 TEUs.

Expansion of Yichang Port is underway to seize the growing
demand for logistics and transportation services along the middle
and upper reaches of the Yangtze. The Yunchi Port Terminal will
consist of six berths with total annual throughput capacity of
400,000 TEUs and 1.8 million tonnes of bulk cargo. The 200-acres
Linjiangping Logistics Park will comprise of six service zones. The
first phase of construction works of the coal blending center at
Zhicheng Port has completed. Annual gross capacity is expected to
reach 10 million tonnes upon completion.

In November 2009, PYI completed the acquisition of 51% equity
interest of Yichang Port Group by the injection of new capital of
RMB114 million (HK$130 million).
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LM Paul Y. Engineering
-~ | 2B 2
— REEZE

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Paul Y. Engineering is dedicated

to providing full-fledged engineering and property services with
operations in Hong Kong, Macau, the Mainland and Middle

East. For more than six decades, Paul Y. Engineering has played

a significant role in shaping Hong Kong’s skyline with its world-
class infrastructure, including major commercial and residential
buildings, public housing, institutional facilities, highways, railways,
tunnels, port works, water and sewage treatment facilities etc.

Paul V. Engineering has considerably improved its order book and
maintained stability in the amount of new contracts secured. It has
been awarded a number of advance work contracts related to the
Ten Major Infrastructure Projects. Totally HK$4,481 million new
contracts are secured during the year, representing a year-on-year
growth of 8%. As at year end, the total value of contracts on hand
amounted to HK$10,093 million.

NEW CONTRACTS
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BB zHeahEE

million
BEBTT
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'y PYI Property

ﬁ REREHE
Port pushes forward the development of communities in BORENELEINER 2R YHRLREE
surrounding area, and generates opportunities in land and BIEPgM c RELEEZTESEBEONERIERE B
property developments. PYI captures the first-mover advantage ETEEBY . NEENEERERIERK SR
from the strategic investments in various ports, and maximizes
these opportunities to extract returns from peripheral RREOBUENIARE Y NEOD  BEEIREERE
property developments. BIE - e 8 TEEMEIE -

Xiao Yangkou is located about 35 km west of Yangkou Port and is
planned to be developed as residential and resort area in support
of the Yangkou industrial zone.

BERSREDAMOIFOBZAEYE BREEERE
E65,000F Ak RETK HEBHEREEEELD
38,000 F 7K » (h 2 AT HEEE4964% o

Wanhua Zijin Garden, a residential property development near

Yangkou Port with a gross floor area of 65,000 sq m is completed. EEEERONINERTRL B EEERRARE
Accumulative area of about 38,000 sq m has been sold or pre- A KR BBEEELS0 000 K o BEEE EHER
sold, representing about 64% of its total saleable area. Q0MEERFRT - £ REBEEEL22 000 5K - 15

. . . . 2 3] = & 4 o
Nantong International Trade Center is a commercial and office 2H A EEFAI35%

development in the heart of Nantong City with a gross floor . s s 1
area of 80,000 sq m. This complex is scheduled to be completed RBEMBAEDURAMZBAERE - RREERL

by mid 2011. Around 35% of its saleable area which is about 20,000°F 75K - HERENRERSRARR - ARER
22,000 sq m has been pre-sold. REHR 2 H T EL)E6% o

Pioneer Technology Building is an office building with gross floor
area of some 20,000 sq m situated in Hangzhou. The building

is held as an investment property to derive rental income. Its
occupancy reached about 96% by the end of this fiscal year.

ACCUMULATIVE SOLD AREA OF
WANHUA ZIJIN GARDEN
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
E5H

DR CHOW MING KUEN, JOSEPH os: »
[ERAMETE £ ose
Chairman

3 &F
a5

Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph osz », aged 69, is the Chairman of the
Company. Dr Chow was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in September 2004 and took up the position

of Chairman in July 2005. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Compliance
Committee, a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and Share
Repurchase Committee (alternate to Mr Chan Shu Kin), and an independent
non-executive director of five subsidiaries of the Company. Dr Chow is a
civil and structural engineer by profession. He is the Chairman of the Hong
Kong Construction Workers Registration Authority and a Hon. Senior
Superintendent of the Hong Kong Auxiliary Police Force. Dr Chow previously
served as President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Chairman

of Hong Kong Engineers’ Registration Board, Hong Kong Examinations

and Assessment Authority, Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital as
well as the Hong Kong Country Club. He is currently Chairman of Joseph
Chow & Partners Ltd., a firm of independent civil and structural consulting
engineers. Dr Chow is also a non-executive director of Wheelock Properties
Limited (0049.HK), and an independent non-executive director of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (0025.HK), Build King Holdings Limited
(0240.HK) and Road King Infrastructure Limited (1098.HK).
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MR LAU KO YUEN, TOM
gmREE
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director

Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom, aged 59, is the Deputy Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is a member of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Share Repurchase Committee,

and a director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Lau has over 37
years' international corporate development and management experience in
infrastructure developments as well as construction and engineering services
involving the road, rail, port, power, telecommunications, mining and
resources sectors in the Asia Pacific Region. He joined the Group in 1991 and
has been responsible for the Group’s corporate development strategy, and
overall performance. Mr Lau is also the Deputy Chairman and non-executive
director of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited (0577.HK), Chairman and
executive director of Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited (0310.HK) and
an independent non-executive director of China National Building Material
Company Limited (3323.HK).

DR CHAN KWOK KEUNG, CHARLES
B5R B 0% 18 &=

Non-Executive Director

FHNTEE

Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, aged 55, is a non-executive director of

the Company. He is a member of the Company’s Nomination Committee
(alternate to Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom). Dr Chan holds an Honorary degree of
Doctor of Laws and a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering and has over 30
years' international corporate management experience in the construction
and property sectors as well as in strategic investments. He joined the Group
in 1987 and was Chairman of the Company until July 2005. Dr Chan is

also the Chairman and executive director of ITC Corporation Limited (0372.
HK) which is a substantial shareholder of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed “Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders/
Other Persons” in the Directors’ Report and was the Chairman and executive
director of Hanny Holdings Limited (0275.HK) until September 2008.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
E5H

MR KWOK SHIU KEUNG, ERNEST
FBAoREAE

Independent Non-Executive Director
BN TEE

Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest, aged 74, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in 1993. He is a member of the
Company’'s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Compliance Committee. Mr Kwok is a practising solicitor,

a chartered civil engineer and a practising arbitrator. He was a registered
structural engineer and an authorised person (List Il) under the Hong Kong
Buildings Ordinance for more than 20 years. Mr Kwok is also a member of
the Institution of Civil Engineers, United Kingdom and a fellow member of
both of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Arbitrators.

MR CHAN SHU KIN

PRAGIER e 4

Independent Non-Executive Director
HIHFHNTEE

Mr Chan Shu Kin, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in September 2004. He is the Chairman of the
Company’'s Audit Committee and Share Repurchase Committee and

a member of the Company’s Compliance Committee and Nomination
Committee (alternate to Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest). Mr Chan has over 33
years’ experience in auditing, accounting and financial management services.
He graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as well as an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr Chan is a partner of Messrs Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an independent non-executive director of PetroAsian
Energy Holdings Limited (0850.HK).
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Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass », aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in August 2006.

He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee and an independent non-executive director of two subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr Leung previously served the Hong Kong Government
for over 32 years until his retirement as the Director of the Office of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region in Beijing
("Beijing Office”) in November 2005. He joined the Administrative Service
in June 1973 and rose to the rank of Administrative Officer Staff Grade A1
in June 1996. During his service in the Administrative Service, Mr Leung
had served in various policy bureaux and departments, including Deputy
Secretary for District Administration (later re-titled as Deputy Secretary for
Home Affairs); Deputy Secretary for Planning, Environment and Lands;
Private Secretary, Government House; Secretary for Planning, Environment
and Lands; and Director of the Beijing Office. Mr Leung has extensive
experience in corporate leadership and public administration. During his
tenure as the Director of the Beijing Office, he had made commendable
efforts in promoting Hong Kong in the Mainland, as well as fostering
better understanding, establishing closer links and facilitating exchanges in

various spheres between Hong Kong and the Mainland. Mr Leung is also an

independent non-executive director of Paliburg Holdings Limited (0617.HK)
and North Asia Resources Holdings Limited (0061.HK).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
E5H

MR LI CHANG AN

FERTE

Independent Non-Executive Director
HUIHHTEE

Mr Li Chang An, aged 75, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in January 2007. Mr Li was the Vice Secretary of
Shangdong Provincial Party Committee from 1983 to 1987. He was further
appointed as the Governor of Shangdong Province in June 1985. He was the
Deputy Secretary-General of the State Council between 1987 and 1993, and
was elected as an alternate member of the Eleventh CPC Central Committee
and a member of Twelfth CPC Central Committee. Mr Li was the Executive
Vice Chairman of China Poly Group Corporation from 1993 to 2001. He
was also the Chairman of the board of China Orient Telecomm Satellite
Company, Limited from 1995 to 2003.

MR CHAN YIU LUN, ALAN

3R 22 ik ot A

Non-Executive Director

(Alternate to Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles)
FHHITEE

(B L #1EL)

Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan, aged 26, was appointed as an alternate director

to Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles in July 2010. He graduated from Trinity
College of Arts and Sciences of Duke University, USA, with a Bachelor of
Arts Degree in Political Science — International Relations. Mr Chan previously
worked in investment banking division of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc..
He is currently an executive director of ITC Corporation Limited (0372.HK)
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed “Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders/
Other Persons” in the Director’s Report; and ITC Properties Group Limited
(0199.HK), a director of Burcon NutraScience Corporation (“Burcon”), the
securities of which are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (BU.TSX) and
Frankfurt Stock Exchange (WKN 157793-FWB) and an advisor of the Bisagni
Environmental Enterprise (BEE Inc.). He was an alternate director to Ms Chau
Mei Wah, Rosanna in Burcon until 23 April 2010. Mr Chan is also the son of
Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, a non-executive director of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EREERE

MS YANG YAN
Bt
Chief Representative — China

EBAEARE FIE

PYI Corporation Limited
REEBAFR LA

Ms Yang Yan, aged 42, joined the Group in 2003. She is the
Chief Representative of the Company in China and is responsible
for originating and monitoring the performance of the Group’s
investments in the Mainland, including the Yangkou Port project,

and holds directorship in a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms Yang has many years of experience in corporate development
and general administration and holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration.

MR WONG YIU HUNG
=R A
Chief Financial Officer

JBF B 7K B
BREYIKEE

PYI Corporation Limited
REEBEAFR AT

Mr Wong Yiu Hung, aged 45, joined the Group in 2004. He is
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and is responsible
for all financial management and accounting matters of the
Group. Mr Wong holds directorship in a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. He has over 23 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management in both international
accounting firms and listed companies. Mr Wong holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Chinese Law from Peking University. He

is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and a practising certified public accountant
in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE

MR KO HIU FUNG
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G= (] T /B 4E B3\ = F
EELRBEF NG E

PYI Corporation Limited
RESEBFR LA

A ~ ‘
Mr Ko Hiu Fung, aged 36, joined the Group in 2008. He is the
Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary of the Company and
is responsible for all legal, regulatory, compliance and company
secretarial matters of the Group. Mr Ko holds directorship in a
number of subsidiaries of the Company and is a member of the
Company’s Compliance Committee. He holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Law from University of Glamorgan, Wales and is a qualified
barrister in Hong Kong, England and Wales. Mr Ko has over

12 years’ experience in the legal profession and had been the
corporate counsel of several listed companies.

MR WEI WEN KUI
BB E

TEF OB IREREBR AT

TETRFAEREBRAR

Mr Wei Wen Kui, aged 45, joined the Group in 2006. He is

the Director and General Manager of Jiangsu Yangkou Port

and Jiangsu Yangtong and is responsible for the operations

and development of the Yangkou Port subsidiaries, and holds
directorships in various PRC subsidiaries. Mr Wei has extensive
experience in the design and development of petrochemical
storage facilities, and the management of large-scale petroleum
and chemical logistics facilities for national and multinational
corporations in China. In collaboration with relevant authorities at
the national and local levels, he has performed extensive research
on China’s oil storage and logistics sector, particularly in the
regions of Bohai Bay, the Yangtze Delta and the Pearl River Delta.
Mr Wei holds a Bachelor’s degree from the China University of
Petroleum, majoring in petroleum and chemical processing.
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Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary
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Jiangsu YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd.
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MR WANG WEI GUO
TEBEEE

Director and General Manager

Nantong Port Group Limited
MmENSBEERAR

Mr Wang Wei Guo, aged 48, joined the Nantong Port Group in
1989. He is the Director and General Manager of Nantong Port
Group Limited and is responsible for the overall operations and
business development of the Nantong Port Group. Mr Wang
has extensive experience in the development, management

and operation of port business. He worked for the Ministry of
Communications from 1982 to 1989, after which he held various
senior positions at Nantong Port Authority, including deputy
head of its commerce department, executive officer in charge of
its cargo-forwarding centre and deputy commissioner, and was
the General Manager and Chairman of Nantong Port (Group)
Co., Ltd. A senior economist, Mr Wang graduated from Nanjing
College of Communications and Hehai University. He was also a
representative of the Tenth Session of the People’s Congress of
Jiangsu Province.

MR LIU HONG WEI
2 RERE
Investment Director

PYI Corporation Limited
REEEFRAF

Mr Liu Hong Wei, aged 40, joined the Group in 2006. He is

the Investment Director of the Company and is responsible for
the overall development and operation of the Group’s land and
property business in association with port facilities, and is a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Liu has more
than 18 years of experience in project management as well as
real estate project development and management. He graduated

from the Beijing Institute of Technology with a Bachelor’s degree in

Engineering, major in Communications Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE

MR YU BING
RERE
Director and General Manager

EE A TE

MIERERRRIERBR QA

Mr Yu Bing, aged 44, joined the Group in 2008. He is the Director
and General Manager of Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum Gas
Limited and is responsible for the operations and development of
the Hubei Minsheng subsidiaries and holds directorships in various
PRC subsidiaries. He had been the senior executive of a number of
top 500 multinational corporations and listed companies for more
than 16 years. He has extensive experience in corporate operation
management and project management. Mr Yu holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Macromolecule Synthesize from Beijing University of
Chemical Technology.

MR SU ZHI JUN
REELAE
Investment Director
BB

PYI Corporation Limited
RESEGRAF

Mr Su Zhi Jun, aged 39, joined the Group in 2006. He is the
Investment Director of the Company and is responsible for
originating and overseeing the Group’s investments in feeder
ports in the Yangtze River region as well as their operation and
management. Mr Su holds directorship in a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. He has more than 13 years of investment,
operation and management experience in infrastructure projects.
He worked for a state-owned shipping and logistics enterprise
prior to joining the Group. Mr Su graduated from the Faculty of
Navigation, Dalian Maritime University.
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Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited
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MR XUAN XIAQO FEl
B

General Manager

Py

Mr Xuan Xiao Fei, aged 39, joined the Group in 2006. He is the
General Manager of Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port
Limited and is responsible for the operation and development of
Jiaxing Feeder Port project and the business development of the
Group’s investments in feeder ports in the Yangtze River region. He
is a director of various PRC subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Xuan
possesses over 18 years' experience in project investment and
development, corporate finance, financial management as well as
finance. He held senior positions at state-owned bank, real estate,
multinational infrastructure investment and logistics enterprises
prior to joining the Group. Mr Xuan graduated from the Faculty of
Finance, University of Zhejiang and is a PRC accountant.
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MR CHEN FA YI
Chairman

Yichang Port Group Limited
HEABEEBRAEEAR

Mr Chen Fa Vi, aged 59, joined Yichang Port Group in 1975. He
is the Chairman of Yichang Port Group Limited and is responsible
for its overall operation and business development. Mr Chen has
extensive experience in various aspects of port industry including
business development, management and operation of ports. He
held various senior positions during his service for Yichang Port
Authority, including the General Manager of Huiyang Company of
Yichang Port Bureau and deputy commissioner and commissioner
of Yichang Port Bureau. Mr Chen is a senior economist and
engineer. He graduated from Wuhan College of River Transport
and Wuhan University of Technology. He was also a representative
of the People’s Congress of Yichang City and Prefecture. He

is currently the Executive Director of China Ports & Harbours
Association and Vice President of Yangtze River Ports Association.

Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port Limited

fit
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE

MS MEI HONG
Sy G

Legal Counsel, China
7 Y A

PYI Corporation Limited
RESEBFR LA

Ms Mei Hong, aged 38, joined the Group in 2007. She is the
Legal Counsel of the Company in China and is responsible for all
China legal matters of the Group and a director of various PRC
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms Mei is a qualified PRC lawyer
with 16 years’ practising experience. Before joining the Group, she
served one of prestigious law firms in China specializing in FDI,
M&A and securities. Ms Mei holds a Bachelor's degree in law from
the University of Zhejiang.

PY| Corporation Limited
RELBER AT

Mr Chan Dik Keung, William, aged 41, joined the Group in 1993.
He is the Assistant Financial Controller of the Company and is
responsible for the financial and management reporting of the
Group. Mr Chan has over 17 years of experience in accounting
and financial management in listed companies. He holds a Master’s
degree in Applied Finance from The University of Melbourne

and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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MR ZHU YONG MING
RoKBRSE £
Corporate Finance Director, China

Reg/ona/ FmanC/a/ Controller, Zhejiang

1oy 77 15 A &

PYI Corporation Limited
RESEARRA

Mr Zhu Yong Ming, aged 39, joined the Group in 2005. He is

the Corporate Finance Director of the Company in the PRC and
Regional Financial Controller in Zhejiang and is responsible for the
corporate finance activities of the Group’s projects in the Mainland
and is also responsible for monitoring the financial functions of the
Group’s projects in Zhejiang region. He is a director of a subsidiary
of the Company. Mr Zhu possesses over 16 years' experience in
investment and financial management, corporate finance as well
as operations management. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the financial controller and investment manager of a number

of multinational corporations. He holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from Thunderbird Business School in the
United States and is a PRC certified accountant and a member of
International Certified Internal Auditors.

MS TSANG SAU YING
BHERL LT
Regional Financial Controller, Hubei

L[5 b B 7R 46 -
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PYI Corporation Limited
REEBEBRA

Ms Tsang Sau Ying, aged 41, joined the Group in 2006. She

is the Regional Financial Controller in Hubei and is responsible
for monitoring the financial function of the Group’s projects

in the Hubei region. Ms Tsang has over 19 years of experience

in auditing, accounting and financial management. She had
worked as the Financial Controller and Financial Manager in the
subsidiaries of several multinational and listed companies. She
holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from The
University of Hong Kong, with majors in accounting and finance.
Ms Tsang is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE

MR LIU DONG
BIRIEE

Financial Controller

G7 7K 48 E-

Nantong Port Group Limited
MmENSBEERAR

Mr Liu Dong, aged 38, joined the Group in 2006. He has been
the financial controller of Nantong Port Group Limited since
March 2008 and is responsibile for accounting and financial
management of Nantong Port Group. Mr Liu has more than 16
years of experience in accounting management. He worked for a
national petrochemical group prior to joining the Group, and was
responsible for the financial aspects of a number of petrochemical
development projects in both China and overseas. After
graduating from Jiangsu University, Mr Liu obtained his Master’s
degree in Business Administration from Peking University in 2002.

MS LI YEE PING, SARAH
FENZL
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PYI Corporation Limited
RESEAFR AR

Ms Li Yee Ping, Sarah, aged 38, joined the Group in 2005. She

is the Senior Finance Manager — Treasury and Investment of

the Company and is responsible for treasury and investment
management of the Group. Ms Li has accumulated extensive
experience in treasury operation, corporate finance and investment
management while serving listed companies and international
financial institution. She holds a Master’s degree in Financial
Analysis and a Bachelor’s degree of Business Administration in
Finance. Ms Li is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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Senior Finance Manager — Treasury and Investment
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MR CHU WAI YEUNG, WALLACE
KREHTE

Group Internal Audit Senior Manager
BB & 5 RASTE

PYI Corporation Limited
REEEGRAF

Mr Chu Wai Yeung, Wallace, aged 42, joined the Group in 2007.
He is the Group Internal Audit Senior Manager of the Company
and is responsible for administering the internal audit matters of
the Group. Mr Chu has 11 years of experience in internal auditing,
internal control and risk management. He holds a Master’s degree
in Accounting and is a member of the CPA Australia.

MR WANG BAO GUO
FTRESEA

Director of Internal Audit, China
B A B A AR

PYI Corporation Limited
REEEGRAF

P

Mr Wang Bao Guo, aged 59, joined the Group in 2004. He is

the Director of Internal Audit of the Company in the PRC and is
responsible for the internal audit matters of the Group’s projects

in the Mainland. Mr Wang has over 26 years of experience in
finance, medicine, investment and financial advisory. He graduated
from Shanxi University of Finance and Economics with a Bachelor’s
degree in Finance.
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MAKING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE A
PART OF PYI CULTURE

PYI Corporation Limited (“PYI"” or the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has recognised the importance of
transparency and accountability, and believes that shareholders of
PYI can benefit from good corporate governance.

To ensure that corporate governance is part of corporate culture,
PYI has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
("CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and

has adopted some of the recommended best practices for the
year ended 31 March 2010. PYI has also adopted its new Code
of Conduct that covers areas such as bribery and corruption,
conflicts of interest, disclosure of information and discriminations
in October 2009 and subsidiares in the Mainland are required to
implement code of same effect. PYI has also continued to provide
corporate governance trainings to the board of directors of PYI
and management of subsidiaries in the Mainland. Seminar on
recent amendments of the Listing Rules will be held in due course.
PYI believes that it is effective to enhance corporate governance
through regular trainings within the Group.

PYI has also adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules applicable to PYI directors as
well as senior management of PYI. After having made specific
enquiries, all directors and senior management of PYI have
confirmed their compliance with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during this financial year.

PY! directors have complied with the requirement of Securities and
Futures Ordinance regarding disclosure of their respective interests
in PYl and its associated corporations during the year. PYI directors’
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of PYI and its associated corporations are disclosed in
the Directors’ Report on pages 82 and 83 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE TPREQRE

Building a high-impact governance structure BE—ESEERIELRE
The structure below shows the key parties involved in our FEBZREBERABTHARBER  PRZFERNELEE
corporate governance practices and policies within the Group. s
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SHAREHOLDERS

Ensuring equal treatment

In accordance with PYI's bye-laws and the applicable laws

of Bermuda, all PYI shareholders are entitled to attend or

be represented by proxy and vote at general meetings. PYI
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of PYI carrying the right of voting at general meetings
have the right to require a special general meeting to be called
and propose transaction of business. All PYI shareholders have the
right to propose person for election as director of PYI. The relevant
procedure for proposing a person for election as director of PYI

is set out in the Letter of our Board in the circular for re-election
of directors.

Voting on resolutions put forward at PYI’s general meeting during
the year has been taken by way of poll to enable the exercise of
control of each and every shareholder in proportion to their equity
ownership. All poll results have been published and posted on the
websites of PYl and of the Stock Exchange.

During the year 2009/10, PYI held two general meetings. All
resolutions put to shareholders were passed at the two general
meetings.The proposed resolutions and the percentage of votes
cast in favour of the resolutions relating to those items are set
out below:

PYI'S GENERAL MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR

IR

R — B 1=

BEREZARNMAEBREBRZEN - BERERERY
BROFXZRARHE  IRBRAGLERE -HAT
PRTDZ—RECHEA » AAIRKRAE LRRZRF
ERR  ARERAABRRBIAGRREZ2EE - IER
ERREAREBAE 2ERREZEE - FRKEEME
MALTSEBREEEZIEF  CEHRBRPESRHMNZ

AERSMECRENTERASREMAWNEE  F
N REBRRRGHRBRIURENTARR - AR
FWERCHERER N A ETIE -

M2009/10F € - REBHAMARREREG - FTARETR
RZEER NZMABRERS EHESRB - FTIREZHE
ERERBEHREEE ZZ8LE - JFENT -

EEFEETHRERRAE

Special General Meeting on 9 June 2009
R200956 AORBITHRRIEBIAE

/" Approval of the capital increase from HK$300,000,000 to HK$1,000,000,000

#EAERZZR 300,000,000/ 7T J1Z1,000,000,0007%8 7T
/ Approval of the 2 for 1 rights issue
HOE SRR A] 2Rk 2 A = E

Annual General Meeting on 31 August 2009
R200958 A3 AR ITHRRBFRE

/ Approval of the 2009 audited accounts
BiB2009F MR ERRE

/" Re-election of Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles as director
BERERELAES

v/ Re-election of Mr Chan Shu Kin as director
ERREREERES

/" Re-election of Mr Li Chang An as director
BEFEREERES
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PYI'S GENERAL MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR (continued)

EEFEETHNRERRAE (&)

Annual General Meeting on 31 August 2009 % of Votes Cast For
R200958 A3 A RTHRRBFRE BEREHML =R
/ Approval of directors’ fees in aggregate amount of not exceeding HK$4,000,000 100%

per annum for all directors
BPHETEEEZLEITHBIBEE4,000,0008THESHES
/" Re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and authorisation to Board 99.9792%

to fix their remuneration
BEZAEY « BERH ST AZEMEEEESREEHE

v/ Grant of general mandate to directors to issue shares 97.5157%
BTERETRON—RIXE

v/ Grant of general mandate to directors to repurchase shares and warrants 100%
BTEERERD MARRER N —RIRE

v/ Extension of the share issue mandate to directors 97.6140%
BAKTFTERRTRMZEN

/ Refreshment of the 10% limit on grant of options under PYI's share option scheme 97.6119%
FAR R RE R BRI B IRIE 2 10% R

v/ Approval of the refreshment of the 10% limit on grant of options under the share 97.6119%

option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited
HAEFNRBREZXEEAR A DBRES SR HEREZ10%RE

Maintaining efficient shareholder communications and BEENZNRREERSH

participation REARBRAERETREREEHRBORE - AR
PY| endeavours to maintain effective communication with all FEERREREMER B HEFERENRRZ @
shareholders including different communication channels with ERMEERNER  BEFETIREERPBBSES
its shareholders through the publication of annual and interim AE - BRUARFER(ZUEELR)  NERAEEE
reports, announcements, circulars as well as news releases (all in g MR  EEEENREEMNESEN  MRER
bilingual languages) so as to provide extensive information on 3 —www.pyicorp.comnE B T &R «

the Group’s activities, financial position, business strategies and

developments to enable them to make informed decision on RAERN - RIE [(FERRE| &k - AREEME
matters relating to their investment and the exercise of their rights FLER MRERENENRREE S LEREY
as shareholders of PYI. Such information is also available on PYI B

website - www.pyicorp.com.

REREBRRIRAGRARERENESRHREEZRIRE
RN—EBETR FARENEZNSNAETREESRS
HERRAE - EIERERROER -

In this annual report, we have designated a section called “PYI and
Shareholders” which serves to provide shareholders with more
information such as the shareholding of PYI and details of top
shareholders as at the year end.

PYI regards its shareholders’ meetings as valuable forum for PYI
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board. All directors and senior management of PYI will make an
effort to attend shareholders’” meetings and address queries from
PYI shareholders.
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To enhance PYI shareholders’ understanding of PYI's businesses
and latest business initiatives, since 2005 an “Address by
Managing Director” session has been included in annual general
meetings in addition to standard meeting agenda. This session is
led by the Chairman and presented by Managing Director.

Moreover, simultaneous translations have been arranged during
general meetings, providing language support in English and
Cantonese, thereby catering to the needs of the shareholders who
are familiar in any one of the two languages.

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES
Providing responsible and efficient leadership

The primary role of the board of directors of PYI (“Board”) is to
maximize long-term shareholder value. It assumes the responsibility
for providing effective and responsible leadership and control of
the Company, and directing and supervising the Company’s affairs
in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board, led by the Chairman, approves and monitors group-
wide strategies and policies, evaluates the performance of the
Group and supervises the management.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the Managing
Director the day-to-day leadership and management of the Group.
The senior management of the Group, on the other hand, is
responsible for the management and administrative functions and
the day-to-day operations of the Group under the supervision of
the Managing Director. The corporate governance structure of PYI
is disclosed in this report at page 51.

Below is a summary of specific matters which are reserved for
the Board:

BMBREFRERENEB R ENEBFEFTERR
o H2005F K HMERRBFAEN —REFEZR
PASN » IRA— A EFEEHLAAERRN [ARHRSE]

RER ©

A9 BHEERRARE E B EE - RHEE
BERBBE R UMREATZES - BEFTORRD

FEEE
=

EXRMkEFREZES
BTFREFREXFENEE

REEER([EEZR] NIZALERBRFBMERLZ
REMNZ  BRATHEARNAEEINEEREEAAF
ZEE ARHEREBARRZEBAEAEENKR
HEERER -

EFERELIRFNEST  HENEERESENRBNK
B AEASENRIR  UREREEEITE-

RBIEME  EERESAEEAERERETENES -
TRTRHEE - Z—H AEERREEEERNE
BT BRAEEMITHBENEE URBTASEAE
LENBE RECKEABRBEARENFESIAFLH

==

& o

NTREEZREAEHHRHE :

SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD

ESREEERNREE

v/ Financial reporting and control
B 75 R RN B 4R

v/ Equity Fund Raising
BERER

v/~ Recommendation/declaration of dividend or other distributions
RESEMD KA EZIE IR

v Notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules
(ETRAND PReVETAMBREERS

v/ Capital reorganisation or other significant changes in the capital structure of the Group

BABHERAREENEBOEMBERLE
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Creating success by way of independent governance

To ensure that the Group upholds its commitment to strong
corporate governance, the Board is composed mainly of 5
independent non-executive directors throughout the 2009/10
financial year, representing more than one-third of the Board.
Also, a majority of the members of the Board committees are
independent non-executive directors.

LBV HE B EEE
AEBEBRHEEHSKENLEETANEARE B
2009/10B G  EERTERAMNBYINTESA
B hEERKE=S97— UL -MESREEE VK
B KHEDMABIENTES -

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EE /5

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

BYFHTES BITES FBITES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ERREEE L (ChairmanL/E) Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 3838554 + ABREE + PR Ed5a s +
Mr Chan Shu Kin [RIEIER S 4 (Deputy Chairman &
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph &4 4 Managing Director
Mr Li Chang An &% %4 EILEFRAEE)

Brief biographical details of the above directors are set out on
pages 36 to 40 of this annual report and are also available on PYI
website - www.pyicorp.com.

The majority composition of independent non-executive directors
(including one who has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise, as required
by the Listing Rules) ensures that the Board’s actions account for
the interests of all shareholders and that all issues are considered in
a balanced and objective manner.

For all newly appointed directors, a comprehensive and tailored
induction programme is administered to ensure full awareness

of responsibilities under statute and common law, PYI Code of
Conduct, the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements and
the business and governance policies of the Group.

Pursuant to the requirement in the Listing Rules, the Company
has received a written confirmation from each independent
non-executive director of his independence to the Company. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.

Each of the Board members is totally unrelated to each other
and the senior management in every aspect including financial,
business, or family.

PR EENENFBERAFTROEICEI0E - BHA
B RN E B MR E U —www.pyicorp.com ©

MBYIFNTES (BE—% (LTRA) EXRNAFE
ENEEER IEABEENSHAIABMBERER
MEE) FRRZENKE  ARREFERNITABLMA
RO YEAFEREBMERAEER -

HMEEAGETHENZEES E2ERS/EMZA
SLERMETE - NERMEATEMBEEEIRRERL
REFTRTH - (ETHRA) REMEERE  URAK
EMEBNERBR THRE -

R CETRED) 28K ARAREWEIGRBILIENT
EXENEEB UM ZE@MER - MARRINRHAEBLIE
WITEERBIAL -

EERE-EKNERNM I ANRESRERREZME  £%
HEEENE  FEIREFH S EERE -
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Further, each director is required to make disclosure of his
interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in any proposed
transactions or issues discussed by the directors at the Board
meetings (and abstained from voting on the relevant resolution as
appropriate) and to notify changes in personal particulars to the
Company in a timely manner. During the year, no directors have
interest or potential interest in any proposed transactions or issues
except their own remuneration which they had abstained from
voting.

Further, as stipulated by PYI's bye-laws, each director (including
non-executive director) is required to retire by rotation at least
once every three years and thus seek re-election at the annual
general meeting; and any directors appointed during the year
by the Board following the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee stand for election at the first general meeting after
their appointment.

In the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr Lau Ko Yuen,
Tom, Mr Kwok Siu Keung, Ernest and Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen
Joseph will retire by rotation and seek re-election. Their respective

biographies are set out in the Letter of our Board in the circular for

re-election of directors.

BE  BREFHEANEFRERTRRZAYER - H
BE (WEZZRNXHAFERT) FENEAREHEE
MMEER (TAEEEBRATHABRBRERERR
) WRERBAARBDEREAEHFBENED - F
N BREZBS(EHEFCHERER)S  LEES
RERZZEZHREFRET S RS SBEN R

I KBREZABRMARTE - BUEE (BEFRT
Bf) AROB=FHFERE-R LUERRBFAE
PEEEE MEMEFAKLRLZZESHER  AESF
BRENES BHARMMZERNERNRRAG LER
AR o

REVEBRTZERRBFRE  ZnREE  BLREER
RERFEERRERE LS REEEE - WEZEEH
RBHFEERAMCERESEA -

SUCCESSFUL RE-ELECTION AT 2009 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

JERE2009F RRBAFAS LEER

Retired by rotation
WERE

Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, Mr Chan Shu Kin and Mr Li Chang An
REREL:  REREERFTEREE

v/ aterm of approximately three years until the conclusion of the annual general

meeting to be held in 2012

EHO=F EE2012FRRBFRSERRBIE

Endeavouring to strong independence

In addressing the interest of PYI shareholders, PYI has emphasised
transparency and accountability. To this end, the Group’s goal has
been conducting businesses that are overseen by those with broad
experience while maintaining objectivity and independent views.
Endeavouring to clearly delineate positions of responsibility, the
Chairman and Managing Director of PYI are held by two separate
individuals. Set out below are the respective responsibility of the
Chairman and the Managing Director of PYI.
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CHAIRMAN

xE
Responsibilities Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph EBREE L+
=
BE v/ Provides leadership for the Board
HEXEREAGER

MANAGING DIRECTOR
A

Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 8|8 R %4+

v/ Leads the management
FEERE

v/ Responsible for overseeing the functioning «  Formulates operational strategies and

of the Board
BRERESERITFEREMNET

As a commitment to good corporate governance, the Chairman of
PYI has, in particular, performed the following tasks:

v/ ensured that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner; and

v/ hold meetings with the non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) without the executive
director present.

Emphasizing accountability through effective delegation

In order to ensure that the Board plays an effective role in steering
the Group to do businesses in the interest of shareholders,

a schedule of Board and Board committees meetings to be
conducted within the next financial year are issued well in advance
to all members, thus well-facilitating more participation by the
directors in every meetings. Within the year, 7 Board meetings
were held of which one was convened to discuss, consider and
approve the proposed rights issue in April 2009 and one was
convened to consider and approve a discloseable transaction in
November 2009. Most directors recorded over 90% attendance in
regular Board and Board committees meetings held during the year
in which five directors recorded 100% attendance as indicated in
the following table.

policies and manages the Group’s day-to-
day operations
I L E R BB AR BB A S BN A BEE

eA—EY AT EERNES  RELEEET TN
T

/O EREZRARLENE BETEERE  LEFR
PAEEZREENFRETHR &

V/oOBERTTESR (BRBYFRTES) BITRERT
EFHREOER

EBEI THUZEILEEM

REREZRESHMBEURRMNE AR  RERAEE
mAR T RIBRFEZESRRESRZECHER
MREEEEXTERNE SEEMETLHT2EE
ZEH TN HBOTTAESRGH  EPF—XAF
W BRERAE2009F4 AMMREZR — X AE R R
H2009F 1MA—RATHRENRS « MMM TR - K
DEESNFRBINESRLESRZESTHEEEN
BALNHER  MEPANESEE+ROEER -
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

ERHFELE

Board Committees EERZEE

Share

Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination ~ Compliance  Repurchase  Shareholders

EZR B4 M R4 Vi RiE RR
Number of meetings held during the year
ERBAREAR ! ! 1 1 ’ ! ’
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph B E L 7/17 474 1/1 1/1 2/2 2/2
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 28438 504 6/7 4/4 1/1 1/1 2/2 2/2
Mr Chan Shu Kin PRI 5t 4 7/7 4/4 2/2 0/0 2/2
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ZE 554 7117 4/4 1/1 0/2
Mr Li Chang An 22 %54 7/7 0/2
Executive Director
HITES
Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom ZlmR %% 717 171 171 0/0 2/2
Non-Executive Director
FHTES
Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles BBl 8+ 3/7 0/2
Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary
SEEFEERDNANE
Mr Ko Hiu Fung & IE% & 2/2 212

In addition to regular attendance at Board and Board committees
meetings and in order to have a better understanding of

the business operations of the Group, directors including all
independent non-executive directors have participated field trips to
Shanghai, Nantong, Jiaxing, Yangkou and Jiangyin in March 2010
and has planned to participate field trips to Yichang and Wuhan in
September 2010.

In order to achieve greater transparency and accountability to PYI
shareholders, PYI has established five Board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Compliance Committee, and Share Repurchase
Committee; each having specific roles, authority and functions
as detailed in the respective written terms of reference which are
available on PYI website - www.pyicorp.com.
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Regarding the principles, procedures, and arrangements for regular
meetings, the Board committees have adopted, to a large extent,
the same principles, procedures, and arrangements as that of a

full Board meeting. The minutes for all of the regular Board and
Board committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail and

are kept by the Company Secretary, and will be subsequently
distributed to each director within a reasonable time period so as
to ensure prompt execution of decisions made. In the event where
independent professional advice is required, the seeking of such

BEEMERORR  RFRTY - EFRERGDEX
BELRAREBEFRERARANRA - RERRH -
EERREFREASTHERCHRNAFAAN - L
ARBEDE  MEARSHBENSETSNET -
RRBHITEERIRE - ABSRETERER - AS
HELERR -

A3 RERN2009/100BIFEEEREZETHAMN -
Heembe R ETEBE R/SHmE

advice must abide by pre-approved procedures.

The following tables show the composition of Board committees,
their respective roles and functions and a summary and/or
report of the works performed by them during the financial year

2009/10:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

FHESS

Composition Independent Non-Executive Directors Executive Director
Pl BYFHITES HITES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph EFR#EIE L (ChairmanZ/E) + Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 2lS R %4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 383 %4
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ZE 4% 4
Role & Function v/~ Reviews the remuneration policy of the Company
5 t BARg AL LR NG ESER Y T2
v/ Makes recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and on the establishment of formal and transparent procedure for
developing a policy on such remuneration
HAEESHESRERENTMERELERE  URAHIEZSMEER  RE —EELRMABEAENIESF -
MEEREHHEER
v/ Determines the specific remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
REFFBATESNSRERENAREH  2EEYME  RASETLEESHE (215HREASERILE
HBBEEMEROER#EES)
v/ Makes recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive directors

RE S REHIFNITE S

Summary of work

Recommended the aggregate amount of directors’ fees for shareholders’ approval at 2009 annual

Reviewed the remuneration packages of senior executives that are in line with market remuneration

Approved the grant of cash bonus payment as incentive to senior executives based on performance

performed general meeting
THERE EHREFRS AR HIRRE2009FRABF RS LitE
v
packages level
et TS H B A Bk R B R ARTTIRA B ARt &)
v
HER T RRITHA BERAARNIRS AR LR
v/

Approved compensation payable to senior executives who had lost or terminated their respective
offices during the year
BES TRAIRIEBBONERITRAENEESRE
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Performance-based remuneration policy

The director’s fee was determined with reference to factors
including the prevailing market conditions, salary paid by
comparable companies, the duties and responsibilities of
the director, employment conditions elsewhere and the time
committed by the director.

A performance-based element was considered instrumental in
aligning the interests of individuals with those of the Group and
has been built into top-management compensation.

PYI has adopted its own reward strategy which forms an integral
part of its remuneration policy and the basis for future awards to
employees. The key aspects of such reward strategy include:

v/ to attract and retain talents, base pay and benefits will be
market competitive;

v/ to support the growth strategy of the Group, short-term and
long-term performance-based rewards will be emphasised,;

v/ to align employee interest with shareholders, the
performance-based rewards will either be equity-based and/or
cash-based; and

v/ equity-based and/or cash reward will be considered in the
light of an employee’s level of responsibility and influence on
the Group’s performance and share price.

PYI effectively deployed the appropriate mix of its existing equity-
based reward vehicles, including share option scheme, share award
scheme and share financing plan as well as cash reward.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

REZEE
Composition 2 Independent Non-Executive Directors Executive Director
Pl BAFHTES HITES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph EBRHEE I (Chairman/E) Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 22 B %4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 2843 5t 4 +
Mr Chan Shu Kin BRI E2 4 Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles BEEI34 &+
(Alternate to Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest (Alternate to Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom
B % E4E) BHEZEAL)
Role & Function v/~ Reviews the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
£ & Bd R A the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes

BN EEROREE - ABMAK (K - AERERITE) @ UREMREEDREEBREZS

v/ Identifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select, or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships
VeEBEERNAEAZREIES  IEIRNESRREAEBERATLAEZES

v/ Assesses the independence of independent non-executive directors
B IEATE R B

v/~ Makes recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in particular, the Chairman and
Managing Director
MEFRREEEFRERENSME  UREF (LESTFHEER) EETEAENES

Summary of work  / Nominated the retiring directors for re-election by shareholders at 2009 annual general meeting
performed RARTESE2009FWFEBF ARG FBEREFT
IHERE

v/~ Reviewed and assessed individual independent non-executive director’s annual confirmation of
independence declared pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
FER NGB IEBITERRR (ETRAD F3 13RI FEE L IMRER K

Nomination Procedure
EEREF

In respect of nomination of directors, PYI adopted the following procedure:
TEERSG  RERABTIIEF
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COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

EREES
Composition Independent Non-Executive Directors Company Secretary
AR BIFHTES DENE
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ElBRIEE + (ChairmanZ /&) + Mr Ko Hiu Fung = BEl& 5 4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 803 5t 4
Mr Chan Shu Kin BRI E2 55 4
Role & Function ~  Oversees the Company’s compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements of its business
£ Bd R A operations

EERNREERFEE FEEARERE O TENEE
/ Reviews and approves the Company’s code of conduct and/or business ethics, policies and
prevailing corporate governance practices and standards, and oversees their implementation and

compliance
HBEARRBNITRTRIR/EBEHERT BRERTEEERERNEL - YERTMNERLETER

Summary of work / Review of Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2009
performed EHBE2009F3A31HIEFE 2 (BEERRS)
ITERE v/~ Approved the content and implementation of the Code of Conduct of PYI
BERETRTANAT RE
v/ Review of reports on the compliance status of the Company and its major PRC subsidiaries
submitted by Company Secretary
FEHARMERZEZARFRAFEFERBARNERERIERRE

SHARE REPURCHASE COMMITTEE

RHOEBESS
Composition 1 Independent Non-Executive Director Executive Director
AR BUFHTES HITES
Mr Chan Shu Kin BRISB St (ChairmanZ/E) + Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 215 R % 4

Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph B {EE £
(Alternate to Mr Chan Shu KinB (FBEET &4 %)

Role & Function v/ Exercises the general mandate granted by shareholders to the Board to repurchase shares of PYl in
£ B R accordance with the Listing Rules, PYI's bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda
REBECETRAD  REAFNMAUNARBREFFEREZRE  TEREREREFTRLBRERND 2EN

Summary of work v/ During the year, no meeting was held by the Share Repurchase Committee.
performed REN  BROHBBEZE SV ERRSE
IHERE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
BREEY

Composition 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors
HR BYFHTES
Mr Chan Shu Kin fR181 B2 5L £ * (ChairmanZ /)

Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph IR #E1E £
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 5843 55 4
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph 228 44 % 4

*  Mr. Chan Shu Kin is currently a certified public accountant with extensive experience in auditing, accounting and

financial management services.

BB ELR B —ENREE  EEE - B RYBERRE T HIEEEEER -

Role & Function v/ Appoints external auditor
AEEBEE EEHNER B

v/ Reviews the Group’s financial information
EHAKHEM AR

v/ Oversees the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures
EEAREEM B RREIEMAREEEF

v/ Reviews the interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending them to the Board for
approval
ERRGESZRIMEZAIEHAEE T BAMARRAESE

v/ Meets regularly to review financial reporting and internal control matters and to this end has
unrestricted access to both the Company’s external and internal auditors
THREEMNVBRBNMANBERSE - TE QAL E &M AR R FIIMNE K A #5222 A0 EUS B
-

Report on work v/~ Reviewed unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and audited annual consolidated
performed financial statements of the Group with a recommendation to the Board for approval
THHEE BUASEREBROTHESHBREANEBRORPEEMBHRE  LREEESEA

v/ Reviewed internal control and risk management framework of the Group
2 B 78R [ R AP 4% ) R B o IR AE 4R

v/ Received and reviewed progress reports on internal control, risk management and internal audit
actions implemented/planned by the Group
ERREHAIZES  BAREBERASEMEMS TEHABES TIENERRS

v/ Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the audit of the Group’s 2009
final results
Bt/ SNEEAZ BUAD Bt B AZ AR R E2009F R AR B FTE R E

v/ Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the review of the Group’s
2010 interim results
BUESNEZ BRI BB A K E2010F R B BT E R E

v/~ Recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Group’s external auditor at
2009 AGM
BEMN2009FREBFAEG FENEERY « WERT SETRITRRNEEINEZEED

v/ Met with external auditor in the absence of executives of the Group
ERAREEERBASESNERT - & RINEZEAED
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Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The PYI directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and for ensuring
that the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

of the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable standards.

The statement of the auditor of the Company concerning their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 90 and 91 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibility

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group's system of internal
control to ensure that PYI shareholders’ investment and PYI's assets
are safeguarded. Such system of internal control was developed
by making reference to the Internal Control Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in the United States in 1992 and
the Guide on Internal Control and Risk Management issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Management is responsible for the design and implementation of
the internal control system of the Group to achieve the following
business objectives:

v/ Effectiveness and efficiency of operations
v/ Reliability of financial reporting
v/ Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Such system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims to provide a
reasonable, as opposed to an absolute, assurance in this respect.

The Audit Committee performs review of the effectiveness

of the Group’s system of internal control and reports to the
Board regularly. This review covers areas of material control
including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk
management systems.
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Risk Management

To cope with the risks associated with the achievement of its
business objectives in a continually changing environment, the
Group has recognized the importance of risk management and has
performed risk assessment to evaluate the nature and extent of the
risks to which it is exposed. During the risk assessment process, the
Group was able to identify the key risks facing the Group. The risks
are prioritized according to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on the businesses of the Group and
risk management measures are in place to manage the risks to an
acceptable level.

To support management in responding to risks arising from the
complex and changing business environment, regular trainings are
provided to our management to strengthen their awareness of risk
and capability to manage risks. The trainings provided this year are
mainly related to corporate governance, risk management, internal
control and recent tax reform in Mainland China.

Review of Internal Control System

Management at business units level is required to perform control
self assessments annually to assess the effectiveness of their
systems of internal control. The control self assessment is in the
form of questionnaire that sets out key factors in each of the five
components of the COSO Internal Control Integrated Framework.
These five interrelated components are Control Environment, Risk
Assessment, Control Activities, Information & Communication and
Monitoring.

The control self assessment has not only facilitated the
identification of control deficiencies, it has also enhanced
management’s awareness of risk and control. In addition to the
control self assessment, management has also conducted an
annual review of the Company’s policies and procedures to ensure
that they are still effective and adequate.

Besides, the internal audit department of PYI together with
external consultant has carried out independent audits to
evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control according to the approved three-year group internal audit
plan. This audit plan covered the financial year from 2008/09 till
2010/11 and it was determined using a risk-based approach and
is re-assessed annually to ensure adequate audit resources are
deployed and the objectives of the plan are met.

Finally, management has formulated remedial action plan for gaps
and weaknesses identified during the control self assessments
and internal audit. The internal audit department has conducted
follow-up review periodically to ensure remedial actions are
implemented on a timely basis and has reported the results of the
review to the Audit Committee.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board was not aware of
any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on the
effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control system of the
Group.

Review of Accounting and Financial Reporting Function

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget, and was satisfied with the
results of the review.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The internal audit department of PYI set up in November 2007 is
headed by the Group Internal Audit Senior Manager and reports
directly to the Audit Committee of PYI. It plays an important role
in the internal governance of the Group. With the assistance from
external internal audit consultant, the internal audit department
is primarily responsible for conducting review and audit on the
effectiveness of the Group's system of internal control periodically.

The internal audit department is independent from operational
management and is fully empowered to have access to information
required in performing the internal audit review. Moreover, the
department is comprised of well qualified and capable staff and is
provided with adequate resources to perform its duties.

PYl internal audit department uses risk-based approach to develop
its three-year internal audit strategic plan which guides and directs
the internal audit assignments over the periods. The plan is re-
assessed annually to ensure adequate audit resources are deployed
and the objectives of the plan are met. This three-year strategic
plan and its annually re-assessment are both approved by the
Audit Committee.

During the year 2009/2010, the internal audit department has
conducted audits and reviews according to the internal audit
strategic plan as well as an ac hoc assignment approved by the
Audit Committee. During the process of audits, the internal
audit department identified internal control weakness, made
recommendations for improvement and obtained remedial
action plan of management. During the year, the internal

audit department has also conducted follow-up reviews on
implementation of remedial actions and its timeliness and has
reported the results of the review and the status of internal audit
work to the Audit Committee. In order to cope with the expansion
of its business in China, PYI has set up an internal audit team in
Hangzhou during the period to manage its China internal audit
matters.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has been re-appointed as
the Company’s external auditor at 2009 annual general meeting
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee in its meeting on 15 July 2010 recommended the
re-appointment of Deloitte as the Company’s external auditor at
2010 annual general meeting and the Board has adopted the same
view as that of the Audit Committee.

In order to maintain independence, Deloitte is primarily responsible
for providing audit services in connection with the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, and only provides non-audit
services that do not impair their independence and objectivity and
are approved by the Audit Committee.

HNIEAZ B

g e FAEM T FETAITT ( [1E%)] ) BER2009FRHA
FRELWEFZEAARARINEZEM - EFT—ER
REFAEHERAIL - BZRZEEN201067A15B 22
FLRBET2010FRRBAFAE LEHEHEHARRA
SNERZHED c MEERMEEZZEGZ2ER —3 -

RTRFEBIUN  BHEIBEERAEEFESUBHRER
REZBRT - ARTERZEBLERTERNE - YA
EzZ B HEN IR -

REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO DELOITTE FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

ENTREMNTEENRBRFLBBREMNE

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

Services Rendered = At PR 3% FET FHBT

Audit services ZERTS 7,202 6,425
Non-audit services FERZ SR

Taxation advisory A 285 382

Special engagements HELRE 4,432 1,963

Total R 11,919 8,770
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Caring our community

In 2009, as the Group continued to maintain profitability in the
changing economic times, we remained dedicated to corporate
social responsibility in many areas, both internally and towards to
the community.

Our most notable contribution is the participation of our
employees in two of the most notable fund raising campaigns in
Hong Kong - the Artistes 88 Fund Raising Campaign in 2009 for
the victims of Typhoon Morakot in Taiwan and the Artistes 414
Fund Raising Campaign in 2010 for the victims of the devastating
earthquake in Qinghai. We witnessed the destruction caused by
both disasters and our hearts are with those who suffered the loss
of their homes and their families. To contribute to the rebuilding of
their lives, PYl encouraged and supported our executive and staff's
efforts to participate and to contribute their professional skills to
the success of these campaigns. Their efforts, combined with those
of the Hong Kong citizens, raised the much-needed funds for the
victims. Furthermore, our staff also voluntarily co-organized the
first Confucius Carnival in Hong Kong in February 2010 to help
promote traditional Chinese values and culture in Hong Kong. We
sincerely support the culture of volunteering amongst our staff and
will continue to support their efforts in the years to come.

In early 2010, with the continual belief in growing the potential
of the next generation, PYI sponsored two study tours to Hong
Kong for 60 outstanding secondary school students from Nantong
and Wuhan. These tours were aimed at educating the students
on the educational and commercial operations in Hong Kong. PYI
organized trips to universities in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. After the tours, an impressive percentage of the
students, who are among the top students in their home towns,
chose to pursue their tertiary education in Hong Kong. PYl is
indeed honored to have provided the students the opportunity to
widen their horizons here.

At PYI, our businesses are intricately connected to the
environment. With a sense of social responsibility towards the
environment, we supported the global “Earth Hour” campaigned
by World Wide Fund ( “WWEF") by turning off the non-essential
lights in our office for an hour at 8:30 p.m. on 27 March 2010.
We also encouraged our staff to support “Earth Hour” through
our internal communications. In appreciation of our efforts, PYl is
pleased to have received thanks from the WWF.
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While PYI remains committed to the good of the society, both
locally and regionally, we are also focused on caring for our staff’s
well being. We encourage our staff to maintain a healthy work-life
balance and continue to support their efforts towards voluntary
work. In addition, PYl is proud to be accredited, for the second
year running, with the Caring Company Award by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service.

As we progress into the new fiscal year, PYl would like to maintain
our focus to be a responsible and caring corporate citizen,
contributing to the community while driving profitability for our
shareholders.

By Order of the Board

Ko Hiu Fung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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PYI AND SHAREHOLDERS
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EERBNBBEENKERE  ARREE  UREE
R RARNER -

The Board is committed to enhancing value for our shareholders
through sustainable growth. This section serves to provide
information relating to our shareholders.

FEARR B

EEZRATE  RERBEEKFEZERUAERNBREM
BENEBEREEDNEEZE AL TEZREHSE
2010F3A31AIEFE 2 KRBRKE (2009 F) -

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved that it is prudent for PYI to retain an
appropriate level of funds for any potential business opportunities
as and when they arise, and therefore does not recommend
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009: Nil).

SHAREHOLDERS AR IR

Shareholdings as recorded in the PYI register of members 2010F3 A31 HZFRER R A M 2 REFRE

as at 31 March 2010

% of % of issued
Size of No. of shareholders share capital
registered shareholdings shareholders EIRREE  No.ofshares (5EHITRA
ERBRRERE REREE Bokk BHEE Botk
500 or below (AT 329 55.76% 42,890 0.00%
501 - 1,000 34 5.76% 25,820 0.00%
1,001 - 10,000 116 19.66% 413,375 0.01%
10,001 - 100,000 75 12.71% 2,748,121 0.06%
100,001 — 1,000,000 26 4.41% 7,620,815 0.17%
1,000,001 - 10,000,000 6 1.02% 23,332,037 0.52%
10,000,001 - 100,000,000 - - - -
Above 100,000,000 sk JA_E 4% 0.68% 4,494,942,076 99.24%
Total #&5t 590 100.00%  4,529,125,134 100.00%
* The four shareholders were: ZUN R A -
1 HKSCC Nominees Limited EEPREE (REBA) ARAR
DCP/GCP HEERAEE rHELELEE 2,710,748,625 59.85%
Custodians EWE 427,478,411 9.44%
Investors wEE 12,280,015 0.27%
Others EAh 1,884,521 0.04%
3,152,391,5727 69.60%
2 Hollyfield Group Limited 995,039,069 21.97%
3 Jadeview Limited 200,781,000 4.43%
4 Rich Concept Investments Limited 146,863,544 3.24%
4,495,075,185 99.24%

N BBRPREE (REA) BRARE TBREAMENERHECCASS
SRERMLSHRE ( [2EERNHER] ) - 2EERHBRATR
NEBPREHE (REA) ARARDLZEREDHRNDBE BRERE
E2MARERER - HERYCCASSEFFE RIEMHIF ACCASSHE
FRERNBOWHD HABHERL

A The breakdown of the shareholding in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited was
obtained from the record shown in the CCASS Participants Shareholding Report (“PSH
Report”). The number of shares registered in HKSCC Nominees Limited as shown in
the PSH Report is different from that shown on the PYI register of members because
some shares withdrawn from or deposited into the CCASS depository had not yet
been re-registered.
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Top three shareholders according to disclosure of interest under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 March 2010

201063 A31H  1RIE (EANMBAEKRY) #HEEET
ZHI=RRE

% of issued
share capital

Name of shareholders No. of shares HEBRITRA
REREMH gk 2 4= B
1 Hollyfield Group Limited 1,213,537,695 26.79%
2 0OZ Management L.P. 490,120,467 10.82%
3 Third Avenue Management LLC 475,758,107 10.50%
Total #5t+ 2,179,416,269 48.11%
FINANCIAL CALENDAR MR

Event Date
ESE A&
20009 final results announced 17/07/2009
S02009F REIEE

2009 PYI AGM 31/08/2009
2009 RERFAFKE

2010 interim results announced 18/12/2009
SH2010Fh HIZEE

2010 final results announced 16/07/2010
Bh2010FREIEE

2010 PYI AGM 10/09/2010

2010(RERFBAFAE

SHARE INFORMATION
SHARE LISTING

PYI shares were first listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on

21 September 1993.

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 498
American Depository Receipt PYIFY
Frankfurt Stock Exchange PYW
Board lot 2,000 shares

Pt & #

B#H LS
RERDAI993FIA2I B BN ET AR S LT °

& 355

BB T 498
EHEBAES PYIFY
AW BB PYW
BEEMN (8F) 2,0000%
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SECURITIES IN ISSUE
Shares

As at 31 March 2010
As at 16 July 2010

Outstanding share options*
As at 31 March 2010
As at 16 July 2010

4,529,125,134 shares
4,529,125,134 shares

187,779,569 options
141,771,902 options

*  Full details can be found in the Directors’ Report at pages 74 to 78 of this

ERITRES
B1r
F2010F3A31H
7201067 H16H

R TTIEBE AR 1
R201043A31H
#2010F7A16H

4,529,125,134 %
4,529,125,134%

187,779,56917
141,771,9021%

YO 2HAERETAZTBAZEERWEE -

report.
Share Price . —
(adjusted for rights issue in July 2009) - Eﬁge(g';e) (cum dividend)
X182 T
gL — Share price (ex dividend)
(E PE2009F7 A =t IR T A %) BB (B 2)
HK$
BT
1.0 —
0.8 —
0.6 —
04 —
0.2
0.0
(o)} [e)] (o)} (o)} [e)] (o)} (o)) [e)] (o)} o o (@]
o o o o o o o o o — — —
(@] (@] (@] (@] o (@] (@] o (@] (@] (@] o
(o] (o} [o\] (o] (o} o~ (o] (o} o~ (o] (o} o~
< H O ~ 0 o S < ~ - N oh
(@] (@] o (@] (@] o — — — (@] (@] o
MARKET CAPITALISATION mE
TOTAL MARKET CAPITALISATION BHE
As at 31 March 2010 HK$1.63 billion ©2010F3A31H 16.31B/8 T
As at 16 July 2010 HK$1.246 billion 201067 H16H 12.46127%8 7T
Public float capitalisation* DRI TTIE
As at 31 March 2010 HK$772 million 201063 H31H 772877
As at 16 July 2010 HK$590 million 201057 H16H 5.98B T

*  Public excludes all connected persons (including substantial shareholders

and directors) of PYI.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERHEE

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of PYI Corporation
Limited (“PYI” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities as at 31 March 2010 are set out in note 57 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 92 of this
annual report and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

No interim dividend was declared during the year.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Details of the distribution are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the five largest customers
and the single largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 58% and 26% of the turnover of the Group
respectively. The aggregate purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group during the year were less than 30%
of the purchases of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the directors are aware, none of
the directors and their associates within the meaning of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), or those shareholders which

to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital, have an interest in any of the five largest
customers of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010.

EERMARZRELSEERAB([RE]H[EA2F])
REMBAR (HBIAEE]) HZE=2010F3A31HIEF
EZFRBIEERREVHERE -
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RABRZEEMB LT BMEQa KA EER
2010F3 A31 B 2 &S R 4R A B K &R M 5257 ©

EERFED O
HZE2010F3A31BEFEASE £ EHI N AFR
BRNEGAWBENEE ZGAMBREWE -

FRTESRFPHE -
EETEZRMNEE2010F3A3BIEEFEZ RBAKE -

BEFBHINNGE B RRM G5 -

FTEEFRHER

REE201063A31BEFERN  AEEZAATERP K
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30% °
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintains a variety of credit facilities to

meet its working capital requirements. As at 31 March 2010, the
Group's total borrowings (including convertible notes payable)
amounted to approximately HK$3,049,233,000 with approximately
HK$1,563,397,000 repayable within one year, approximately
HK$1,485,836,000 repayable after one year. Cash, bank balances
and deposits as at 31 March 2010 amounted to approximately
HK$1,032,614,000. The Group's current ratio (calculated as total
current assets divided by total current liabilities) was 1.21 and

the debt to equity ratio (calculated as total borrowings divided by
equity attributable to owners of the Company) was 0.74 as at 31
March 2010.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$288,441,000
on property, plant and equipment, mainly for the construction of
ports.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group transferred approximately
HK$105,086,000 from project under development to investment
properties. All investment properties were revalued at the year end
date.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1. Share Option Scheme
Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme adopted
on 27 August 2002 (the “Share Option Scheme”) are set out
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2010, an aggregate of 187,779,569 shares
are issuable for options granted under the Share Option
Scheme, representing 4.15% of the then existing issued
share capital of the Company (i.e. 4,529,125,134 shares).
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES — continued

1.

Share Option Scheme - continued

As at the date of this report, an aggregate of 141,771,902
shares are issuable for options granted under the Share

Option Scheme, representing 3.13% of the issued capital of

the Company (i.e. 4,529,125,134 shares) on that date.

Details of movements in the share options granted under the

Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

RpEEE &

1. BRETE-E&
RABEZH  BREEREFIHCELARAATRE
141,771,902 B 0 M 5 R1T 18 2 BB AR #E - % e &Y
B A A A7z B B B TR (B14,529,125,134%
f15) #93.13% °

RENRBBRBHBEL > BRE DR
mF -

Number of shares issuable under the options granted

RERLBRERTRTHRGEA
Exercise Outstanding Adjustment Lapsed Outstanding
price as at made during during as at
Grantee Date of grant per share 01.04.2009 the year the year 31.03.2010 Exercise period
1401.04.2009 FR 1#431.03.2010
ERA REAH BRTEE DB itz AR FREN I R AT &S
HK$
BT
Directors
B2
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 28.12.2004 0.43762 7,583,333 10,833,333 - 18,416,666 28.12.2004 -
fER (Note f142) 26.08.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 7,583,333 10,833,333 - 18,416,666 28.12.2004 -
(Note f1z22) 26.08.2012
08.09.2006 0.87528 5,366,667 7,666,667 (13,033,334) - 08.09.2008 -
(Note #1222) 07.09.2009
18.09.2007 1.25151 4,550,000 6,500,000 (11,050,000) - 18.09.2008 -
(Note #7:22) 17.09.2009
18.09.2007 1.25151 4,550,000 6,500,000 - 11,050,000 18.09.2009 -
(Note #7:22) 17.09.2010
03.06.2008 1.7142 3,931,667 - (3,931,667) - 03.06.2008 -
02.06.2009
Chan Shu Kin 28.12.2004 0.43762 758,333 1,083,333 - 1,841,666 28.12.2004 -
ks (Note ff322) 26.08.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 758,333 1,083,333 - 1,841,666 28.12.2004 -
(Note Aiz22) 26.08.2012
Leung Po Wing, 08.09.2006 0.85762 1,516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334 08.09.2006 -
Bowen Joseph (Note fi322) 26.08.2012
Li Chang An 06.02.2007 1.05881 1,516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334 06.02.2007 -
2E%R (Note A222) 26.08.2012
Sub-total /it 38,115,000 48,833,333 (28,015,001) 58,933,332
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES — continued

R REE &

1. Share Option Scheme — continued 1. BREE-&
Number of shares issuable under the options granted
REREBRERTRITORGHA
Exercise Outstanding Adjustment Lapsed Outstanding
price as at made during during as at
Grantee Date of grant per share 01.04.2009 the year the year 31.03.2010 Exercise period
1401.04.2009 R 1#31.03.2010
ERA RiBH BRTEE DB etz A ERER WA TE ki3]
HK$
AT
Employees
=
Hong Kong 06.02.2006 1.23529 2,479,168 3,541,668 (6,020,836) - 06.02.2009 -
&R (Note f7322) 05.02.2010
08.09.2006 1.23529 466,667 666,666 (1,133,333) - 08.09.2008 -
(Note fifz£2) 07.09.2009
06.02.2007 1.23529 163,332 233,332 (396,664) - 06.02.2009 -
(Note fi1:£2) 05.02.2010
01.08.2007 141173 175,000 250,000 (425,000) - 01.08.2008 -
(Note f#1:£2) 31.07.2009
01.08.2007 1.58821 175,000 250,000 - 425,000 01.08.2009 -
(Note f#1i£2) 31.07.2010
03.06.2008 0.70584 2,333,333 3,333,333 - 5,666,666 01.10.2008 -
(Note #i:22) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 2,333,333 3,333,333 - 5,666,666 01.10.2009 -
(Note #7222 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 1,166,667 1,666,667 - 2,833,334 01.04.2010 -
(Note fifi#2) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 1,166,667 1,666,667 - 2,833,334 01.10.2010-
(Note fifi£2) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 1.7142 8,138,666 - (8,138,666) - 03.06.2008 -
02.06.2009
03.06.2008 0.88232 4,711,000 6,730,000 - 11,441,000 03.06.2008 -
(Note fifi#2) 02.06.2010
03.06.2008 0.88232 2,216,667 3,166,666 - 5,383,333 03.06.2009 -
(Note fifi£2) 02.06.2010
03.06.2008 0.88232 2,333,333 3,333,333 - 5,666,666 03.06.2009 -
(Note Aiz22) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 1.05881 3,091,666 4,416,665 - 7,508,331 03.06.2010 -
(Note Aiz22) 02.06.2011
Sub-total /Mgt 30,950,499 32,588,330 (16,114,499) 47,424,330
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES - continued

1.

Share Option Scheme — continued

R REE &
1. BRESE-&

Number of shares issuable under the options granted

REREBRERTRITORGHA
Exercise Outstanding Adjustment Lapsed Outstanding
price as at made during during as at
Grantee Date of grant per share 01.04.2009 the year the year 31.03.2010 Exercise period
1401.04.2009 R 1#31.03.2010
ERA RiaH BRITER i R ATE etz A ERER AT ki
HKS$
AT
Employees
B8
The Mainland 06.02.2006 1.23529 4,929,165 6,208,332 (11,137,497) - 06.02.2009 -
At (Note fi1z22) 05.02.2010
24.03.2006 1.23529 3,062,500 4,375,000 (7,437,500) - 06.02.2009 -
(Note fifz£2) 05.02.2010
08.09.2006 1.23529 466,666 666,666 (1,133,332) - 08.09.2008 -
(Note fifz£2) 07.09.2009
06.02.2007 1.23529 1,143,335 1,633,335 (2,776,670) - 06.02.2009 -
(Note f#1:£2) 05.02.2010
01.08.2007 141173 350,000 500,000 (850,000) - 01.08.2008 -
(Note #222) 31.07.2009
01.08.2007 1.58821 350,000 500,000 - 850,000 01.08.2009 -
(Note #i7:22) 31.07.2010
11.10.2007 1.23529 175,000 250,000 (425,000) - 11.10.2008 -
(Note fifi22) 10.10.2009
11.10.2007 141173 233,333 333332 - 566,665 11.10.2009 -
(Note fifi#2) 10.10.2010
03.06.2008 0.70584 10,000,000 14,285,714 (12,142,857) 12,142,857 01.10.2008 -
(Note fifi£2) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 10,000,000 14,285,714 (12,142,857) 12,142,857 01.10.2009 -
(Note #1:22) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 5,000,000 7,142,857 (6,071,428) 6,071,429 01.04.2010 -
(Note #1:22) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 0.70584 5,000,000 7,142,857 (6,071,428) 6,071,429 01.10.2010 -
(Note #1:22) 02.06.2011
03.06.2008 1.7142 11,433,334 - (11,433,334) - 03.06.2008 -
02.06.2009
03.06.2008 0.88232 12,250,000 15,833,334 (1,166,666) 26,916,668 03.06.2008 -
(Note ###2) 02.06.2010
03.06.2008 0.88232 933,333 1,333,333 - 2,266,666 03.06.2009 -
(Note #7#2) 02.06.2010
Sub-total /Mgt 65,326,666 74,490,474 (72,788,569) 67,028,571
Pld REsEERAT 201088 /7
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EERWMEE

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES - continued RpEETE &
1. Share Option Scheme — continued 1. BREE-&
Number of shares issuable under the options granted
RERLERERIRTHROHAE
Exercise Outstanding Adjustment Lapsed Outstanding
price as at made during during as at
Grantee Date of grant per share 01.04.2009 the year the year 31.03.2010 Exercise period
1401.04.2009 £R 17431.03.2010
ERA REAS BRTER e RATHE 2R FREN i RATHE (d ]
HK$
BT
Advisors
i
28.12.2004 0.43762 758,334 1,083,334 - 1,841,668 28.12.2004 -
(Note ##2) 26.08.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 5,168,334 7,383,334 - 12,551,668 28.12.2004 -
(Note fi#2) 26.08.2012
15.05.2007 3.00 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) - 15.05.2007 -
14.05.2009
Sub-total /it 12,926,668 8,466,668 (7,000,000) 14,393,336
Grand total £t : 147,318,833 164,378,805 (123,918,069) 187,779,569

Notes: et -

1. All the above outstanding share options of PYI were vested in the relevant 1. NEMBREMNAITEZEREOHEERBZTED
grantees upon the first date of their respective exercise periods, except WER BETHEBEERA 52,833,334 HRERMK
for vesting of the 2,833,334 outstanding PY!'s share options which were T2 BIRE  AEARABTEER 2 BREMM
conditional on such grantee satisfying the condition attached to the grant THGRGREDNEEHMBES  FAEB -
about the achievement of prescribed financial multiples.

2. In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the range of the exercise 2. RAFEREE R200957A30 - BB BRE
price of the share options was adjusted from HK$1.0628 to HK$3.8571 FE BRECATFEEREHAERRKRMN1.0628FTLE
per share to HK$0.43762 to HK$1.58821 per share and the total number 3.8571 B T HEEGRAR(K 043762 7L £1.58821/%
of the then outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme was TTo MERES & T B R ARITE  BRESE TE
also adjusted correspondingly on 3 July 2009, as a result of the rights issue EIEL AR -

of the Company.
3. FA-REERESMEBRBREL  THRIK

3. No share options were granted, exercised or cancelled under the Share i
Option Scheme during the year.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES — continued R REE &

1. Share Option Scheme - continued 1. BRESTE &
Particulars of share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering ARBIMBARIREREEE AR AT ([RER
Group Limited (“PYE"), a subsidiary of the Company, are set ¥ )BREFEZHFBIENGRAMEHRENT46 -

out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

RENRBREZEBREFERL ZBREZ
Details of movements in the share options granted under the FEEMT
share option scheme of PYE during the year are as follows:

Number of shares issuable under the options granted

RERLBRERTRTHRGHA
Exercise price  Outstanding as at Lapsed during  Outstanding as at
Grantee Date of grant per share 01.04.2009 the year 31.03.2010 Exercise period
1401.04.2009 431.03.2010
ERA RERH BRTER e FREN i K17 &
HK$
B
Director
B3
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 08.06.2007 1.36 500,000 (500,000) - 01.07.2007 -
=R 30.06.2009
Employees 08.06.2007 1.36 1,500,000 (1,500,000) - 01.07.2007 -
B8 30.06.2009
Other participants 30.05.2007 1.34 600,000 (600,000) - 01.07.2008 -
Eto5RE 30.06.2009
28.12.2007 1.40 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - 01.06.2008 -
31.05.2009
Grand total £t : 3,600,000 (3,600,000) -
Notes: et -
1. All the above share options of PYE were vested in the relevant grantees 1. NEMEREZEBREHEESGZAEHENE
upon the first date of their respective exercise periods. H BETEBEEAEA -
2. No share options of PYE were granted, exercised or cancelled during the 2. FA - MEREZEBRBERIRL - 1THEKREHE-
year.
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EERWMEE

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES — continued

2. Share Award Scheme

This scheme adopted by the Company on 23 February 2006
allows the Company to make bonus payments to eligible
persons (including employees, directors, consultants, advisers
and agents of the Group) by way of the Company's shares
acquired by and held through an independent trustee until
fulfillment of specified conditions before vesting.

During the year, no shares of PY| were awarded under this
scheme.

A share award scheme was also adopted by PYE on 6
September 2006. This incentive scheme allows PYE to make
bonus payments to eligible persons (including employees,
directors, consultants, advisers and agents of PYE and its
subsidiaries (the “PYE Group”)) by way of shares of PYE
acquired by and held through an independent trustee until
fulfillment of specified conditions before vesting.

During the year, no shares of PYE were awarded under this
scheme.

3. Share Financing Plan

This plan, adopted by the Company on 14 February 2006,
allows eligible persons (including employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and agents of the Group) to borrow
funds from the Company to acquire new or old shares of
the Company on a non-recourse basis with the subject
shares pledged to the Company as security, subject always
to connected transaction and other relevant provisions under
the Listing Rules.

During the year, no financing to eligible persons was
provided by the Group under this plan.

A share financing plan was also adopted by PYE on 6
September 2006. This incentive plan allows eligible persons
(including employees, directors, consultants, advisers and
agents of the PYE Group) to borrow funds from PYE or from
a company within the PYE Group on a non-recourse basis,
for the purpose of acquiring new or old shares of PYE with
the subject shares pledged to PYE as security, subject always
to connected transaction and other relevant provisions under
the Listing Rules.

During the year, no financing to eligible persons was
provided under this plan by PYE.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive schemes disclosed above, at no
time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2010 amounted to approximately
HK$1,081,674,000 (2009: HK$1,113,920,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Independent non-executive directors
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph os » (Chairman)
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass,

Li Chang An

Executive director
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom (Deputy Chairman & Managing Director)

Non-executive director
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles

In accordance with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company's
bye-laws, Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom, Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest
and Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Non-executive directors are subject to retirement by rotation
requirements under the Company’s bye-laws, and they are
appointed for a specific term of approximately three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BEROIES2LZH

bR D EE 2 B BE B 2O REREMEEREF
BRARASEEMHBRRABETLEMLHEMERAR
BEEREBBARRR S EAMEANBEZ B
BEHmMEFNE -

GRSl TR
M2010F3A31H AR RTFREZARRRBEEN A
1,081,674,0005% 7T (2009 : 1,113,920,000/8 7T) °
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EERWMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2010, the interests/short positions of each of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") or as notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules, are set out below:

EEREETRAERRG HERORES
ZHEBERKXE

R20106F3A318 ARREEFRERTHRAERAR
Az RBEBRODFPHEELNEINABBE(ESRRBAE
BB EIRBETFUFEZARRA B MRS BIE(ED
HADKE0MC EM AR ERETEF X HWIZETA])
([CEEFAN]) MBRARARBEBHERIARD
B ([H 22T ]) AR s A B &N T -

Number of shares/underlying shares held

BERG/HBRA%A
(Note fi#1)
Name of Director/ Personal Family Corporate Other % of issued
chief executive Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total share capital
E3/BRHR EERTRE
ABER &% BARE EQ T4 NEEH At &y WEAL
(Note #13£2)
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph  Beneficial owner 3,942,105 - - - 3,942,105 0.09
AR ExBEEA
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom Beneficial owner, Family 62,120,807 146,863,544 146,863,544 - 208,984,351 4.61
SR interest & Interest of (Note f7i23) (Note f1:4) (Note #:4) (Note f7425)
controlled corporation
EREEA  RXkER
REEEERER
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles  Beneficial owner & 35,936,031 - 1,213,537,695 - 1,249,473,726 27.58
G Interest of controlled (Note #736)
corporation
EHBEAR
R AR R
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest  Beneficial owner 3,900,000 - - - 3,900,000 0.09
Ik ERBAA
Chan Shu Kin Beneficial owner 3,683,332 - - - 3,683,332 0.08
R 2 ERBERA (Note f127)
Leung Po Wing, Beneficial owner 3,683,334 - - - 3,683,334 0.08
Bowen Joseph EREBA (Note #z7)
Li Chang An Beneficial owner 3,683,334 - - - 3,683,334 0.08
2ER EaBEA (Note f1it7)

82 FYI:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES - continued

Notes:

All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company were
long positions. None of the directors and chief executive of the Company held any
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March
2010.

Based on the Company's issued share capital of 4,529,125,134 shares as at 31
March 2010.

Such interests held by Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom comprised:
(i) 14,237,475 shares; and

(ii) 47,883,332 underlying shares in respect of share options granted to him on
28 December 2004 and 18 September 2007 pursuant to the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

The two references to 146,863,544 shares relate to the same block of shares in the
Company. Such interests are indirectly held by a company which is equally owned
by Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom and his spouse in the proportion of 50% and 50%.

This figure refers to an aggregate of the 62,120,807 shares/underlying shares
under personal interests and the 146,863,544 shares under family and corporate
interests.

Such interests were held by Hollyfield Group Limited (“Hollyfield”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ITC Investment Holdings Limited (“ITC Investment” which was, in
turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Corporation Limited (“ITC")). Galaxyway
Investments Limited (”Galaxyway”), an indirect wholly-owned company of Dr Chan
Kwok Keung, Charles, owned approximately 26.89% of the issued share capital

of ITC. Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles also personally held approximately 6.76%

of the issued ordinary share capital of ITC. By virtue of his aggregate interest of
approximately 33.65% in ITC, Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Hollyfield.

All these interests held by such directors comprised underlying shares in respect
of share options granted to them on 28 December 2004, 8 September 2006 or
6 February 2007 pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company, further
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

EERBETHRAERKRG HEARORES
EBRKR &

Wi -

1 ERARABRG RABMERN 2 HE S BT A © 18201093731

B ARREERERTRASRER KRB RN R EER
DREERE -

2. IA2010F3 A31H AR T4,529,125, 134 EHITIRABELE o
3. ZERBRREERBEZRERE
(i) 14,237,475 8815 + R
(ii) 1R ¥R AN 2 7] B8 A% 4 51 #1502004412 A28 8 % 200749
R18H & 7 2 % £ W i AR #E A [ 247,883,332/ 18
R BRFBEEHIR EXERBREE—
ffi
4. M B T HE 2. 146,863,544/ A R Al i 1D - E45E — AL AR 1 4
Ho R ERZER FHERRAERERBUEE LA
50%E50%FTiEA 2 AR EERE -

5. It 8k 45 B A B A HE 25 #062,120,807R Bk 0 FMARA AL 1+ JA

RBRRIEMA B K)146,863,544 i () K 4B A ©
6. ZZE R AITC Investment Holdings Limited ([1TC

Investment] - BNEH ¥ EBARLDA ([EHEAE]) 2
&M EAR) 22 EME 2R AHollyfield Group Limited
(THollyfield ) #HA -REAXRE LI HAEL2EREBZRA
Galaxyway Investments Limited ([ Galaxyway |) # B @B %
BEITIRANAI26.89% - MEBE LT MABARERARED
EEBITRALKGT6% mRRERE I REEFCEAH
#133.65% 3 - HUIE AR AR Hollyfield# 5 B Z (5 A 2 o

7. HZSEEMRE LS REOERERARBEREN SN
2004412 A28H ~ 2006F9 A8H 520072 A6 A% T2 5 &
FEHEREFMSRZEERY  BEFBEEHIRLEXER
[BEARMERT &I — 4 -

PR EXXPri A SN - 201043 H31H - SEEHARA
ERTBRAEHMERARRAREEMERZEZE (E&R
(BHEBMEGRIDETRM) <BH - BERO RES
AT LA ARE(ES KB EKRH) F352(%F
NEFERAARBLMASBBERETI) LAEREAR
AR R s AR -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EERWMEE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2010, none of the directors of the Company is
interested in any business (apart from the Group’s businesses)
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly and
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

EERNBRER2ER
M2010F3H318 A ARKEER  KARZEEH
f 1 ] B o T B BN R B B TS A K R T o T B K
BMEPF2EBEBTMER -

ESREEGNP 2R
ARBRBEFEARAXEEMMBRARRFLELFA
EAEHIZERGNTHREERIFAERARTEAR

Ny
ZS o

N

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
substantial shareholders/other persons in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be

kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

(1) Substantial shareholders

84

Name of shareholder Capacity

BRRE® LD

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles Beneficial owner

fREI% ESHAA

Interest of controlled corporation
REEE#R

(Note #/##2)
Ng Yuen Lan, Macy Interest of spouse
i ALiB s
(Note #£3)
[TC Interest of controlled corporation
ErEtE REEEER
(Note A1:2)

ITC Investment Interest of controlled corporation
REEE R

(Note f3£2)

FYI:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report

FERR HUALTZEZRAE
M2010%F3A31H  THEZR/RE " EHiALTRARE
&t RABRER M P HEE WA ARE(ESRBAE KR
FIH|TUFTEZ2EZRMAZERT RAR

(1 EEERR

Number

of shares/ % of

Long position/ underlying the issued

short position shares held share capital

BERG HERTRA

#e/ KA HERAHE MEA

(Note A7z1)

Long position 35,936,031 0.79%
e

Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%
e

Long position 1,249,473,726 27.58%
e

Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%
e

Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%

)



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS — continued

(1) Substantial shareholders — continued

Name of shareholder

BRRER

Hollyfield

Daniel Saul Och

Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC
("Och-Ziff Capital"”)

Och-Ziff Holding Corporation
("Och-Ziff Holding")

0Z Management L.P.
("0Z Management”)

Third Avenue Management LLC
("Third Avenue LLC")

Third Avenue Small Value Fund
("Third Avenue Fund")

Capacity
54

Beneficial owner
ExBEEA
(Note f7#2)

Interest of controlled corporation
REEE R
(Note #i3t4)

Interest of controlled corporation
REEE#R
(Note f3t4)

Interest of controlled corporation
REEE R
(Note fi3t4)

Investment manager
REKE
(Note f1:4)

Investment manager
REKE
(Note f:5)

Beneficial owner
EREBA
(Note f77#5)

TERR HtATZRBRRXE &
(1) FERX-E

Long position/
short position

#R/ KR
Long position

e

Long position
)

Long position
e

Long position
e

Long position
e

Long position
e

Long position
e

Number

of shares/
underlying
shares held
Bake/
HERGEE

1,213,537,695
490,120,467
490,120,467
490,120,467
490,120,467
485,314,668

(Note #17£6)

485,270,668
(Note #17£7)

Pld ReEEmERAT

% of

the issued
share capital
FEBTRA
MBI
(Note fifi£1)
26.79%

10.82%

10.82%

10.82%

10.82%

10.72%

10.71%

20105 %R
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EERWMEE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS — continued

(2) Other persons

Name Capacity
% g4
0Z Asia Master Fund, Ltd. Beneficial owner
("0Z Asia") ExBEEA
(Note #i##4)
Notes:
1. Based on the Company’s issued share capital of 4,529,125,134 shares as at

31 March 2010.

2. Hollyfield, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Investment (which was, in
turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC), owned 1,213,537,695 shares in
the Company. Accordingly, ITC Investment and ITC were deemed to be
interested in the said 1,213,537,695 shares held by Hollyfield. Galaxyway,
an indirect wholly-owned company of Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles,
owned approximately 26.89% of the issued share capital of ITC. Dr
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles also personally held approximately 6.76%
of the issued share capital of ITC. By virtue of his aggregate interest of
approximately 33.65% in ITC, Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was deemed
to be interested in these shares held by Hollyfield.

3. Ms Ng Yuen Lan, Macy, the spouse of Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, was
deemed to be interested in the said 1,213,537,695 shares held by Hollyfield
and 35,936,031 shares held directly by Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles.

4. 0Z Management, an entity controlled by Och-Ziff Holding which was, in
turn, solely owned by Och-Ziff Capital (approximately 78.02% of the voting
power at general meeting of which was controlled by Mr Daniel Saul Och),
held, through its affiliated funds (including OZ Asia), 490,120,467 shares
of the Company. As such, Mr Daniel Saul Och, Och-Ziff Capital, Och-Ziff
Holding and OZ Management were deemed to be having the same interests
in the shares of the Company as the affiliated funds of OZ Management.

5. Third Avenue LLC, through its controlled entities (including Third Avenue
Fund) held interests in 485,314,668 shares/underlying shares of the
Company. As such, Third Avenue LLC was deemed to be having the same
interests in the said 485,314,668 shares/underlying shares as Third Avenue
Fund and another entity controlled by Third Avenue LLC.

6. Such interests comprised 475,758,107 shares of the Company and
9,556,561 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the Company
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for new shares of the Company.

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the Comapny, the
warrants issued by the Company expired after 4:00 p.m. on 25 September
2009. With the exclusion of those 9,556,561 underlying shares, the
interests in the said 475,758,107 shares represent approximately 10.5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2010.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS — continued

Notes: (continued)

7. Such interests comprised 475,714,107 shares of the Company and
9,556,561 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the Company
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for new shares of the Company.

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the Company, the
warrants issued by the Company expired after 4:00 p.m. on 25 September
2009. With the exclusion of those 9,556,561 underlying shares, the
interests in the said 475,714,107 shares represent approximately 10.5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Company had
not been notified of any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

Including the directors of the Group, as at 31 March 2010, the
Group employed a total of 3,190 full time employees (2009:
1,908). Remuneration packages consisted of salary as well as
performance-based and equity-based bonuses. In appreciation
of our employees’ continuing support, a bonus payment to
employees was made during the year.

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualification and competence.

The emolument of the directors of the Company is decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors including
the prevailing market conditions, salary paid by comparable
companies, the duties and responsibilities of the director,
employment conditions elsewhere and the time committed by the
director.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EERWMEE

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY - continued

Further, the Company has implemented three share-related
incentive schemes to provide alternative means to motivate
employees and promote their loyalty in line with the Group’s
strategy. Such schemes benefited the Group's staff both in Hong
Kong and the Mainland.

Details of remuneration policy of the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on page 60 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group's retirement benefit schemes is set out
in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company'’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 50 to 69 of
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the directors acknowledge that
approximately 47% of the issued share capital of the Company are
held by the public.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Details of the material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
are set out in note 47(b) and (¢) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event occurring after the reporting period
are set out in note 58 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.20 AND 13.22
OF THE LISTING RULES

(1) Advances to entities

As at 31 March 2010, advances to entities did not individually
exceed 8% under the assets ratio as defined under Rule
14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

(2) Financial assistance and guarantees given to
affiliated companies

As at 31 March 2010, the aggregate amount of the financial
assistance provided by the Group to its associated companies
and jointly controlled entities (collectively the “Affiliated
Companies” within the meaning under Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules) and the guarantees given by the Group for
facilities granted to the Affiliated Companies did not exceed
8% under the assets ratio as defined under Rule 14.07(1) of
the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
of approximately HK$76,000 (2009: HK$4,508,000).

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company and to authorise the directors of
the Company to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, /»
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B RS E

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF PYl CORPORATION LIMITED
REEEHRAT

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PYI
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to
227, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZBEMBES

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
16 July 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

AN ><
,%/T\ (=] q&ﬁﬁ 'IE,":Z
For the year ended 31 March 2010
HZE2010F3A3MBILFE
2010 2009
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Pt 5E FET FHIT
Turnover ] 6 4,260,421 4,835,905
Cost of sales HEKA (3,877,311) (4,475,854)
Gross profit E A 383,110 360,051
Other income H A A 8 37,302 32,637
Other gains and losses E s KRS8 9 (38,343) (85,782)
Administrative expenses THER (278,518) (282,820)
Distribution and selling expenses DiE R EE BB (68,870) (59,252)
Other expenses HEiEA 10 (29,535) (22,610)
Finance costs ELEZIN 11 (66,271) (76,912)
Gain on fair value changes KEMENTFEE
of investment properties FE) 7 W 18 397,309 672,639
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries M B A E 2z S EWE 47(c) 13,466 =
Share of results of associates BhBE N R EE 58,075 38,601
Share of results of jointly controlled entities (k5 + R 1% Fl i 545 (5,241) 743
Profit before taxation % B A S ) 13 402,484 577,295
Taxation FiE 14 (165,764) (327,784)
Profit for the year FER A 236,720 249,511
Profit for the year attributable to: AR AT BIEFEERT -
Owners of the Company RABIHEEB A 149,298 138,794
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 87,422 110,717
236,720 249,511
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic and diluted earnings per share R EAR G EE T 16 0.035 0.039
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
metElER

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE2010F3A31BILFE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit for the year FE @A 236,720 249,511
Other comprehensive income H 2wk
Exchange differences arising from EREGINEBMEEZ
translation of foreign operations MEHZR 16,169 60,239
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of AHEEREZ AT EE
available-for-sale investments 252 W= (E518) 174 (277)
Share of translation reserve of associates BhE S N A 2 E S S 2,517 16,342
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHEMEE S 18,860 76,304
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEmMRREE 255,580 325,815
Total comprehensive income attributable to: AR AL fE(E 2 54078
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE Y =B 164,601 203,187
Non-controlling interests FEE R 90,979 122,628
255,580 325,815
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE BRI R

At 31 March 2010
7%2010%3H31H

2010 2009
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
s TH T FHAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ERY YL 17 2,136,213 691,933
Investment properties LEYE 18 2,577,880 2,049,887
Project under development EREFPIER 19 1,861,739 3,694,293
Properties under development ERERPYE 20 - 134,562
Prepaid lease payments A EE 22 300,679 221,918
Goodwill EES 23 61,646 64,343
Other intangible assets HihER S E 24 178,837 61,570
Interests in associates Bt N ERER 25 896,775 799,679
Interests in jointly controlled entities e [E] i i R 2 26 - 2,730
Available-for-sale investments Al ERE 27 1,262 804
Loans receivable — due after one year —FRIIEZ BRI ER 28 35,003 33,569
Other debtor — non-current portion Hih W EER —SEna o 32 129,486 =
8,179,520 7,755,288
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Stock of properties MERFE 21 1,853,812 768,685
Prepaid lease payments TS EFRIB 22 4,075 2,383
Inventories of finished goods HREE 12,085 19,097
Loans receivable — due within one year —ERNFH Y ERE = 28 232,127 319,542
Amounts due from associates JiE i et 42 N B RN IE 29 26,133 57,583
Amounts due from non-controlling interests & U JE 2 j& #E 25 3008 30 1,138 =
Amounts due from customers JEWE P & 4 T2
for contract works 31 203,794 196,776
Trade and other debtors, 2 5 & H th U AR 3K
deposits and prepayments T4 RFENRIE 32 2,409,614 2,201,384
Investments held for trading BIEEBRE 33 44,051 13,188
Available-for-sale investments At H R E 27 84 37,127
Derivative financial instruments TESRBIA 34 - 22,770
Taxation recoverable A 3R B 7 30 41,953 -
Pledged bank deposits EHRMIEITFER 35 33,582 183,439
Short term bank deposits REHRIRITIE K 35 350,972 176,698
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 35 648,060 561,982
5,861,480 4,560,654
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ReMBARRER

At 31 March 2010
74201043 H31H

2010 2009
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BT FExT FHT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Amounts due to customers for contract works fE &= E A %4 T2 I8 31 962,813 737,098
Trade and other creditors and LB N HEMENES R
accrued expenses FEER X 36 1,904,888 2,053,175
Deposits received for pre-sale properties BEMEZEWET 2 279,088 85,537
Amounts due to associates FE~TESE 5 N B FUE 37 42,939 66,938
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FET IEFE PR ME 25 2B 38 51,602 35
Amounts due to related companies FESTRAE N B 2k18 39 89,488 142,321
Taxation payable FERETE 66,421 91,713
Bank and other borrowings —FRHEZRITR
— due within one year H gk 40 1,322,464 1,151,958
Convertible notes payable FEST R R AR = 5 41 138,189 =
4,857,892 4,328,775
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFEE 1,003,588 231,879
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HWEERRBER 9,183,108 7,987,167
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnRBEME
Bank and other borrowings —FRBEZIRITR
— due after one year H i 40 1,465,358 1,565,153
Convertible notes payable FES AT AR = 55 41 - 129,068
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FETIEFE AR E S SN IR 38 20,478 74,767
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 42 1,893,983 1,670,162
Deferred income EFEU A 43 47,862 —
Other payables H fth & A 508 36 97,937 -
3,525,618 3,439,150
5,657,490 4,548,017
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXRFEE
Share capital [N 44 452,913 150,839
Reserves FHiE 3,676,766 3,495,757
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN A & 7 # B A fE(G R 4,129,679 3,646,596
Non-controlling interests JEPE IR RE 2 1,527,811 901,421
TOTAL EQUITY B 5,657,490 4,548,017

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16

July 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

BREREN27EZHBHRERENR2010F 7816 EES
BRERB#ETIE THTIIEERREZREE

Tom Lau g5 &

Joseph Chow E8#E o8 Jp
Chairman /&

Managing Director #8%¢

) regmsmras 201088 95



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

DAz EEAEEES FERER
Share- Share-based ~ Share
Investment Convertible ~ based payment  of net
Share  Share  Special  Capital revaluation ~ Other Tranlation ~ notes payment Warrants  Retained reserve of a  assets of Total
capital  premium  reserve reserve  reserves  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  profits  Subtotal  subsidiary subsidiaries Subtotal  equity
HRH KEAFZ 13
RE T8k %t AREE DUUEG TV
k& RfEE KAREE EffRfE HbRE EXRE ZERR ERE e REE Mt RERE  BERE Nt ERAR
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000
Thr Thr  TEr Thr Thr Thr TR Thr T Thn  ThAr  TEn  ThEr T T
At 1 April 2008 1200847 1A 150709 438714 124695 709 10638 295462 848 28260 - 266278 3377085 5200 726945 732225 4109310
Exchange diference arisng BEZ BN 25
from tranglation of MEEZENEE
foreign operations - - - - - 186N - - - - 6N - 11568 11568 60239
Loss on farvalue changes HEHERE 2
of avalableforsale  ATEEZEZ
investments B - - - (279) - - - - - - - ol (/I
Share of ranslation BERELNT
eeneof assoctes  ERRR - - - - - 15997 - - - - 159 - £l w1630
Proft for th year EREA = = = - - - - - - 179 1387% - 07 0T 24950
Total comprehensie ~~ EEZEKA
income for the year g% - = = (219) - 64668 = = - 138794 203187 - 12608 122608 35815
Share of otherreserves  Z{EBVEAF 2
of associates g - - - - - 10587 - - - - - 10587 - - - 10587
Option to acquire additional EBE A7l
interestinan assodate  EMER 2R
(note 48) (Hit48) = S = - 36805 - - - - - 36805 - - - 36805
Recorition of equity- ~ BZMBRE
sifld sharebased ~ FUEZER
payment expense = = = = = = - 14985 = - 1498 43 - 3 154
Issue of shares under share 1R 558 BEsf 2l
option scheme Bk 130 165 - - - - - - - - - - -1
Rebascuponlapse  HESEERE
of vested options KyEEL - - - - - - - (1528 - 1526 - - - - -
ksueof sharesnder B AFIRE
shaeoptionscheme ~ ERE3rE
by a subsidiary ki - - - - - - - - - - - (584 423 3689 3689
Releaseuponlapseof  RBLAFEEEE
Vested options of RExHES!
asubsidiary - - - - - - - - - 2676 2676 (4.291) 1615 (2676) -
Shareissueexpenses  EfIRGER = (510) - - - - - - - - (510) - - - 510)
Divdendsrecognised ~ BERAEATZRE
as istibution (note 1) (#713) - - - - - - - - 183 (1283) - - - - -
Diidend disbuted ~~ HEARAZZRE
by a subsidlary - - - - - - - - - - - - (12400 (12400 (12400)
Contrbuton from FihERLE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - 5908 52908 52908
Scrip dividends disrbuted FBATEE 2
by a subsidiary NRAS - - - - - - - - - - - - 804 84 804
Acquisiton of subsiciaries W EHEAE
() (Hi45) - - - - - - - - - - - T T /T
Acquistion of addtional  EERBATER
interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (795) (195  (1%)
At 31 March 2009 200934318 150839 439855 124695 34 58030 360130 8480 28019 12833 2806605 3,646,59% 841 900580 901421 4548017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A 3L 44
mERREER
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

DAz EEAEEES FakRR
Share- Share-based ~ Share
Investment Convertible ~ based payment  of net
Share  Share  Special  Capital revaluation ~ Other Tranlation ~ notes payment Warrants  Retained reserve of a  assets of Total
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserves  reseve  reseve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total  subsidiary subsidiaries Sub-total equity
HRH KEAFZ 13
R& T8k %t AREE DUUEG TV
Rx RORE KAEE HARE EGRE AGRE ENRE ZERE FGRE e REE Mt RERE  BERE Nt ERAR
HKJ000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKFO00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
Thr Thr TEn Thr TEr TEr TEr TR TEr TEn TR TR TRn  TEr  TEn T
At 1 April 2009 1200954A18 150839 439855 124695  (343320) 434 58030 360,130 8482 28019 12833 2806605 3,6465% 841 900580 901421 4548017
bhangediference  RAZH)EE
arsing fiom translation~ MESZEH 28
of foreign operations - - - - - - 1705 - - - - 1705 - 34 3464 16,169
(Gain on fair value changes M HERE 2
of aalkbleforsde  ATEEREZ
investments b - - - - 137 - - - - - - 137 - 3 37 174
Shareoftransation ~ BEBELF
reseneof assocates  ER R - - - - - -4 = = = -4 = 5 5% 2517
Profit for the year ERRT - S S = = = = = = - 149298 149298 - 4R A 36720
Totalomprehensie ~ EFZEWALE
income for the year - - - - 137 - 1516 - - - 149298 164601 - 90919 90979 255580
Share of oterresenves  E{EBEQE 2
of associates Lo - - - - -4 - - - - -4 - - V|
Release upon [apse DR
of warrants KHBEL - - - - - - - - - (12765 12765 = = = - =
Recognition of equity- ~~ BEMRAZH
stledsharebased 5B ZER
payment expense - - - - - - - - 1337 - - 1337 - - - 133
lsue of shares on exercise R E AR
of warants Bkh 138 120 - - - - - = = (68) -1 - - - 13
Reeasewponlapse- B EBERE
of vested options KAREL - - - - - = = - (1540 - B = = = = =
s ofshares on ik v
subscription of iftsssue 43R 0936 60387 - - - - - - - - -3 - - - 3633
Release upon lpse o~ AHEBRFIRER
Vested options of ERErumEL
asubsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 521 51 (8#1) B (521) -
Shareissue expenses  HRAHER - (12083) - - - - - - - - - (12083) - - - (1208)
Disposal of partial interest  HEHBA
in asubsiciary iDL = = - = = - [3496) - - - (B (8 - BT 35T 316433
Diidend distibuted ~ WEAFAZZBRE
by a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - - B Bay Bdw
Contributon from FERERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - 058 2058 058
Sarip didends disrbuted  HEARFE 2
by a subsiday SRS - - - - - - - - - - - - - g 166 1661
Acquistion of subsidiaries AE B AE
(note 47(c) (7)) - - - - - - - - - - - - - 16133 161335 16133
Acquision of addtional  SEEMBATER
Interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (555) (555) - 55 555 -
At 31 March 2010 003318 42913 489421 14695 (33326) 51 62461 340330 8482 14116 - 2980016 4129679 - 1527811 1527811 5657490
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A 3L 44
mERREER
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital and share premium of
the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the
Group and the nominal amount of the share capital issued as
consideration for the acquisition.

The capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value
and the carrying amount in the underlying assets and liabilities that
attributable to the additional interests in subsidiaries acquired by
the Group.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

w/T\/\IE@/JILE%

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A31HILEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEER
Profit before taxation B 54 A A 402,484 577,295
Adjustments for: BTHIE B ETHAE
Finance costs Bl & A AN 66,271 76,912
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEYE BWAREZ
plant and equipment BE () 1,077 (382)
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets HEHEMEEEEY BB - 45
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary k= )N el € (185) =
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries BB A Rz s B U s (13,466) -
Share of results of associates b e RN (58,075) (38,601)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities  #f +t [F] 12 i e 1 22 45 5,241 (743)
Release of prepaid lease payments ARTENRERE 2,960 2,386
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 2,302 1,569
Depreciation of property, ME - W REEZITE
plant and equipment 103,587 78,306
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of BEEEREZATEE
investments held for trading gy (W) BB (14,123) 67,421
Impairment loss recognised for goodwill P P RERR 2 R E 1R 2,692 =
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary BUE B A Rt 2 B8 5 -
Gain on fair value changes of derivative PMEEMTAEZ AFEE
financial instruments B8 7 Uz - (502)
Gain on fair value changes of investment WEYMENFEE
properties 8 2 W (397,309) (672,639)
Recovery of withholding tax paid in B3t ATIRE B 2 BT
connection with a former investment (15,243) -
Share-based payment expense VARR 9 2 (< 5/ TE 2 B B 1,337 15,295
Interest income FEHKA (4,329) (19,032)
Dividend income from investment held BEEEREZKRERA
for trading (178) (246)
Impairment loss recognised (recovered) FEU R IB AR EER
on receivables (U [a1) 11,687 (263)
Impairment loss on an available-for-sale AHHERE 2REER
investment 37,190 19,508
Operating cash flows before movements RETLEESBEAT 2
in working capital 4R AL R TRIE S 133,925 106,329
Changes in amounts due from (to) customers FEW () & F & 4 TI2 308 &
for contract works, net of attributable (B ETA AT RITE)
interest expenses and depreciation 221,203 (59,552)
Increase in stock of properties L EX Al (40,989) (329,499)
Decrease (increase) in loans receivable FEMRE FOR A (38 n) 87,415 (11,267)
Decrease in inventories 58 R 7,012 1,074
(Increase) decrease in trade and other ShEMEWIRZR 512 Kk
debtors, deposits and prepayments B FE (38 00) R (263,459) 241,980
) regmsmras 201088 99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= ==
SEEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E THET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES — continued REEK &
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from JE LG B AN B 2R IR R A (32 )
associates 32,486 (14,628)
Increase in investments held for trading BIEEEIRAEM (7,982) (19,354)
Increase in deposits received for pre-sale MIAEMEE IR B
properties 193,551 85,537
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B 5 N E b E R K FE AT
creditors and accrued expenses X Cf) &N (280,585) 70,567
(Decrease) increase in amounts due JEAST S & R RIERIE ORi4>) 320
to associates (24,014) 17,587
(Decrease) increase in amounts due FEASTBEE A BRI O 4>) 1N
to related companies (4,833) 687
Cash generated from operations RERLER IS 53,730 89,461
Overseas tax paid B8R B (9,158) (15,236)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BEBMEHER - 1,653
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERLEXK 2R FHE 44,572 75,878
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEWR
Additions to property, plant and equipment — #% « #48 K 28 1L A0 (269,876) (37,579)
Increase in project under development KR IE B A0 (157,530) (451,238)
Additions to pledged bank deposits BRI TIE 8 0 (33,582) (183,439)
Additions to interests in associates Bk 4% N B RE 2548 0 (31,390) (3,000)
Additions to prepaid lease payments I8 - 7L & FRIE A (11,371) (1,484)
Increase in available-for-sale investments A {38 E N (291) =
Additions to other intangible assets H i 4 T2 B EE 3 AN (10) (600)
Release of pledged bank deposits FRE IR TR 183,439 34,269
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net RSB AR - H5E 47(c) 50,497 (369)
Receipt of deferred income LS B 3 U A 30,870 -
Repayment of deferred consideration EERUGEENAE
receivable 4,000 -
Interest received 2 U FI & 2,844 17,531
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE B MR EFTSRE
plant and equipment 1,885 1,841
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly-controlled & # [&]4% %I 4 1 By
entity 916 -
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, net &K EA B TS 5%E - 47(d) 328 -
Dividend received from investments held ERFIEEERERE
for trading 178 246
Acquisition of additional interests HEEEHTE A A
in a subsidiary 47(a) - (800)
Acquisition of assets through acquisition BRWENBARIKEEE
of subsidiaries 48 - 6,168
Dividend received from associates B Ui Hgt A B AR B - 5,762
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= ==
SEEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES — continued REEK &
Proceeds from disposal of other e H i 4 R A PSR
intangible assets - 30
Increase in properties under development ZER R Y E I N - (69,411)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ARREXKZEEFE (229,093) (682,073)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AMEEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEBRITREMER (998,530) (1,019,268)
Interest paid B 1+ 1 &, (182,697) (155,585)
Repayment of loan from a related company EiERKBEHEEQAT 2 EX (70,000) =
Repayment of amounts due BIEEN IR 2= 2 FRIE
to non-controlling interests (30,015) (31,521)
Share issue expenses BITRNREX (12,083) (510)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SN NGIE 22 d i 2o =)
of subsidiaries (1,743) (11,598)
New bank and other borrowings raised HERRITREAMER 1,016,438 1,902,531
Proceeds from issue of shares TSR P18 2kE 363,655 1,781
Proceeds from partial disposal W SR B B A T
of a subsidiary, net FT{83RIE » 558 47(b) 316,433 -
Loans from related companies REBERBIZER 22,000 =
Contribution from non-controlling interests & & 3F1E AR iz H & 20,528 52,908
Proceeds from issue of shares of a subsidiary  Fff B A & 317815 A5 218 - 3,689
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REMEFH 2RSS FHE 443,986 742,427
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BeRERSSEEEMINFEE
EQUIVALENTS 259,465 136,232
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE S SR B
CHANGES 887 1,029
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BROUGHT 184 & 6235 4 2 (478 B /&R
FORWARD 738,680 601,419
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CARRIED B4 RHBE 4L EEE LS
FORWARD 999,032 738,680
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES BeRERSLSEED SR
OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Short term bank deposits RHERITER 350,972 176,698
Bank balances and cash RITEGFERRS 648,060 561,982
999,032 738,680
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Vel

e ISR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

1.

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability. Its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the “Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities are set out in note 57.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
("new and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

Presentation of Financial
Statements

Borrowing Costs

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Business Combinations

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HK(IFRIC) — Int 9 & HKAS 39 Embedded Derivatives
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13

HK(IFRIC) = Int 15

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)
HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

HK(FRIC) — Int 16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE UMK

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") — continued

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18 Transfers of Assets from
Customers
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2008, except for the
amendment to HKFRS 5 that
is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July
2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009 in relation to the
amendment to paragraph 80
of HKAS 39

Except as described below, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
current or prior accounting periods.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosures only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the financial statements)

and changes in the format and content of the financial
statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has resulted in a
redesignation of the Group's reportable segments (see note
7) and changes in the basis of measurement of segment
profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities.

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures

required in relation to fair value measurements in respect of
financial instruments which are measured at fair value. The
amendments also expand and amend the disclosures required
in relation to liquidity risk. The Group has not provided
comparative information for the expanded disclosures in
accordance with the transitional provision set out in the
amendments.

ERAFITREEREBHKEREZEA
([EEMBEREER]) &
5% (BRREBEEE®) BFPEZEEE
—RREE18%
RN B RELR 20084 18 7 & & i1 1%
(FHEET) WA ER 2 M
1200947 A1H A
BHBZE2FEHEA
Mz BB BREE
RIS 2 ERT A
B& 51
BAEMERELER A2009F B & B %
(F&1B3T) ARzt - 0
BB g ERIE395%
E80EH 4

BT XXFrash SR e REERBEMBREE
A AEEAERBESFHEAZER M BRE
UERERTE -

EFEZIRBEEZHIRCERE R
B 7% 3R 45 2 A
EB G EA 15 (815 %2007) [ 817
HER2ZE2Y ]
EAQIERE1% (EEK2007) REEXRZEE
ALE (OEERMBREZEE) RUBRER
RMANAZBE -

BERUMBRELEAEHREE DI
BAMBREERFSRR —EHEER  HHA
SEZASEHNBRENE D (RMHE7) TR
SWENAEE SHEERSBABIHEL
pi-

-

HEEHEERMIAZHE
(ERMBHRERUFIRIEMIA K
B1zEe])

EEMBREEANBTRZET  EMBEBEAT
EEENSHTIAZATEENBZABHE -
BRETTENREXERRBDELARZME
BB - AREY KRS T MBIE RIS
MEABBBEZLEEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE UMK

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") — continued

New and revised HKFRSs affecting the reported
results and/or financial position

Amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs (2008), HKAS 40 has
been amended to include within its scope properties under
construction or development for future use as investment
properties and to require such properties to be measured

at fair value (where the fair value model is used and the fair
values of the properties are reliably determinable). The Group
has applied the amendments to HKAS 40 prospectively from
1 April 2009 in accordance with the relevant transitional
provision. However, HKAS 40 has had no material impact on
the reported results or financial position of the Group as the
Group did not have investment properties under construction
as at 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010.

In addition, the Group has determined to early apply, during
the financial year beginning on 1 April 2009, the following
revised standards that have been issued but are not yet
mandatory:

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) has been adopted in the current
year in advance of its effective date (business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 July
2009). Its adoption has affected the accounting for business
combinations in the current year.

In accordance with the relevant transitional provisions, HKFRS
3 (Revised 2008) has been applied prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1
April 2009. The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised
2008) Business Combinations has been:

o to allow a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis
for the measurement of non-controlling interests
(previously referred to as ‘minority” interests) either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ share of
the identifiable net assets of the acquiree;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE UMK

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") — continued

New and revised HKFRSs affecting the reported
results and/or financial position — continued

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations —
continued

e to change the recognition and subsequent accounting
requirements for contingent consideration. Under
the previous version of the standard, contingent
consideration was recognised at the acquisition date
only if payment of the contingent consideration
was probable and it could be measured reliably;
any subsequent adjustments to the contingent
consideration were recognised against goodwill.
Under the revised standard, contingent consideration
is measured at fair value at the acquisition date;
subsequent adjustments to the consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from better information about the fair value
at the acquisition date, and they occur within the
‘measurement period’ (a maximum of 12 months from
the acquisition date). All other subsequent adjustments
are recognised in profit or loss;

o where the business combination in effect settles a
pre-existing relationship between the Group and the
acquiree, to require the recognition of a settlement
gain or loss; and

o to require that acquisition-related costs be accounted
for separately from the business combination, generally
leading to those costs being recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred, whereas previously
they were accounted for as part of the cost of the
acquisition.

In the current year, these changes in policies have resulted

in acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$22,499,000
being charged to the consolidated income statement.

Such costs for acquisition of interests in subsidiaries of
approximately HK$22,499,000, which relate to business
combinations to be completed after 31 March 2010, would
have been accounted for as prepayments in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010 had
HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) not been early adopted and
accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition upon

the completion of business combination. There is no other
significant financial impact to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

FERAFIREEREEMBREER
((EBMBHEER ) &
HERREER /AR BRR TR
REXERBMBREER &
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BHHzATEENE HRYBEREZ
HEENREREEHERNEBEHZATE
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S ASEERWERARZANBEBERRERKA

j M5 BHRZEBRAREBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMETE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H LFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") — continued

New and revised HKFRSs affecting the reported
results and/or financial position — continued

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) and consequential amendments to
HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
have been adopted in advance of their effective date (annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revisions to
HKAS 27 principally affect the accounting for transactions or
events that result in a change in the Group's interests in its
subsidiaries.

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) has been adopted for periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2009 and has been applied
retrospectively (subject to specified exceptions) in accordance
with the relevant transitional provisions. The revised standard
has affected the Group’s accounting policies regarding
changes in ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do

not result in a change in control. In prior years, the Group
adopts a policy to charge the difference between the fair
value and the carrying values of the underlying assets and
liabilities attributable to the additional interests in a subsidiary
acquired to capital reserve; for decreases in interests in
existing subsidiaries that did not involve a loss of control,

the difference between the consideration received and the
carrying amount of the share of net assets disposed of was
recognised in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (Revised 2008),
all such increases or decreases are dealt with in equity, with
no impact on goodwill or profit or loss. The new accounting
policies in relation to changes to ownership interest in
subsidiaries have been applied prospectively to changes that
take place on or after 1 April 2009.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a
transaction, event or other circumstance, the revised standard
requires that the Group derecognises all assets, liabilities

and non-controlling interests at their carrying amounts. Any
retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at

its fair value at the date control is lost, with the gain or loss
arising recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMETE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H LFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") — continued

New and revised HKFRSs affecting the reported
results and/or financial position — continued

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements — continued

The adoption of HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) has affected the
accounting for the Group’s disposal in the current year

of part of its ownership interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port
Development and Investment Co., Ltd. (“YangKou Port Co")
that does not result in the loss of control over YangKou

Port Co, and the acquisition of additional interest in Feeder
Port Holdings Limited that does not result in the change

of control. Specifically, the change in policy has resulted in
the difference of approximately HK$4,413,000 between

the consideration received or paid and the non-controlling
interests adjusted being recognised directly in equity (retained
profits), instead of profit or loss or goodwill. Therefore, the
change in accounting policy has resulted in an increase in the
profit for the year of approximately HK$3,858,000.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

revised Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that have

been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs
2008

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 20092
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HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 9
HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendment)

HK(FRIC) - Int 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs 20103
Related Party Disclosures’
Classification of Rights Issues®
Eligible Hedged Items’
Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters?

Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters®

Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions*

Financial Instruments®

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement’

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners'

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE2010F3A31HILFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. EAHIRKEREBVNBHREER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ((EBRMKREER] &
("HKFRSs") — continued BEAENRERZFTREERE S
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet B RE R B
effective — continued ' 200047 310 KB 2 FERE M -
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 2 20097 A 18 %2010F1 A18 (BEEEA) kA&
2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 gz 2 FHMBRZIEET -
July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate. 3 2010718 R2011F1A18 (BEEHEA) kA%
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January Fmz2FHEA®R -
2011, as appropriate. 4 H2010F 1 A1 BB 2 2 FHFE AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. s H2010F2 A 1B S AERIG 2 2 F R AR -
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. 6 H2010F7AVB A BBz 2 FHMA® -
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 7 H2011F1A1B A ERIG 2 2 F R AR -
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 8 H2013F 1A 1R SAERIG 2 2 F R AR -
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
EEMBREERBESR/2HTA/SIECREE
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements SR REHET BT WH2013E4A1B BN A
for thg clasmﬁcatpn and measurement of flﬂ;ﬂClaI assetls EEAN W hFIEBER - BB EE e
and.W|II beleff('ectlve to ’Fhe Grohup from 1 April 201 3,|;Nlth B30 (2 BT A BARHE/GEN A
earlier application permitted. The Standard requires a ORISR ERRER AR AT EES S A1

recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

to be measured at either amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that (i) are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost. All . ; T T e B
. . INT s = &K (& A (e
other debt investments and equity investments are measured ARFIERRAE - BARAMA RAEESRA - £

at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the AARBIENGRMBRRELEARE

ROBBRENREREBNUNEBRAFEZE
BRE  RiVERaOREZEBRE  BARR
ERABEAINARE  MAEELAS ZH SR K
RESHRAGE - FTEHMEGRE RBARER
RFEEFE ERBTBEVBRSENFIR AL
FEAGEEREEZNBRGE -

classification and measurement of the Group's financial
assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments

or Interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments and investment properties which are measured
at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist

of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Basis of consolidation — continued

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1 April 2009,
losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess

of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity
were allocated against the interests of the Group except to
the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment
to cover the losses.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 2009

For increases in interests in existing subsidiaries, the
difference between the fair values and the carrying values
of the underlying assets and liabilities attributabe to the
additional interests in subsidiaries acquired is charged to
capital reserve. For decreases in interests in subsidiaries
regardless of whether the disposals would result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference between
the consideration received and the carrying amount of the
share of net assets disposed of was recognised in profit or
loss.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries after 1 April 2009

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes

in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3. FESHHBE-B

Basis of consolidation — continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries — continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries after 1 April 2009 — continued

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity,
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
profits at the date when control is lost). The fair value of

any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the

date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS

39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Business combinations
Business combinations prior to 1 April 2009

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control

of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that met the relevant
conditions for recognition were generally recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of
the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost
of the business combination, the excess was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Business combinations — continued

Business combinations prior to 1 April 2009 —
continued

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was initially
measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportion of the
net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if,
the contingent consideration was probable and could be
measured reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration were recognised against goodwill.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each
step. Any additional acquisition did not affect the previously
recognised goodwill.

Business combinations on or after 1 April 2009

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) are recognised
at their fair values, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to the
replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based
payment awards are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and

J assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that Standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Business combinations — continued

Business combinations on or after 1 April 2009 -
continued

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the
Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated

is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

FESTHRE-E

E Sy SR
R2009FAR1HR 2 ENEKRESH B
FRERE Y (B - RIS 5 2 (T IR R % R K
BH MR RRESRE (E) 2 AT EE
Bt HBE K TR EERAARE BE
RUBEEZ 38 FRE 2 BD IRAAHE -
i (E %) AEER RS S A BRI S EEE
TATBEMERSR TSR RE - R
MIEBERENZCERUE S SR EERKES
% (mAE) 22 ?ﬁﬁZ%ﬁ B85
BDES B 2R TR 0 (B U M 3 o

FERES NS RFERESREEREETA
WA BEFEZAFEELGE FAEEETIR
BRI 5 EEM LR

R
WHE M ES 2 E - THRMR AR A B A0
BEEEIE  WREKRE T BIRAER LB 25 -

BRREANANE  KESEMEEZAE RS K
AEEMARUBzHRANETZEZEHAIR
BUgAREMER  YHEERARE ZARE
NEBFREPRBIZEME LI RERE
TTREANR HRER-MBRFELBELZEHEM
T DEBAREZAIR BN KM BERERA
ETREN - BAREMZAIREEEERZE
I 2 BRmE{E - BIBEEBEE LW EEHRERE
BIZEREE HRNBEUANE-EEREERL
PINEEEZEMNZEMEE - BE ZEMBHEREE
EENGANGERER BEZEMREBERNE
BHMEATEE -

) regmsraz 201088 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Goodwill - continued

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than ports under construction)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

Ports under construction includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Ports under construction is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Ports under
construction is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured

at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3.
Investment properties — continued

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Project under development/properties under
development under non-current asset

Properties under development and project under
development are carried in the consolidated financial
statements at cost less any identified impairment loss. Cost
of properties/project under development includes, where
appropriate, relevant development costs, release of prepaid
lease payments/sea use rights over the relevant lease terms
and borrowing cost capitalised. No depreciation has been
provided for properties/project under development.

Project under development are transferred at the carrying
value to stock of properties for sale or property, plant and
equipment, as appropriate, when the intended purpose of
the land development can be determined.

Stock of properties

Stock of properties is stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to sale proceeds received after the end of the
reporting period less selling expenses, or, if not yet sold

after the end of the reporting period, by management
estimates based on prevailing market condition. The relevant
costs include acquisition costs, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs attributable
to such properties.

Prepaid lease payments

The up-front payments to acquire leasehold interest in land
or sea use rights are accounted for as operating leases and
are stated initially at cost. The prepaid lease payments are
released on a straight-line basis over the respective lease
terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Prepaid lease payments — continued

For those release of prepaid lease payments that relate to
leasehold interest in land and are directly attributable to the
construction of properties/project under development and
stock of properties, the amounts released are capitalised

as part of the cost of those assets. Release of prepaid

lease payments that relate to sea use rights are capitalised
as development costs in project under development.
Capitalisation of such release of prepaid lease payments/sea
use rights ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other release of prepaid lease payments are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds

its interest in that associate (which includes any long-

term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3.
Interests in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
entities are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investments in jointly controlled entities
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of net assets of the jointly controlled entities,
less any identified impairment loss. When the Group's share
of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds

its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes
any long-term interest that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.

An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity
of the Group, unrealised profits or losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's interest in the jointly controlled
entity.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation

for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Other intangible assets — continued
Intangible assets acquired separately
On initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately other than from business combinations are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, other intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequently accumulated impairment losses. Other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period. Variations in
contract work and claims are included to the extent that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered
probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred. Variations in contract work
and claims are included to the extent that the amount can
be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.
Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed

total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Construction contracts — continued

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts due from customers for contract works.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for
contract works. Amounts received before the related work

is performed are included in the consolidated statement

of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by

the customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under trade and other debtors, deposits
and prepayments.

Inventories

Inventories, including liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") for
sales, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to

or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for
trading.

The Group's financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future;

e itisa part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted

in an active market. Loans and receivables (including bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, loans receivable, trade
and other debtors and deposits, amounts due from non-
controlling interests and amounts due from associates) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy
on impairment of financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables.
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
guoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed

for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty;

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
debtors and loans receivable, assets that are assessed not
to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period and observable changes in national

or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by

the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade debtors, loans receivable and amounts
due from associates/non-controlling interests, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of

the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
carried at fair value will not be reversed in profit or loss in
subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected

life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3. FESHBE-B

Financial instruments — continued ¢RI E-—B

Financial liabilities and equity — continued SHEEREBAERS &

Convertible notes payable JE {+f B £ R 2 4

Convertible notes payable issued by the Company that ARNBBRAZEMATHRBEEEAS GG R ARG

contain both liability and conversion option components are S TROSERESHEEERLTH - iy

classified separately into respective components on initial AMBRHEESERUNETSEY B4R R

recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the BERDETHE ZAAFBRATATHAEZ - 8]

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset EABRATA -

for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments

is classified as an equity instrument. N R AENS Y AT EEEEEET
_— - . o BMREEZBITMISEXRET - FTAIRKREEM

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component P

BHREAERBA BB ZATFEENEZR (R
REAARBERERAERS 2 LR HE) TR
e

is determined using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the
gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes payable
and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in convertible notes reserve.

HEHMENTREZER2BEHRRAE R
T/zl«/{ﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁ)\ﬁﬁ s (REBAERD
BRASARRR BB ZHE) BRERNATERERE

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the WA B2 Eﬁ%%ﬁ”ﬁ FE B B P8 R SR 0 U
convertible notes payable is carried at amortised cost using 2 ZHBHBRERNEE - SZHRNEMA
the effective interest method. The equity component, MARITE - BIRATREREESEE 27 2 BB
represented by the option to convert the liability component WARBARR & ﬂ R R MR 2 B
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in BreniEa gz

convertible notes reserve until the option is exercised in

which case the balance stated in convertible notes reserve HETAARREABE LR HKABIZFREREA

will be transferred to share premium. Where the option BEZOELISEEEERERED o EERA

remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated NEBZR IR EAEEREER I - BEEIHD
in convertible notes reserve will be released to the retained BEXSEANNAGEIMHZETARN TR
profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon AR A S B N A A R Bk P LA Y o

conversion or expiration of the option.

B/ B &

HiteRBE (REFEE 5 REMENRR - EAE
BAR/BERRFERERRE  HMEMER
REBITRAMER) HREBFSERE B S
HAKARETE o

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components

in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes payable using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other creditors,

amounts due to related companies/associates/non-controlling
interests, other payables and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial liabilities and equity — continued
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are classified as an
equity instrument.

The fair value of warrants on the date of issue is recognised
in equity (warrants reserve). The warrants reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium upon exercise
of the warrants. Where the warrants remain unexercised

at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
warrants reserve will be released to the retained profits.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair
value on the contract date, and are subsequently remeasured
to fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition

in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense

on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into
an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To
the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for
as operating leases and released over the lease term on a
straight-line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the value of work certified during the year.

Revenue from distribution of LPG is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed.

Project management service income and facilities
management service income are recognised when services
are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Revenue recognition — continued

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognised
upon the execution of binding sales agreements and delivery
of the properties. Deposits and instalments received from
purchasers prior to this stage are included in the current
liabilities.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group's right to receive payment has been established.

Income from port, port logistics and supporting services are
recognised when the respective services are rendered.

Service income from provision of consultancy services

which also involve usage by the customer of the Group'’s
infrastructure and logistics facilities is recognised at the time
when the services are rendered. When the service contract
involves a long period to deliver the services, the revenue is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract service, as measured by the proportion that the
value of the service rendered to the customer up to date bear
to the estimated total value of the service under the contract
with the customer.

The income from contract involving only the use by customer
of the Group's infrastructure facilities is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the usage granted to the
customer.

Interest income from loans receivable and interest income
from a financial asset are accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying asset, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost

of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on

a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Government grants related to
depreciable assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets.
Other government grants are recognised as revenue over the
periods necessary to match them with the costs for which
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged

as an expense or capitalised in contracts in progress, where
appropriate, when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 3.
Taxation — continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the

tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at

the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly

in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3. FESHBE-B

Foreign currencies — continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency

of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period,
and their income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation in disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed arising on an acquisition of
a foreign operation on or after 1 April 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees after 7
November 2002 and vested before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as
the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in
profit or loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon
the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value
of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their
exercise date are deleted from the register of outstanding
options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBIRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3.
Share-based payment transactions — continued

Share options granted to employees after 7
November 2002 and vested on or after 1 April
2005

For share options granted to directors and employees of the
Group after 1 April 2005, the fair value of services received
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period/recognised as an expense in
full at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payment reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit

or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
payment reserve. At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after vesting date or are

still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services

are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payment reserve), when the Group obtains the goods
or when the counterparties render services, unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 3.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwiill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 4.
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that

would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY - 4,
continued

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Construction contracts

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of a
construction contract according to the management's
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well
as the percentage of completion of construction works.
Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs
for the construction contract as the contract progresses,
the actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total
revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the
estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

(b) Deferred tax asset

At 31 March 2010, no deferred tax asset in relation

to unused tax losses of HK$911 million (2009:

HK$907 million) has been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position due to
unpredictability of future profit streams on those
subsidiaries. In cases where the actual future profits
generated by those subsidiaries are more than
expected, a material deferred tax credit would be
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which the tax losses are utilised.

(c) Deferred tax liability recognised in respect
of fair value adjustments on investment
properties, project under development and
stock of properties
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities shall reflect
the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover the carrying amount of its
assets.
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
4., KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY -

continued
(c) Deferred tax liability recognised in respect

of fair value adjustments on investment
properties, project under development and
stock of properties — continued

As at 31 March 2010, the deferred tax liability in
respect of the fair value adjustment on project
under development and stock of properties
amounted to approximately HK$838,030,000
(2009: HK$835,180,000), of which an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$608,079,000 (2009:
HK$606,010,000) was in relation to the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") Land Appreciation
Tax ("LAT"). In making the estimation, the directors
have considered that the land and sea use rights
development may be recovered through future

sale in the long term. Upon the completion of the
development and, depending on the market condition
by that time, the directors will re-assess the use of

property interests and make appropriate adjustments to

reflect the tax consequences of the related assets.

As described in note 18, the directors of the Company
have made a best estimate on deferred tax liability in
considering the manner in which the Group expects
to recover the carrying amount of the investment
properties. In making the estimation, the directors
made reference to the use of the property interests
nearby and assumptions are made based on the likely
usage of the properties in that location. The directors
had made a best estimate that half of the property
interests may be realised through sale in the long
term. The relevant amount of potential LAT had been
recognised as a deferred tax liability based on the
above estimate. The amount of such related deferred
tax liability as at 31 March 2010 is approximately
HK$605,597,000 (2009: HK$490,954,000).

4.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY -
continued

(d) Other debtors

As disclosed in note 32, there are advances and
accrued interest of aggregate sums of approximately
HK$242,579,000 and HK$16,394,000 due from

an independent third party and its related company
respectively as at 31 March 2010. A subsidiary of the
Company has taken legal action in Hong Kong to
recover the amount of approximately HK$16,394,000.
However, under same legal proceedings, a third party
claim for damages in a total sum of Renminbi (“RMB")
402 million for breach of an alleged oral master
agreement has been lodged against the Group. Taken
into consideration of a legal opinion, the Company is
of the view that the third party claim is groundless and
that it would not lead to any adverse material impact
on the financial position of the Group.

Management also has assessed the uncertainties
surrounding the above dispute together with the value
of the underlying collaterals obtained for the above
balances and is of the view that the amounts can be
recovered in full (see note 32).

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be

able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in note 40, convertible
notes payable disclosed in note 41 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and their associated risks thereto. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE

TURNOVER EHER
Turnover is analysed as follows: BEFEZOWMAT
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FHT
Revenue from construction contracts BEAEAKE 3,600,900 4,293,857
Revenue from sale of LPG product SHEREAHBREA 282,925 345,488
Income from usage and management of A REREEEREIRA
infrastructure facilities 131,270 117,465
Sale of properties HEw 107,618 21,433
Income from port related services 785 0 AR BE AR A U A 87,638 -
Interest income from loans receivable FEUE 2 A B UA 30,660 32,983
Revenue from project and facilities 18 B KRS 1B AR IS i e
management services 12,767 20,894
Property rental and related income VB S RAEBWRA 6,643 3,761
Income from storage and logistics services B R RIS YA - 24
4,260,421 4,835,905

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard
that requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in
order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard (HKAS

14 Segment Reporting) required an entity to identify two sets
of segments (business and geographical) using a risks and
returns approach.

In prior years, business segment information reported
externally was analysed by organising into seven operating
divisions, namely management contracting, property
development management, port and infrastructure
development and logistics, LPG distribution, treasury
investment, property investment and property trading.
However, information reported to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (the Managing Director of

the Company) focuses more specifically on the strategic
operation and development of each business unit and its
performance is evaluated through organising similar business
units into an operating segment. The application of HKFRS
8 has resulted in a redesignation of the Group's reportable
segments.

AEECE B2009F4R 1B RIKAEBY M EE
RIESSE [ E A8 - BREMBHRSLRER R
BREER BERERALENBLARBEESRHEE
BERREESR REHIOHMETERIELR
Rfhz SBEBRANABBREERESE - B
EXQ (BB ENE 4R/ 2AFE4H)) BIER
EREEZEREE®RSE 2MESBREHR
(REBRME) -

BEFE  BHEBIEBOMERD RERELE
BFY - DRIREAREEE MERREE BEORE
BREREYR BRIEOARDE BBRE WE
RERWMEEE - AN AREETIZLERRE
(ARBBEERCENBEPREERETL LR
BEERER UYHHECBRZEBETAGER
—Z2ENBAFBHERE - RABF AP BIREER
FERDNEUNAEEME2HR N AP EE -
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7.

The operating segments of the Group under HKFRS 8 are
therefore as follows:

Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Paul
Y. Engineering Group”) — The Group’s subsidiary listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and principally engaged

in building construction, civil engineering, development
management, project management, facilities and asset
management

Development of ports facilities
and ports related properties

Ports development

Operation of ports, LPG and
logistics businesses

Ports and logistics

Property - Development, sale and leasing
of real estate properties and
formed land

Treasury - Provision of credit services and

securities trading

The Managing Director of the Company assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on a measure
of earnings (losses) before interest expense and tax (“EBIT or
LBIT").

Inter-segment revenue are charged at market price or, where
no market price was available, at terms determined and
agreed by both parties.

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.

Amounts reported for the prior years have been restated to
conform to the requirements of HKFRS 8.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. DWER-E
Segment revenues and results DI R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and NI REBEEDMINTAEE 2 Yz R EE

results by operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2010 B Z201063H318LFE
Paul .
Engineering Ports Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations  Consolidated
REEEEM BORR  RORMA ES E# ARt 3f &4

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TiEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TER

TURNOVER L
External revenue EaplbiGat 3,613,667 131,210 370,563 114,261 30,660 4,260,421 - 4,260,421
Inter-segment revenue 7 &l 31,206 - - 232 - 31,438 (31,438) -
Total &% 3,644,873 131210 370,563 114,493 30,660 4,291,859 (31,438) 4,260,421
EBITDA* EBITDA* 12,126 459,677 106,457 34,085 i 672,386 (14,143) 658,243
Depreciation and MEREH

amortisation (10,754) (54,805) (39,794) (533) @) (105,889) - (105,889)
Segment result PHEE

- B8IT —~EBT 61372 404,872 66,663 33,552 38 566,497 (14,143) 552,354
Corporate and other ~ AF REMEZ*

expenses** (83,599)
Finance costs BERA (66,271)
Profit before taxation AT 7 402,484
Taxation B (165,764)
Profit for the year EEHT 236,720
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EZ2010F3A31HILEE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. oHER-&
Segment revenues and results — continued DN ERESE —E
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE2009F3A31BIEFE
Paul Y.
Engineering Ports Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations  Consolidated
RERZEE BORRE BARIR n% E# AR o 4
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FiEn Tt Tin Tin Tin Tin T
TURNOVER R
External revenue HoM 4,314,751 117,465 345,512 25,19 32,983 4,835,905 - 4,835,905
Inter-segment revenue 5 ez 112,465 - - 463 - 112,928 (112,928) -
Total 4% 4427216 117,465 345,512 25,657 32,983 4,948 833 (112,928 4,835,905
EBITDA (LBITDA)* EBITDA (LBITDA)* 67,294 412,218 71,944 328,354 (54,197) 825,613 (10,135) 815,478
Depreciation and HEREH
amortisation (9,401) (37,629) (32,507) (335) 3) (79,875) - (79,875)
Segment result NHEE
~EBIT(LBIT) —EBIT (LBIT) 57,893 374,589 39,437 328,019 (54,200) 745,738 (10,135) 735,603
Corporate and other A7 REMER**
expenses** (81,396)
Finance costs BERA (76,912)
Profit before taxation ~ B# 31| 577,295
Taxation BB (327,784)
Profit for the year ERRH 29511
* “EBITDA” and “LBITDA" are defined as earnings (losses) before interest * [EBITDA | R [LBITDA ] & 5% A AT R S S BIE - 47
expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation. EREHEAAN(EBE) -
*x Including acquisition — related costs of approximately HK$22,499,000 o BE HUE AR 2 KA 422,499,000 7T (2009 :
(2009: HK$10,902,000). 10,902,000 #7T)
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BZE201063A31H EFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. oBER-E
Segment assets and liabilities THEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and NTREEENHIITAEE s EEREE -

liabilities by operating segment:

At 31 March 2010 R201063A31H
Paul .
Engineering Ports Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations  Consolidated
REERSE EORR EORIR nx E# b by 4 &4

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TER

ASSETS &E
Segment assets PHBE 2,548,890 5,528,722 2,861,514 2,664,253 22367 13,845,746 (153,811) 13,691,935
Unallocated assets AAREE 349,065
Consolidated total ABEE

assets 14,041,000
LIABILITIES gf
Segment liabllties P8R 1,959,477 3,878,275 1,382,613 1,137,848 129175 8,487,388 (128,762) 8,358,626
Unallocated liabiities 7 EfE 24,884

Consolidated total LAueR
liahilities 8,383,510
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
Segment assets and liabilities — continued
At 31 March 2009

Paul Y.
Engineering Ports Ports and
Group  development logistics

RERZEE BOZRE BORDR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Thr i

7. oWEM-E
THMEERAE &
7200943 A31H

Segment
Property Treasury totl  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
ES BT Db 4 8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL FAL FEL FAL FEL

ASSETS &g
Segment assets AHBE 2,393,316 6,377,531 1,445,712
Undllocated assets &4 REE

Consolidated total RABEE

assets
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabllties AHaE 1.843,628 4,266,138 559,507
Unallocated liabilities ~ ®ABRAE
Consolidated total RABAR
liabilities

Segment assets and liabilities comprise assets and liabilities

of the operating subsidiaries that engaged in different
businesses. Accordingly, segment assets exclude corporate
assets which are mainly bank balances and cash and other
receivables, and segment liabilities exclude corporate
liabilities which are mainly other payables. Amounts reported
for the prior year have been restated upon the application of
HKFRS 8 which has resulted in a redesignation of the Group's
reportable segments.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Other information BER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s other information TERABRNEBEEMERIZEB DB D 204
by operating segment:
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZE2010F3A31HLFE
Paul Y.
Engineering Ports  Portsand
Group  development logistics Properg Treasury  Eliminations Consolidated
REEXEE EOEE  EORYR 1 E B &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén Tén Tén TER TERL Tén
Additions to non-current assets other BB FREEE
than financial instruments and (SRIARBENE/
Interests in associates/jointly ARZHERERRD) ¢
controlled entities* 38,503 1,130,489 308,000 2,555 - - 1,479,547
Unallocated additions ABAE R 6
1,479,553
Release of prepaid lease payments SERARERE 575 = 2,385 = = S 2,960
Share-hased payment expense AR (G iﬁ - 1332 9 - 30 - 131
Unallocated amount FEARE (34)
1331
Impairment loss recognised (recovered)  EUFERERHERE
on receivables (k) 1 - - 11,376 (400) - 11,687
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE - BhHRREL
plant and equipment Bz 37 1 1133 (82) - - 1,095
Unallocated amount AEAEZHE (18)
1,017
Interest income HEMA 13312 2,204 951 622 - (12,853) 4,236
Unallocated amount ABARZHE %3
4,329
Finance costs BERA 13,561 8,146 36,997 5,331 1,35 (5,116) 66,271
Taxation fiE 1,40 179,077 2 25,072 (57) - 205,359
Unallocated amount RN (39,595)
165,764
Interests in associates BEnTER 30,164 - 866,611 - - - 896,775
Share of results of associates 3 NG (1,140) - 59,215 - - - 58,075
Share of results of jointly controlled LA LEE
entities (5.241) - - - - - (5.241)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary i EH B Ak 185 - - - - - 185
Impairment loss recognised in respect ~ StAERZZHESE
of goodwill 2,692 - - - - - 2,692
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~ H#MEAT Rz EE 5 - - - - - 5
Impairment loss on an available-for-sale AL ERE 2 BB E
investment - - - - 37,190 - 37,190
Change in fair value of investments held £ EERE 7 ATEES
for trading - - - - 14123 - 14,123
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries  KBAR 2 2B WA S - 13,466 - - - 13,466
* Excluding additions arising from acquisition of subsidiaries. * TEEEKENREQR . EE -
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
Other information — continued

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other information
by operating segment: — continued

For the year ended 31 March 2009

TERR/AEEEMEMZEB D HE D 20 - —

HZE2009F3A318 ILFE

Paul Y.
Engineering Ports Ports and
Group  development logistics Property Treasury  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
RERELE BOEE  BORMiE kS E# 3 5a
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T T T ThT T TAL
Additions to non-current assets other  EEEREEE
than financial instruments and (ERIARBEDR/
interests in associates/jointly ARZHEEEERD)
controlled entities 19,581 460,362 4450 79,101 - - 563,494
Unallocated additions AEAE A% 83
564,357
Release of prepaid lease payments SRRENRESE 575 - 1811 - - - 2,386
Share-based payment expense WRA% 508 - 4,868 1,281 648 (1,507) - 5,290
Unallocated amount RN 10,005
15,295
Impairment loss recognised (recovered) — EUZERERHERE
on receivables (kE) 745 - - - (1,000) - (255)
Unallocated amount FEAEIEE ®)
(263)
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BRRRE2 RS
plant and equipment 208 125 - - - - 33
Unallocated amount AEAB B s
382
Interest income HMEMA 28,070 1,306 63 594 5 (11373) 18,665
Unallocated amount AEAB A 367
19,032
Finance costs BERK 18,924 5,409 41,158 6,186 10,115 (4,880) 76,912
Taxation HE 2,960 171,334 (885) 154,375 - - 327,784
Interests in associates BENTRE 31,293 - 768,386 - - - 799,679
Interests in jointly controlled entities HREmEEER 2,730 - - - - - 2,730
Share of results of associates L NG 1387 - 37214 - - - 38,601
Share of results of jointly controlled BIEAREHRERE
entities 743 - - - - - 743
Impairment loss on an available-for-sale  wgt &% A ZEEEE
investment - - - - 19,508 - 19,508
Change in fair value of investments held £ EERE 7 ATEES
for trading = - = = (67,421) = (67,421)
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BZE201063A31H EFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. oBER-E
Geographical information i & & #
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, Macau AEBZEBUREE RFARDE (FE KRR
and the PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau. BRAN) o
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover by TERRMWETEE D (REEHNFEHE  THhYE
geographical market based on location of customers, B/ RIS B ) R AR [ L R > DT

irrespective of the origin of the goods/services:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAETT
Hong Kong S 3,342,236 4,120,351
Macau SR 112,357 162,110
The PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau & B (&8 K& B FIER 41 ) 805,828 553,444
4,260,421 4,835,905
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non- UNTREBEEZMEMLRE D HIERBDEE (F
current assets excluding financial instruments and interests BESMIARBEARHEEHEEER) K

in associates/jointly controlled entities, analysed by the BEEZDH
geographical location of assets:

Non-current assets excluding
financial instruments
and interests in associates/
jointly controlled entities
FRBEE(TEESMIARKE

DNE SRR EEER)
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Hong Kong 55 157,331 134,810
Macau B P 70 219
The PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau & B (&8 K& B FIER 41 ) 6,959,593 6,783,477
7,116,994 6,918,506
Information about major customers FEEFZEH
Included in revenue arising from Paul Y. Engineering REZESBE DI E £ 43,614,000,000/8
Group segment of approximately HK$3,614 million (2009: 7t (2009 : 4,315,000,0008 7T) W= F - B 4
HK$4,315 million) is revenue of approximately HK$1,105 1,105,000,0007 7t (2009 : 790,000,000 7T) J3
million (2009: HK$790 million) which arose from revenue KEREEBATE IS o

from the Group's largest customer.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HftlgA
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
T# T FHAT
Recovery of withholding tax paid e [E] 2 AT 4% 8 B B 2 BN TR g R
in connection with a former investment 15,243 =
Income from short lease of stock properties 4 EHAEMEFE 2 A 14,881 -
Interest income T B U A 4,278 18,878
Imputed interest income on deferred BUWEERE 2 HEEF BRA
consideration receivable 51 154
Others HAh 2,849 =
Government grant BT fas - 13,605
37,302 32,637
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group received a NEERHZE2009F3A31B LEERBREBFERES
cash government grant of approximately HK$13,605,000 as #1864 A 4913,605,000/% 7T, - 1E /&N R B RF A BA
compensation for LPG sold by the Group at regulated prices SELBREESRICAMRZEE - WRZKFE
in that year. There were no unfulfilled conditions or other BT ARIER G LR A TIE - AEER
contingencies attached to the receipt of this government AN 4E E S 4 U B SR A Bl o
grant. No such grant was received for the current year.
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. Htthm=ERER
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Change in fair value of investments BIEEEREZ AT EEES
held for trading 14,123 (67,421)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —ERB ARz W 185 =
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary 4 — KB A &M 2 &R (5) =
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, HEME - R RS2 (BB) ke
plant and equipment (1,077) 382
Change in fair value of derivative TEEBMTEZATFEESE
financial instruments - 502
Impairment loss recognised B ER ZREEE
in respect of goodwill (2,692) =
Impairment loss on an —IEAMHHERE 2 REEE
available-for-sale investment (37,190) (19,508)
Impairment loss (recognised) e Us BR 3% 2 3Bl (B S 18 (FERR) @
recovered on receivables (11,687) 263
(38,343) (85,782)
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
10. OTHER EXPENSES 10. HfinE A
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FHAT
Acquisition-related costs HUTE AR Z AR 22,499 10,902
Expenses for recovery of withholding tax B EIRIIRE B 2 TBAEF 2
in connection with a former investment 55 3,850 10,506
Others Hib 3,186 1,202
29,535 22,610
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. MERK
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FHT
Borrowing costs on: BEKA
Bank borrowings wholly repayable BERAFRNEHEEZ
within five years RITIER 158,865 80,298
Bank borrowings not wholly repayable BERAFANZEHEE L
within five years RITIER 5,958 72,796
Amounts due to non-controlling interests /E'EAﬁiﬁﬁ%?M%“%%ZJ%H
wholly repayable within five years FEIE AR RS 2 K 2,707 5,141
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ,,\BAjiiWi\%(EEZJ%H
not wholly repayable within five years JEFE AR 2 2 3K 74 -
Effective interest on convertible notes wholly Z,ﬁ/;\ﬂiﬁqig(%fﬁz
repayable within five years AR & 2 A B8 9,121 8,517
Other borrowings wholly repayable BERAFRNEHEEL
within five years HifE R 15,093 12,623
191,818 179,375
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of B BEERAHNTIIR
contracts in progress BARZ 858 (848) (916)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIERRPIEREEARN 2 EE
project under development (88,130) (85,487)
Amount capitalised in respect of BAEVIZE - W MR A
property, plant and equipment BN B8 (9,760) -
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEMEGFEER 2 85
stock of properties (26,809) (15,542)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIERERYEER 2 85
properties under development - (518)
66,271 76,912
The capitalised borrowing costs represent the borrowing BABARZEERAEEENEESE BB ZEE
costs incurred by the entities on borrowings whose funds A MERNEBBRESIETRENER RYE -
were specifically invested in the project and properties during
the year.
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HZE2010F3A31ALFE
12. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 12. EEREEME
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE#M £
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven B R ERMNERQ009: ER)EEFE A ZH
(2009: seven) directors are as follows: E NN
Retirement
benefit
scheme
Salaries and contributions  Share-based
Fees other benefits RIKEH payment Total
e FMREMER FEMR URGIARE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of directors Espsg T T THT T T
2010
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom AeR 360 4,300 319 657 5,636
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles ok Bl o 320 - - - 320
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph AR 760 - - - 760
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest % 380 - - - 380
Chan Shu Kin B3 22 420 - - - 420
Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ~ ZE& 340 - - - 340
Li Chang An FER 300 - - - 300
2,880 4,300 319 657 8,156
2009
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom AeR 360 4,300 319 3,210 8,189
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles BB 58 320 - - - 320
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph R 760 - - - 760
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest % 380 - - - 380
Chan Shu Kin B 22 420 - - - 420
Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ~ 2 E& 340 - - - 340
Li Chang An FER 300 - - - 300
2,880 4,300 319 3,210 10,709
None of the directors has waived any emoluments N E (A2 EWMEEAENE (2000 : &) o

during the year (2009: Nil).
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BZE201063A31H EFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS — 12. EXEREEME &

continued
(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the
year included one director (2009: one director) of the
Company, details of whose emoluments are set out in
note 12(a) above.

The aggregate emoluments of the remaining four
(2009: four) highest paid individuals, who are
employees of the Group, are as follows:

(b) BEEM<=

AEERAFEINRSHFABRBRERAR
A REE(2009: —HEZE) HME&FE
oS R 12(a) BT -

EHRBAEEEES 2M% (2009 : UE) &=
FABZAMESWT

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

F# T FT

Salaries and other benefits e REMER] 7,263 9,700
Discretionary bonus B EAEAL 6,383 268
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iE (ki& #5242k 148 144
Share-based payment expense IR ZREZ &R 2,051 5,122
15,845 15,234

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEM BT :

Number of employees

EEAH

2010 2009

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t — 2,500,0007 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T — 3,000,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T — 3,500,0005 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,0017% 7T — 5,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,0017% 7T — 5,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7t — 6,500,000 7T 1 -
4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors, as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

FA AEEYERNAURSHAR (BREES)
XAMEAMERMAAREB RN MALEEFKZ
BEE NIERBEBME -
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EZ2010F3A31HILEE
13. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 13. BR¥EARF
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Profit before taxation has been arrived BB A2 0
at after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets (included T8 E
in distribution and selling expenses) (BIADERISEER) 2,302 1,569
Auditor’s remuneration 2% 2 Clil S 7,202 6,425
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense R AN H 7 FEH A 339,318 314,890
Cost of construction works recognised ERAZ L 2 BETRMA
as an expense 3,420,857 4,121,473
Depreciation of property, plant and M B R EREZITE
equipment (note (a) below) (FxXH i) 103,587 78,306
Operating lease rentals in respect of: EERNES
Premises B 24,206 32,070
Plant and machinery Herm N 28 22,713 2,093
Release of prepaid lease payments ARENRERE 2,960 2,386
Staff costs (note (b) below) BT (FXHaEDb) 179,333 182,579
and after crediting: WEEA :
Dividend income from investments BHEEBEREZREMA
held for trading 178 246
Rental income under operating leases KERH 2 HEWA -
in respect of:
Investment properties, BEWE BB ZH
net of outgoings of HK$1,600,000 1,600,000/ 7T
(2009: HK$735,000) (2009 : 735,0007% 7T.) 5,043 3,026
Total interest income (included in turnover wF| BULA (B A & x2m
and other income) HplgA) 34,989 52,015

150 Pl pyi Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report
L %



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBIRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

13. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION - continued 13. BRBUADGEF — 4

Notes: Miat -
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
(a) Depreciation of property, Wi - B REREZITE -
plant and equipment:
Amount provided for the year FEBER 108,625 82,824
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of contracts B BEERANTIREAR 8
in progress (1,658) (2,063)
Amount capitalised in respect of project BERRTIEE BN 2R
under development (973) (1,312)
Amount capitalised in respect of property, BEMZE B RREEARZEE
plant and equipment (86) -
Amount capitalised in respect of stock BUEMEFEEA 28
of properties (2,321) (552)
Amount capitalised in respect of properties BIERRPMEERN 2 BFE
under development - (591)
103,587 78,306
(b) Staff costs: BIXH:
Directors’ emoluments (note 72(a)) E=BS (Hat12() 8,156 10,709
Other staff costs: HEME T :
Salaries and other benefits SN & E At AR A 415,772 439,983
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, net of RONEFET EIHEER - BRI 3R
forfeited contributions of HK$79,000 79,0007 7T (2009 : 414,000/ 7T)
(2009: HK$414,000) 14,099 14,809
Share-based payment expense AR X kB2 B A 680 12,085
438,707 477,586
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of contracts W BEERANIRERZEE
in progress (247,376) (280,928)
Amount capitalised in respect of project BUERRPHEEEAZEHE
under development (1,302) (7,260)
Amount capitalised in respect of property, BEE WML REER ZHE
plant and equipment (4,255) -
Amount capitalised in respect of stock BUENEREER 2B
of properties (6,441) (5,664)
Amount capitalised in respect of properties BIERRPMEERN 2 BEE
under development - (1,155)
179,333 182,579
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
14. TAXATION 14. HIE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
The charge comprises: FIE % HBHE
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BEBMET
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR - 1,608
Taxation arising in jurisdictions BB LAINEDEERE S 2 IR ¢
outside Hong Kong:
Current year KEE 21,499 15,836
Overprovision in prior years BEFEREBRES (39,457) (319)
(17,958) 15,517
Deferred taxation (note 42) RIERIE (M 5E42)
LAT T H AT 112,711 190,639
Others Hib 71,011 120,020
183,722 310,659
Taxation attributable to the Company KABRENE ARG ELEIE
and its subsidiaries 165,764 327,784

BB EEMN200856A26H 1818 (20084 U A {5
BIEZ) - H Qa5 5 & H2008,72009 &F

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits

tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of
assessment 2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for
both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Detailed
Implementation Rules of the EIT Law, the standard tax

rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards. Production-oriented enterprise which was eligible
to an exemption from PRC income tax for the next two

years starting from their first profit-making year, followed

by a 50% relief in tax rate for the next three years would be
continue to enjoy such tax preferential policy until year 2012.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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BZE201063A31H EFE

14. TAXATION - continued 14.
According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT (P AR KB TS EHE T
14&1) effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT (P EE A R HAFE + I E T E 1T I150] E hE 4
Bl]) effective from 1 January 1994 as well, all income from
the sale or transfer of land use rights, buildings and their
attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value
as calculated according to the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT and its Detailed Implementation Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the overprovision in
respect of prior years represented the balance of overseas
income tax withheld in relation to disposal of a former
investment which was charged to profit or loss in prior years.
Clearance of tax liabilities arising from the disposal had been
received and the balance had been recovered subsequently.

BE-&

RIEHRI1994F1ATEBERBREB Z(RFEAREME L+
HIBEREITEG) - AREZEHA1994F1 818
Rz (hE AR EFE R ER TS E
MAD - FIBREHEREBETE I MFEAE 2
FRMERE 2 WA BIRIGEE (RE(PEA
RAFME L IRERE TR R EE AR E)
AE30% E60% 1% 2 2T EHS T IR ERN

ERREE2010F3A3BLEE 2 BEFERS
BE DREUNCFERLZE - HAIERENETE
M2 BINTERAS  ZBE R AT FE RE
BE HAZLENEECHEBEREESE I
P ERTE BBl A5 A RE o
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BZE201063A31H EFE

14. TAXATION - continued 14. BE-&

REFZBIAR HHE
ZHERWMT

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement
as follows:

#R & U g 3R P 51 BR 5 AT A

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FAT
Profit before taxation B 55 A v A 402,484 577,295
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%  1Z&BFEBI B X16.5%T & ~ B8 66,410 95,254
Tax effect of share of results of associates/  #(hHE& A 7R HHE
jointly controlled entities EECBGRE (8,718) (6,492)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ERETEATIRAS 2
for tax purpose ping oS =2 32,490 30,003
Tax effect of income not taxable ERE L EBARBRAZ
for tax purpose bk S (9,733) (7,417)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RMEBRR BB 2 HBTE 11,475 18,898
Tax effect of other deductible temporary REFER AR E R =52
difference not recognised HETE 170 303
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AL ABRZRBEEEZ
previously not recognised HEpe (10,950) (5,882)
Tax effect of utilisation of other deductible ) s ATk HER ZT%D?JEE%E%
temporary difference previously not ERIMBRE
recognised (202) (976)
Tax effect of different tax rates of B R AR EER 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBRAR 2 TRME 2 REE
jurisdictions 42,397 59,825
Effect of recognising LAT in respect RREMEQFEBEZEE
of the fair value changes in investment BRI ER S
properties 112,711 190,639
Effect of tax holiday granted BTPEBARREESR .
to a PRC subsidiary g (2,651) =
Tax effect of LAT THEER RS2 (28,178) (47,660)
(Over)underprovision in prior years WAFERE(RZ) TR (39,457) 1,289
Taxation charge for the year AFEEHIBERAS 165,764 327,784

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 42.
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
15. DISTRIBUTION 15.

16.

The final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of
0.85 HK cent was distributed in the form of warrants issued
on the basis of one warrant for every six existing shares

held by shareholders whose names appear on the register

of members of the Company on 18 September 2008. Each
warrant entitled the holder to subscribe for one new share
at an initial subscription price of HK$1.00 per share in cash,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments, at any time between the
date of issue of the warrants on 26 September 2008 and
the day immediately preceding the anniversary of the date
of issue on 25 September 2009, both days inclusive. The fair
value of each warrant issued was determined based on a
valuation as at the date of declaration of the dividend, which
was also the date of approval of the issue of the warrants on
5 September 2008, performed by RHL Appraisal Ltd. (“RHL"),
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The fair value of the warrants issued was
HK$12,833,000.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 16.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

b3

B Z2008F3A318 L FE 2 REMKRE L ER0.85
Bl R (FR2008F9A 188 £ 5 AR RIREH
Mzl BRHARBAEROITEE —HRRES
ZHRADR - B—HORBREFETHRBEAURGR
NERBESKRBEMD1.008 7T (] FREFAE)
PRI R RG o BIREE A R2008F9A26H &
THEEEETEFE B A1— BE2009F9A25H
(BEEEMAB) HHEERTUITE MSHEET
RBEBEZATFEEZRENERKREE B (A
2008FOACHLERREZRRITER ) BB LEE
REEEEMXFTTERRBRAE ([KFTT])
(BASEERE) BT ZHEEBE BEITRAR
2 A FEER12,833,0008 T ¢

BETEFREHZ2010F M2009F3A31H &
B2 RS -

BREARBERF
AR F B A A R R B B TY AR 48
THEE

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Earnings attributable to owners of the STEERERNREERF 2
Company for the purposes of basic and RABEE AFEREF
diluted earnings per share 149,298 138,794
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BZE201063A31H EFE

16. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE —

16. SREARBERR -8

continued
2010 2009
Number Number
of shares of shares
KRGEE aar 24z
Weighted average number of ordinary AETRE SR 2 LER
shares for the purpose of basic earnings keI &
per share 4,258,329,067 3,519,094,553
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BT B S T RAR 2 e
Share options BRI - 48,387
Weighted average number of ordinary SRESREERRN 2 BB
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings hnE 58
per share 4,258,329,067 3,519,142,940

The potential ordinary shares attributable to the convertible
notes and warrants have anti-dilutive effect for both years
whereas the potential ordinary shares attributable to the
share options have anti-dilutive effective for the year ended
31 March 2010.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for both
years have been adjusted for the bonus elements of the

rights issue of the Company completed in July 2009.

Details of the rights issue are set out in note 44(b).
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EZ2010F3A31HILEE
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BWEERE
Port LPG Furniture,
infrastructure  logistics and Motor fixtures and Ports
Plant and Pot  andrelated  distribution vehidles computer under
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment facilities facilies  andvessels equipment construction Total
BOEER  RICRARWR FE 2ER
Br  HHRRE BNk EERE  RABRE  REREE B ERRED fif
HK$000 HKS 1000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 1000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Th T Tt ThT Tt Tt ThT Tt Thn
(0sT s
At 1 April 2008 H008F4 718 102,729 64,504 = 149,721 455,659 63,254 87,94 - 923,791
Bxchange realignment LS 236 - - 33% 10333 934 L - 17266
Transfer from project under ~ E&EXEHER
development - - - 4045 - - - - 4045
Additons FE 1,065 18,945 - - 2506 6,20 8713 - 31519
Acquistion of assets through  EMBHEARNEEE
acquisiton of subsidiaries - - - - - B£| 163 - 494
Disposal ik B (26%) - - (128) 4783) (2.224) - (9,834)
At 31 March 2009 H009E3531R 106,117 80753 - 157,161 4683710 66,026 94914 - 973 341
Bxchange realignment B 466 3 4 2444 1,645 0 1 79 5,635
Transfer from project under ~ EREXEAER
development 2,367 - - 945484 - - - 54350 1,022,201
Additions ¥ 4,698 323 616 16 20,555 12489 4299 211,545 288 441
Transfers 1 66 - - 2471 - 4623 - (7,166) -
Acquistion of subsidiaries ~ WEKBAT an - 34886 4797 - 35,166 2362 71917 240,095
Disposal ik (655) (1495) (326) (99.228) B) 2.251) (1.243) - (105,201)
Disposal of asubsidary ~~ EHERA - - - = = = B) = B)
At 31 March 2010 AN1053A318 174,836 113,504 35,216 1,056,341 490,567 116,280 100390 37315 2424509
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 April 2008 R008F471A 6,776 45366 = K31 35934 3383 68,384 - 205,180
Bxchange realignment EfAE 154 - - 576 814 150 5 - 1,751
Provided for the year TERHRE 6,51 6,14 - 30591 5314 1208 6,924 - 8,824
Eliminated on disposal HEREHS (1) (2,689 - - ] [@om) (1572) - (8347)
At31 March 2009 R009E3A31H 13470 883 - 56,54 62,114 26,664 737193 - 281,408
Exchange realignment Eig% 62 4 3 8 m 57 U - 503
Provided for the year TERHR 1217 1588 1315 49458 25888 9,563 15% - 108,625
Fiminated on disposa ks - (1491) - (98,401) Q) (1,508) (837) = (102,239)
Eliminated on disposal HERBATR S
of asubsidiary - - - - - = ) = (M
At 31 March 2010 AN01053A318 20,749 54924 1318 7683 882N 34776 80,575 - 288,29
CARRYING VALUES Rk
At 31 March 2010 A01053A31A 154,087 58580 33,898 1,048,658 402,29 81,504 19,815 37315 2136213
At 31 March 2009 A00953A318 9,647 31930 = 100,617 406,256 39,362 JARVA - 691,933
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BZE2010F3A31H EFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued 17. ¥ -BHREZE B

The above items of property, plant and equipment are FilmE  BRMEREAESRERE  FXET
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum: BF A #A 70 & I e 18 B sk
ATF(ARESE
Buildings Over the remaining period )
of the relevant leases or WA R B8 10%
fifty years, whichever is 9 0203 6%
shorter BOEERAABRE 2% - 20%
Plant and machinery 10% BB RS R R 5% - 10%
Port equipment 6% S
Port;rfrgs:ruigre and 2% - 20% = e o LA 45% - 20%
related facilities
RARKE 8% - 20%
1ty 1 i i o/, _ o)
LPG qu!st|cs and distribution 5% - 10% S 20% - 33,%
facilities
Motor vehicles and vessels 4.5% - 20% . = _
Furniture and fixtures 8% —20% REBEBSNME -
Computer equipment 20% - 33"3%

The carrying amounts of buildings are analysed as follows:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Buildings erected on long-term leasehold FEREEE S MmREEST
land in the PRC 1,415 86
Buildings erected on medium-term P ETHHEE g T
leasehold land in the PRC 152,672 92,561
154,087 92,647
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BZE2010F3A31H EFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE
HK$'000
FET
FAIR VALUE AFEE

At 1 April 2008 7R2008F4H1H 1,230,351
Transferred from project under development ERARRETIER 118,998
Exchange realignment P& 5 A% 27,899

Increase in fair value recognised in the Rz & W as R RFER A FEEE
consolidated income statement 672,639
At 31 March 2009 200943 H31H 2,049,887
Acquisition of subsidiaries LK e B 8 2 A 17,675
Transferred from project under development WEEIEREAIER 105,086
Exchange realignment I s 7,923

Increase in fair value recognised in the RIS WERAERRFEEL N
consolidated income statement 397,309
At 31 March 2010 7M2010%3H31H 2,577,880

Certain investment properties are held for rental purposes
under operating leases.

During the year, the Group completed the reclamation of
certain sea area and obtained the certificate of completion
of land reclamation (the “Certificate”) in respect of

certain land area (the “Formed Land") in Jiangsu Province,
the PRC. Such Formed Land, the future use of which is
currently undetermined, has been recognised as investment
properties upon obtaining the Certificate. The relevant
costs, which include the cost of sea use rights, development
expenditure, borrowing costs capitalised and other directly

attributable expenses, amounting to HK$105,086,000 (2009:

HK$118,998,000), have been transferred from project under
development.

ETREVMEDUKLEEETASKIEFRERZ -

RAFEAN AEBTRRPRIHEE TERZ
HETR YHETEIREEKESL (B
TR 2EFE(ZEFE]) ZEFELHZ
ARABBRARE  THROEZEERHERER
FPEEREFOERRABREME - HEAKAK (B
FERERAERN ZEIH BREABEK
AN Efth B FEAE BN AN) € %8 /105,086,000 T
(2009:118,998,000/7T) - EE#RAIAH B -
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HZE2010F3A31HIEFE
18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31
March 2010 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out as at that date by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group. In determining the fair value of the investment
properties, the comparison method is adopted under which
comparison based on prices information of recent transacted
prices of comparable property is made. Comparable property
of similar size, character and location are analysed in order
to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values. The valuation
also takes into account the general price increment of the
industrial land during the year and the further increment
arising from the approval obtained from the respective
government authority during the current year for certain
portion of the Formed Land to be used for specified
purposes. The gain on fair value changes amounting to
HK$397,309,000 (2009: HK$672,639,000) had been
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
current year.

Deferred tax consequences in respect of the revalued
investment properties are assessed on the basis that reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects to recover the carrying amounts of
the property at the end of the reporting period. For Formed
Land held for undetermined future use located in the PRC,
management of the Company, for the purpose of deferred
tax calculation, has made a best estimate that half of the
Formed Land will be realised through sale in the long term.
The temporary difference of the relevant portion between
the tax base of the revalued investment properties and their
carrying amounts therefore would be subject to PRC LAT in
addition to enterprise income tax.

As at 31 March 2010, the balance of investment properties
included Formed Land of approximately HK$2,387,941,000
(2009: HK$1,893,424,000). The Group has to obtain certain
appropriate certificates for the disposal of the Formed Land.
The directors of the Company consider that there is no
material impediment to obtain the appropriate certificates for
the Group.
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18.

REBM2010F3A3MB 2 REMEZ A FEER
REAREAEEVREE B IAERTER
BRMEEFEBMERARETZMEE - RET
HREMEZATEER  KANUATELRMEZ
BRI RERERNBEEZLBE - HHE  HE
R BAEE 2 I AL BRMEETHN - AR ERE
BERAFLR WTETEEREIET MRS
Wz —REKERE  REETHOEFEIHRAE
FEARSSHERTERE 2/ EESEREM
BYE—SERERE  RFEEZB2RENR
397,309,000/ 7T (2009 : 672,639,000/ 7T) * &
RARFERZERE W RTER ©

AUAFHRATFEEFERENEZBETEHRASE
RZEE > IRBRASERHER TEFEHKD
ZMEREEZHAMELEZRIBAER - gt H
B -BAMRRRERRARZEFELIBME -
RETEIRERIR - ARRERECEH & EMET
BREF CYBLHFAE-—FBULETAE
B Rt REMERBRD ZAREEREERR
BEZHENERZEFTAIPE LB ETR MR X
PRS-

MR2010F3A31H KREMEZARBEELNE
2,387,941,00055 7t (2009 : 1,893,424,000/5 L) 2
ETFE+i - AEETRNEBZC TR MRS
EHBE - ARFAEZEERR  AEERIEGEHEE
ERIEE AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBIRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A31HIEFE

19. PROJECT UNDER DEVELOPMENT 19. BREFIEH
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Sea use rights e i {6 PR A2 1,312,786 1,418,712
Development costs R 548,953 2,275,581
1,861,739 3,694,293

20.

21.

The amount mainly relates to a development project located
in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Group is undergoing the
reclamation of certain area of the sea and the construction
of public facilities and ports. According to the sea area use
certificates, the sea use rights are granted for terms ranging
from 49 to 50 years commencing 2004.

BT BERURPETIHEZERBERHR A
SEILK/ETERETESRERAMARENLE
A REBAEAER BRZ2EZEAEZAX
HI B HW2004F R HA9F E50F 15 -

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. BEDYE

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

At beginning of the year, at cost REH] + R AN 134,562 172,031
Transfer to stock of properties EREYEFE (134,562) (111,871)
Expenditure incurred during the year  FRE4 2 i - 74,402
At end of the year, at cost RER - IR A - 134,562

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the development
reached a stage whereby the intended purpose of the
development can be determined and the directors of

the Company determined the purpose of a property
development project located in Jiangsu Province, the PRC,
as properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Accordingly, the carrying amount of HK$134,562,000
(2009: HK$111,871,000) had been reclassified as stock of
properties.

B ZE2010F3A31ALEE XA REEESR
ERZERBEEHTEABCBR HARAE
EATKRMRPEIHSE —EWEERIEEE
HEXEBBIERPZSFHEYE -BAIt REE
134,562,000/ 7t (2009 : 111,871,000/ L) BE &

STOCK OF PROPERTIES 21. MEEFE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Properties under development for sale BHRERBHFEYE 758,776 587,634
Properties held for sale BELEmE 1,095,036 181,051
1,853,812 768,685
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e MR MR
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31HILFE

21.

22.

STOCK OF PROPERTIES - continued 21.

During the year, the Group completed the reclamation of
certain sea area and obtained the Certificate in respect of
Formed Land. Those pieces of Formed Land are intended

to be held for sale in the ordinary course of business and
have been classified as stock of properties upon obtaining
the Certificate. The relevant costs, which include the cost of
sea use rights, development expenditure, borrowing costs
capitalised and other directly attributable costs, amounting
to approximately HK$879,987,000 (2009: HK$137,595,000),
have been transferred from project under development
during the year ended 31 March 2010.

At 31 March 2010, the balance of stock of properties
included Formed Land of approximately HK$1,018,052,000
(2009: HK$137,595,000). The Group has to obtain certain
appropriate certificates for the disposal of the Formed Land.
The directors of the Company consider that there is no
material impediment to obtain the appropriate certificates for
the Group.

At 31 March 2010, stock of properties includes an amount of
approximately HK$1,295,818,000 (2009: HK$494,012,000)
which is expected to be completed after more than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 22.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent land in the
PRC and Hong Kong held under medium-term and long
leases and are analysed for reporting purposes as follows:

RER - REBEZEKE TS Z2ESIR  UHE
FEIHMEBZEE ZZC TR N —REL
BERRELE  URDNGEZEEREIBEAME
FE AR A (BIEEEFERAERA #EXL
BREXRNBEXRAREMEZERIGERR) 2FBOR
879,987,000/% 7T (2009 : 137,595,000 7t) * E
REZE2010F3A31HLEFENERRFIER 8 -

MR2010F3A31H MEFEZERBEBENE
1,018,052,0007% 7T (2009 : 137,595,000 7T) Z
BEELH AEBFRNHEZCD TR HRRE
EHEE -AQREERAE  AEENDEEHE
ERF IS AR o

R2010F3A31H WEEFEFBEFEY
1,295,818,0007% 7t (2009 : 494,012,000/ 7T) -
TEEENRERTER T _EARANERET -

BEREERE
AEBZENEERBERRFEREBRIEF
HRERBHEESA 2L o MIERSHAEN
T

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Leasehold land in Hong Kong BEZHELH
Medium-term lease RHEE 21,411 21,986
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong BRAIME 2 HE T
Long lease REHE 12,058 -
Medium-term lease R HEAFE & 271,285 202,315
304,754 224,301
Analysed for reporting purposes as: KAOMERE B
Current assets mENEE 4,075 2,383
Non-current assets FRBEE 300,679 221,918
304,754 224,301
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BE2010F3A31HILFE

23. GOODWILL 23. BE
HK$'000
FHET
COST R
At 1 April 2008 R2008F4H1H 63,969
Arising on acquisition of additional interest HEN B A RSN EE (Fit47()

in a subsidiary (note 47(a)) 5
Adjustments to measurement of consideration FRBEFEFEWERB AR ZREELFHE

for acquisitions of subsidiaries in prior years (Kt3t47(c))

(note 47(c)) 369
At 31 March 2009 720093 H31H 64,343
Write-off upon deregistration of a subsidiary 19 — PRI BT /88 & ) o 11T e A 6 (5)
At 31 March 2010 20103 H31H 64,338
IMPAIRMENT AR
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 7200844 A 18 k200943 H31H =
Impairment loss recognised in the year RAREERRRERIR 2,692
At 31 March 2010 M201063A31H 2,692
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2010 #20106F3A31H 61,646
At 31 March 2009 200943 H31H 64,343

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2010 has been allocated to the Paul

Y. Engineering Group's cash generating unit (“CGU").

During the year, the Group recognised an impairment loss
of approximately HK$2,692,000 (2009: Nil) in relation to

goodwill arising on acquisition of certain subsidiaries in

B ERRMS mER2010F3A831BHZ2E@E
THBAREREEE ZAIREN -

FR ERNETREVEZREEZRERESE

2,692,000/ 7T (2009 : &) -

view of the continuous operating losses incurred by those

subsidiaries engaged in property development management

of Paul Y. Engineering Group.

MEBARKERSLEEHE AREEIHNK
BuEMBRARMELZBHEEBZAEERS

ZAIREMZ JREIE IR EREEFETEM

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculations. The Group prepares
cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial

BE - AEERBEIEREMILERRME Z ST
HHBEERYLESREN  UHEARRAFZR
MBI R E5% (2009 : 5% ) BT K - 788
WERZIFEERAE9.0% (2009 :9.4%) - EAEE
HEREAZEKBERBEENE - NAZAIREMNR

budgets approved by management for the next two years

and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years with
a steady growth rate of 5% (2009: 5%). The rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows is 9.0% (2009: 9.4%). The
value in use calculations is calculated based on the budgeted

gross margin, which is determined using the unit's past

performance and management’s expectations for the market

development.

ARANEEEETHERZAHAMETE -
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HZE2010F3A31HIEFE

24. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

24, HtWEFEE

Motor
vehicles Club  Premium on
registration  membership |easehold Rights of Customer Know- Rent-free
marks in Hong Kong [and operation base how benefits Total
RERZ
RERREE efeE HEIHIEE GegE EFEH RiTAR ot bl @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Thn Thn Thn Titn Th TAL
(Note i) (NotediZa)  (NotediZb)  (NotediZ)  (NoteFd)  (NotediZe)  (Notefif)
cost A
At 1 Apri 2008 H2008E4A 18 858 7,062 10,364 40423 2,281 2,366 - 63,360
Additions RE 600 - - - - - - 600
Disposal e (75) - - - - - = (75)
Exchange realignment  [E i 3% - - 235 917 52 54 - 1,258
At31March 2009 7200935317 1,383 7,062 10,599 41,340 2339 2420 - 65,143
Additions RE 10 - - - - - - 10
Acquisition of WEHBAR
subsidiaries - - 100,404 - - - 18,820 119,224
Exchange realignment  [E 3 8% - - 150 141 8 8 43 350
At31March 2010 #2010%38318 1393 7,062 111,153 41481 2,347 2428 18,863 184,727
AMORTISATION B
At 1 Apri 2008 H2008E4A 18 - - 383 1212 343 20 - 1,958
Provided for the year K& 342 - - 267 827 234 241 - 1,569
Exchange realignment [ 3 5% - - 9 28 8 1 - 46
At31March 2009 7200938317 - - 659 2,067 585 262 - 3,573
Provided for the year A% g2 - - 997 828 234 13 - 2302
Exchange realignment  [E 3 35 = - 3 8 3 1 - 15
At31March 2010 #2010E35318 = - 1,659 2,903 822 506 - 5,890
CARRYING VALUES  R@EfE
At31March 2010 010834318 1,393 7,062 109,494 38,578 1,525 1,922 18,863 178,837
At31March 2009 #2009£35317 1,383 7,062 9,940 39,273 1,754 2,158 - 61,570
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BZE2010F3A31H EFE

24. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS - continued

Notes:

(a) The assets have indefinite useful lives. The directors are of the opinion that
the club membership and motor vehicles registration marks are worth at
least their carrying values.

(b) The amount represents the premium on leasehold land in Wuhan and
Yichang, the PRC, upon acquisition by the Group through the acquisition
of the relevant business and the amount is to be amortised on the same
basis as the related prepaid lease payments over 33 to 70 years. The fair
value of the leasehold land of Yichang on acquisition date is determined
by the comparison method which is based on prices information of recent
transaction price of comparable property of similar size, character and
location.

(o] Rights of operation represent the fair value of rights to operate LPG
business in Wuhan, the PRC. The rights of operation are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the operation licence period of 50 years.

(d) Customer base represents the fair value of customers relationship acquired
for LPG business through acquisition of business. The amortisation is
provided on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

(e) Know-how represents fair value of technology know-how for motor
vehicles to use LPG as fuel. The amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over 10 years.

) Rental-free benefits represent the fair value of the benefits in relation to
certain land and property, plant and equipment used rent-free by Yichang
Port Group Limited (“Yichang Port Group”). The amortisation is provided
on a straight-line basis over the rent-free period of three years. The rate of
the remaining lease term of 17 years is subject to negotiation.

25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

NTS

24, HittBEEE &
Bt :

(@) ZEEEREETRAUCAFH EXERREMEER
AEBLRBEEZENSHREZVASENEREE -

(b) ZEBEARAEBEERBEAEGTRABUARBER
EMREEM2MELMEE  DiREMAEEGA
EREMRRZEENIBEI0FNEE HEEMHELI
REBRHZATEEDULEEET  BAK/N -
BURMNEBEZREMEZ AR BEZERER
BEE-

(0 KEERRETENZETLERCABRAELZET
ZRFEE - RERTVABREELLIS0FNEE -

(d EPARKREBRBEVAKEA LA EREDRS
PRARZAFEE  DUESEEI10FNEHE -

(e) HMABRERUBRECEBR/BHZ TERMAREZ
RNFEE - HABREEI10FREE -

) SENERXEETHEHEABEEEREFARAAUER
EABERDRBEBz L RME BWERES
BeMmzRTEE DANEREE=FLHEIRNE
e EM7EEBAZHSWFE -

25. BEE QTR

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT

Cost of unlisted investments in associates, TEIFEMEERR 2K
less impairment (note) BRI B (K7 a2) 526,416 494,343

Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves, {4 U & 14 % K| & 44 -

net of dividends received kB WA B 370,359 305,336
896,775 799,679

Note: Mt -

In June 2009, the Group acquired 25% equity interest in Jiangyin Sunan
International Container Terminal Co., Ltd. (“Jiangyin Sunan”) at a consideration
of RMB27,650,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,390,000). Jiangyin Sunan
is a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise registered in the PRC and operates the
container terminal in Jiangyin Port, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

Apart from the investment in Jiangyin Sunan, as at 31 March 2010, the unlisted
investments mainly represent the Group’s 45% equity interest in Nantong Port
Group Limited (“Nantong Port Group”), which is a sino-foreign joint venture
enterprise registered in the PRC. Nantong Port Group is principally engaged in
providing cargo loading and off loading, storage, shipping agent, cargo agent,
ship anchoring, ship repairing, port machinery, shipping logistics and ship piloting
services in Nantong Port, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

20094568 - AEE L AR %27,650,0007T (448 & %
31,390,000/ 70) REWE I HHEBEKR S EAHBEGR A A
(IRe#ml) 25%KE - Tekmmb —MRPREFMRLZ
FONREBELE RPEIHE IRBEEEEHENE-

BT EHE 2IREI  M2010F3A310  ELHIRETE
AAEEREBENEEERAR((MRBEOEE]) 245%
B o-EmBEOSEEA—RRPBEFMZFIEELE-B
BEASEFZRFEIHLABENERESEY  #
7 HERE BEEEXK BSOMMRE - mMmE  S5#%
WisHE - A ERT - SIME X -
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES - continued

The financial year end date of Nantong Port Group and
Jiangyin Sunan is 31 December and their latest financial
information that is available to the Group is in respect of
their financial year ended 31 December 2009. Accordingly,
the Group's share of results and interests in these principal
associates at 31 March 2010 and 2009 are determined based
on the net assets of the associates for the year ended and as
at 31 December 2009 and 2008 respectively. No significant
transaction or event is noted between the year end dates of
the associates and of the Group.

Summarised financial information in respect of those
principal associates is set out below:

25.

B T ER B
ERADEERIRHBE VM BREEAEHEB R12
A318  AEEAFz&F MK ERRBEZE2009
F1I2ANBILEHBEE - Bt - A& ER20105F
K2009F3A3 N B#MZEERERRIZER YD
Bl 4% % B & A B 720094 22008512 A31H 2 &
EFEAE ERMERRZFRHBERAEEZF
FAMBTESEEIMNEARSHEE -

]

TR

ARSI RBENFZHAMBEERDT

h=1103

Year ended Year ended
31.12.2009 31.12.2008
#Z2009F E 220084
12A31H 12H31H
LLFE IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial position: BRSO
Total assets BAE 3,589,654 3,242,005
Total liabilities FEN=R (1,608,429) (1,534,108)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R (438) (372)
1,980,787 1,707,525
Group's share of net assets NEBE GBS DR EESRE
of associates 865,982 768,386
Post-acquisition results: W iE 1 5548
Turnover EER 838,465 779,187
Profit for the year F N T 136,155 85,078
Other comprehensive income H fth 2 Wz 5,695 35,453
Group's share of profit and other NEEBE GRS N T 2 E BN
comprehensive income of Ko EL At 2 T W s
associates for the year 61,776 54,239
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES - continued 25. BENRIERE B
The combined summarised financial information in respect of EFRAEBEEMBE RN ZA BB E B0
the Group’s other associates is set out below: T
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Financial position: BARSAROR -
Total assets BEE 131,278 164,852
Total liabilities REE (119,498) (147,853)
Non-controlling interests JEFERR REZS - =
11,780 16,999
Group's share of net assets of AEBEEHENRZEETRE
associates 30,793 31,293
Post-acquisition results: WeiE 1 2548
Turnover LR 889 497,973
Loss for the year FREIE (5.577) (9,149)
Other comprehensive income Hoth 2 T W as 28 836
Group's share of post-acquisition AEBBEHEARWEBERFE
results and other comprehensive ¥ERE2EMkE
income of associates for the year (1,184) 704

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of one of the associates. The accumulated recognised share
of losses and the amount of loss for the year attributable to

the Group (based on unaudited management accounts) are

as follows:

AEBRKILERBE-FIBERARZEE - RFfE
BAEGHBEINFALNEEREBEESB(HER

REZEERB)MT

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHTT
Unrecognised share of losses of the RERZ BEME AR 2 FREER
associate for the year (1,178) (1,673)
Accumulated unrecognised share of RERE (G E AR 2 BT E1E
losses of the associate (53,483) (52,305)

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31 March

2010 and 2009 are set out in note 57(b).

AEEZETEHZ QA R201045 200963 A31H

2 BEIIR K EES7(b) °
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HZE2010F3A3MBILFE
26. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 26. HEEHHERER
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FHT
Cost of unlisted investments in jointly RERIEH B IE FTRER AN
controlled entities - -
Share of post-acquisition results and other BOWEE 2 EEREERE
comprehensive income, net of dividends B WA 8
received - 2,730
Share of additional losses of a jointly B —RERIE S 2 BINE R
controlled entity (Note) (Htet) (3.427) -
(3,427) 2,730
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RREMS DN E :
Non-current assets ERBEE - 2,730
Current liabilities (included in trade and =EAG (G AB S R EMmER
other creditors and accrued expenses) R BRI ) (3.427) -
(3,427) 2,730
Note: An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised WiF: BRAEBEARBEAGECERE B Z LR IEHIKE
because the Group has to share the losses incurred by that jointly controlled 2B MABIINENEERITERAE -

entity pursuant to the joint venture agreement.
_ . _ o o EHRASEARZERNEKEZSHBE2VBERHR
The combined summarised financial information in respect of BT
the Group’s jointly controlled entities is set out below:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Current assets REEE 5,850 10,843
Current liabilities TENAE (12,704) (5,383)
Net (liabilities) assets (BEFH) EEFE (6,854) 5,460
Group's share of net (liabilities) assets of 7N £2 [ 81 2k R4 ) R
jointly controlled entities (AEFE) EEFE (3.427) 2,730
Turnover EERE - -
(Loss) profit for the year FE(EE) &M (10,482) 1,486
Group's share of (loss) profit of jointly 7 = [ 1 £ [E 4 I R
controlled entities (E18) & F (5.241) 743
Particulars of the Group's principal jointly controlled entity at AN B EHRESEER20109F 2200943 A31
31 March 2010 and 2009 are set out in note 57(c). H 2 #F1B&R IR EE57(0) ©
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
27. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 27. AIHERE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Listed equity securities FTRAE S
in Hong Kong BB 437 341
in overseas SEHN 84 —
521 341
Unlisted equity securities FE ETRANFE 75
in Hong Kong BH 541 463
in overseas N 284 37,127
825 37,590
1,346 37,931
Represented by: (A
Non-current JEm B 1,262 804
Current mE 84 37,127
1,346 37,931
Market value of listed securities EESTE 521 341
The investments in overseas unlisted equity securities as G ONIE FTAR A SR 4 720094 2201038310 2
at 31 March 2009 and 2010 were measured at cost less REUMERTER 2KARRBESNE - DEAR
impairment at the end of the reporting period because the FEEZAEBGHESEAKR KARaEERAE
range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that TEAEESE o HHEIE F TR A EER2009%F &
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that their 20106F3A31B ZIREN AT EEF=Z -
fair values cannot be measured reliably. The investments in
Hong Kong unlisted equity securities as at 31 March 2009 ER—TEEINE TS E TR A EE G B 25
and 2010 were measured at fair value. S AEERAYEREEEREREY EE .
if i 1 &5 ¥ 937,190,000 7T (2009 : 19,508,000
The Group considers the suspension of business plan of an D) DA IS R - LR B LR A o

overseas unlisted investee during the year as an indication of
impairment for that investment. As such, an impairment loss
of approximately HK$37,190,000 (2009: HK$19,508,000) is

recognised in the consolidated income statement to write off
the cost fully.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE

28. BEBWER

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
The amounts, net of allowance, bear BRARIE (NG EE) BRI
interest at the following rates: TS
10.32% per annum (note a) FERZEI10.321F (Htita) 86,159 187,281
2% over Hong Kong Best Lending Rate RETHREREENEME
(“HKBLR") (note a) (Ktita) 68,468 102,261
2% per annum (note b) FFIR2E (Hfatb) 35,003 33,569
10% per annum FHE10E 32,500 =
HKBLR BT EREERE R X 30,000 30,000
10% per annum (note a) FH K102 (ffita) 15,000 -
Total amount FRIEHREE 267,130 353,111
Less: Amount due within one year shown B R —FE AR AR E
under current assets BEZHE (232,127) (319,542)
Amount due after one year —F BB E Y FOR 35,003 33,569
Analysed as: DA
Unsecured g 267,130 353,111

Included in the carrying amount of loans receivable as

MR2010F3A31HZEKEREREESASE

at 31 March 2010 was accumulated impairment loss of
HK$19,886,000 (2009: HK$19,886,000) in respect of the
balance, which was past due at the end of the reporting
period and the relevant debtors were in financial difficulties.
Other than the above, no significant loans receivable balance
has been past due at the end of the reporting period for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. No
provision for impairment loss for the balance not yet past due
at the end of the reporting period was considered necessary,
since there has been no past default history in respect of
those receivables.

Notes:

(a) The amounts are due from related companies, which are associates of ITC
Corporation Limited (“ITC"). The substantial shareholder of the Company is
ITC. Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (“Dr Chan") is, in turn, the substantial
shareholder and director of ITC and the Company. He has significant
influence over these related parties.

The amounts of unsecured loans receivable of HK$68,468,000 (2009:
HK$102,261,000), HK$15,000,000 (2009: Nil) and HK$86,159,000 (2009:
HK$187,281,000) bear variable interest rate at 2% over HKBLR (i.e. 7%)
(2009: 2% over HKBLR (i.e. 7% to 7.25%)), and at a fixed rate of 10%
(2009: Nil) and 10.32% (2009: 10.32%) per annum, respectively.

170 FYI:) PY| Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report

RSN AR AR 2 RERRE
19,886,000/ 7t (2009 : 19,886,000/ 7t) + M 48
MEKAERTBEEE - B LRI RS H
T A5 B N0 B O 3B HA T AR 58 8] 3 R HORU(E B 1B B
BZERERER - ANZFREFALETR A
B R BERTERRBMZABREFTHELRE
IR -

Hrat -

(@) ZRAHEMAEATAH AREECEXEEARAA
(MMEHEXDZBERA - ARAIZEERR BB
¥ -REBEL(REL) REELEZTIERR
RARBZESR - BN AEWETEBRTES -

5 B8 7K 8 A K 18 e R S 5768,468,000/% 7T (2009 ¢
102,261,000/ 7£) * 15,000,000 jt (2009 : &) &
86,159,000/ 7T (2009 : 187,281,000/ 7t) 8% Bl JA
B EEREEREME (A7) (2009 : BTk
EEEEMEME (B7EZE7.25E)) - FF E10E
(2009 : =) REF=E10.32/2 (2009 : 10.32/2) ZEE
MEEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A831HILFE
28. LOANS RECEIVABLE - continued 28.

Notes: — continued

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group subscribed for
convertible bond with an aggregate face value of HK$36,858,000 issued
by a related company, Hanny Holdings Limited, in which the substantial
shareholder of the Company has significant influence. The coupon interest
of the convertible bond is 2% per annum with maturity in June 2011.

The amount recognised in loans receivable represents the debt element of

EWER &

Mt -

(b)

-8

RE E2007F3A318 L FE
TERFREAFEAFEHIZ2AERARRASTEARR
AIFTE 1T - 4ABR T (B36,858,000/8 jr 2 Al A j% (& % ©
AHMREFCREEERFNEE - WRN2011F6A
N -RERKEZANERZEBRRAARES 2 E
BED RO EREFAERFEFR6A4TEETFE - 7]

CAEEREAARE

the convertible bond and is determined using an effective interest rate of WMREEF S HRED FTEATASBR T A HEA
6.47% per annum at initial recognition. The embedded conversion option B WRAEAMBRAKRAUAFEEBMES EE B %5 32
of the convertible bond is separately accounted for as derivative financial R ER2010F3A3MAZ AFEBEMTRE
instrument and stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
fair value. The fair value of the embedded conversion option as at 31 March
2010 is insignificant.
29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES 29. EWHERTNRE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Unsecured other receivables, interest-free Hip ikl =Rig - 8 26,133 57,583
The balance is repayable on demand except an amount of ZERARERREE HEFBESIELELD

approximately HK$25,550,000 (2009: HK$56,451,000) has
credit period of 90 days, is trade in nature and past due but
not impaired. The aged analysis presented based on the

invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

25,550,000/%75 (2009 : 56,451,000 T) 25 &
#5908 - B BHERME - MR REHIRIAZ
ZHHENEERERSTAOT

2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TR
More than 90 days and within 180 days #3890 WM 180 A - 2,240
More than 180 days HBiE180H 25,550 54,211
Total HBET 25,550 56,451
30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING 30. PEUNEIE R RE R EE
INTERESTS FHEL RN %8 RANERIEE -
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A31HILFE
31. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR 31 EW(ER BEFEHNIRENE
CONTRACT WORKS
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Contracts in progress at the end RRERTRERZERAHNTRE
of the reporting period:
Contract costs incurred to date HEESXHZAEHNTIRER 41,791,969 43,939,205
Recognised profits less recognised losses SERE R ) Rk A T R S 18 1,320,649 1,421,911
43,112,618 45,361,116
Less: Progress billings B EE R (43,871,637)  (45,901,438)
(759,019) (540,322)
Represented by: KA :
Amounts due from customers for contract EREFAEHTIENRIE
works 203,794 196,776
Amounts due to customers for contract A=A g o
works (962,813) (737,098)
(759,019) (540,322)

32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

3. EFREMEBUWERNR FTERAMNRE

PREPAYMENTS
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FBT
Trade debtors (note a) P& W AR AR (Mt ita) 809,748 549,050
Retentions held by customers for ERNIREFPFEZRES (HiFD)

contract works (note b) 430,673 421,223
Interest-bearing advance (note ¢) sTRER (M) 242,579 241,756
Other receivable (note d) H b e W SR IE (AT aEd) 136,519 136,054
Consideration receivable in connection BRI A A EAE

with a former investment 11,437 118,231
Amounts due from related companies FE UL B R R SR IE (i 7te)

(note e) 10,115 30,161
Deferred consideration receivables (note f) FEUGE SR AB (H72f) 7,000 10,949
Others EHith 891,029 693,960
Total amount I LA RE 2,539,100 2,201,384
Less: Amount due within one year shown B N —ERBN N AREEE

under current assets ZERIA (2,409,614) (2,201,384)
Amount due after one year —FRE B2 A 129,486 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE UMK
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS - continued
The balance of trade and other debtors, deposits and
prepayments is net of allowance for doubtful debts and the
movements of allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

32. EZREMEBERERER FTERAARE-

=
B

5 REMEWRIRK

Al RN RS R TR

REERE MEFWT

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FBT

Balance at beginning of the year FY 35,645 35,632
Impairment losses recognised on receivables 3t & U B 2% e 32 (B &5 18 - 745
Amounts written off as uncollectible B i A ] 7 8 2 K08 (718) (745)
Provided for during the year FARE 2 RE 12,087 -
Exchange realignment PE 5 A 2 13
Balance at end of the year FARER 47,016 35,645

Included in the carrying amount of above receivable as

at 31

March 2010 was accumulated impairment loss of

HK$47,016,000 (2009: HK$35,645,000) in respect of the
balance, which was past due at the end of the reporting
period and the relevant debtors were in financial difficulties.

Notes:

(@)

The Group's credit terms for the Paul Y. Engineering Group segment are
negotiated at terms determined and agreed with its customers. Credit
terms for ports development segment and ports and logistics segment

are negotiated at specific terms with customers or in connection with the
completion of underlying construction work. Rental income for property
business is receivable according to the agreements and the credit terms
granted by the Group to other debtors normally range from 30 days to 90
days.

20103 A431H « Fat EURIBRRE E 2 51 AR
WEMTAERBE 25 R EKE47,016,000% 7T
(2009 : 35,645,000/ 7T) - A8 B (& % A M E& B
e R £ o

Hrat

(a)

AEBZREZESES I EEHNEZTPERR
REM L BORRSH BORDMRIBELZ
EEMDRESRARKREE  EBRERIR
ZEIBERNAB -MEXB2ESBAERBEZR
FWF MAEEREMERERREZEESR K
30 Z90H %

HoRAEMBERESR T2 RBEMFECH AL
809,748,0005% 7T (2009 : 549,050,000/ 7T) 2 & 5 &

KRR - REBWERZSERFAEAERD - U
Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments are trade BDEOQHARLE . MK REREE  ENE R
debtors of approximately HK$809,748,000 (2009: HK$549,050,000). The B BEEB AT :
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Their aged analysis
net of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 584,261 366,972
More than 90 days and within 180 days AR ER180H A 68,901 32,812
More than 180 days HiE180H 156,586 149,266
809,748 549,050

Balance of HK$45,029,000 (2009: HK$12,110,000) included in the trade
debtor balance represented amounts due from related companies. Details
of the relationship are disclosed in note 28(a).

AEBZ2E9RBEREHFTRERRBERNRZ
45,029,000/ 7T (2009 : 12,110,000/8 7T) @ BEFIE R T
28(a)if & ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE UMK
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS - continued

Notes: — continued

(a)

— continued

As at 31 March 2010, included in the Group’s trade debtor balances are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$106,694,000 (2009:
HK$41,931,000) which were past due at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.

Ageing of trade debtors which are past due but not impaired

iz

=

Hrat

(a)

32. EZREMEBRERER FTERBAMIRE-
—&
—&

201063 A31H » AEE 2 B 5 EMEFRF BER K
CHEARCIBMASEY BELREBEREEZ
# B8R T {E106,694,0007% 7T (2009 : 41,931,000 L) °

EEHMERTHEZE S ERRK KR

2010 2009

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Within 90 days 90H 23,687 150
More than 90 days and within 180 days HBAI0OR W R 180H A 42,741 6,051
More than 180 days HiB180H 40,266 35,730
106,694 41,931

The directors of the Company consider that there has not been a significant
change in credit quality of the trade debtors and there is no recent history
of default, therefore the amounts are considered recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 March 2010, an amount of approximately HK$191,459,000 (2009:
HK$162,844,000) is expected to be recovered or settled in more than
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments is an
amount of approximately HK$242,579,000 (2009: HK$241,756,000)
which mainly represents advances (together with interest thereon) in the
PRC made to an independent third party in previous years for financing

a property development project in Beijing, the PRC. The amount has

no fixed repayment terms and the principal amount of approximately
HK$170,442,000 (2009: HK$169,863,000) carries floating-rate interest at
the benchmark lending interest rate as announced by the People’s Bank
of China (“PBC") plus 8% per annum and is secured by certain underlying
properties of the above project.

Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments is also an
amount of approximately HK$16,394,000 (2009: HK$16,394,000) which
represents an advance (together with interest thereon) made to a related
company of the independent third party in Hong Kong in previous years.
The principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (2009: HK$10,000,000) carries
interest at the best lending rate plus 8% per annum and was due on 25
February 2006. A subsidiary of the Company has taken legal action in Hong
Kong to recover the amount. However, under same legal proceedings, a
third party claim for damages in a total sum of RMB402 million for breach
of an alleged oral master agreement has been lodged against the Group.
Taken into consideration of a legal opinion, the Company is of the view
that the third party claim is groundless and that it would not lead to any
adverse material impact on the financial position of the Group.
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ARFEERR REBIRUERZGEEERTE
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2010638318 - #9191,459,00058 7T (2009 :
162,844,000/ 70) MM iGN &M ek e+ @A &
BIBRAEE

BoREMERER FTeRENMREARE—£4A
2 #9242,579,0007% 7T (2009 : 241,756,000 JT) &
B XERRAFEFER —BURREILRTZY
E¥URBEEEEAMA—BILE-HIFEL 2R CGEFR
B) o BRIEI EmEF R K - ANEE£9170,442,000
770 (2009 : 169,863,000/ 1) LA /Z B FI R B AR
RIT (TAFT]) L 2 EERRFIE 8E 2 F M K5
B WA EMIBEANE THBYEEER -

BHREMERER FTEREMRBRTRE—2
A ##716,394,000/ 7T (2009 : 16,394,000/ 7T) &
B REEFEEBA—BUBE=ZHFZBEARES
ZEGR (ER B) o A% 5 4910,000,0005% 7T (2009 :
10,000,000/ 7T) LA i B & & & F| L N8E 2 & F| L&t
B WHA2006562H258 2|8 - A A B Z @A A E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE UMK
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS - continued

Notes: — continued

33.

()

— continued

The Group is in the course of negotiation with an asset management
company in the PRC, which has certain interests in the above property
project, for the purpose of realising the collaterals held for full recovery

of the amount. On the basis that the underlying value of the collaterals
held is higher than the advances and accrued interest (as estimated by the
directors of the Company with reference to a valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer), the directors are of the view that the
amount will be recovered in full and as such no impairment loss on this
has been recognised. The estimated portion of the loan which is expected
to be recovered after twelve months from the end of the reporting period,
amounting to approximately HK$129,486,000, has been classified as non-
current asset.

The amount represented receivable from a third party, which is also the
convertible notes holder of the Company. The amount is non-interest
bearing. In the prior year, the convertible notes holder had engaged the
Company as an agent to look for any potential buyer to purchase the
convertible notes of the Company from the convertible notes holder at

a price not lower than RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$136,519,000). The receivable is secured by the convertible notes of the
Company. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the convertible
notes were redeemed and offset against this receivable.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments is another
amount of approximately HK$7,000,000 (2009: HK$10,949,000) which
represents a deferred consideration receivable from a third party in relation
to disposal of two subsidiaries, namely Unicon Concrete Products (HK)
Limited and Hamker Concrete Products Limited, during the year ended

31 March 2006. The consideration for the disposal was HK$19,000,000
which will be settled in cash by the purchaser on or before October
2009, of which HK$15,000,000, representing a deferred consideration,

is to be settled in cash by the purchaser under four annual installments
commencing from 30 October 2006. The fair value of the deferred
consideration at date of initial recognition is determined based on the
estimated future cash flows discounted at 3% per annum. The amount is
unsecured and interest-free.

The amount of deferred consideration receivable which is past due but
not impaired is approximately HK$7,000,000 (2009: HK$8,000,000) as at
31 March 2010. The directors of the Company consider the amounts will
be recoverable because the purchaser is of good financial position and
repayments have been made during the current year.

INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

32. EZREMEBRERER FTERBAMIRE-

Kist : —1B
© &

AEBETER EANERETEEE THEE 2 —HT
BEEEERARETHN  UHMHAcREERR
BEARBREFIE - R A% SRR R ZEH
BESRBFAREAFNEZEE(RARAEELE
—BUEXEEMPTERER G EFERAZN
AT 2R H I B R ORE S R o TR
HR|E AR+ @A RKE 2/ Ea D &5
#)73129,486,000/8 7T * I BIFRBEE -

(d) WEEDN-—EBRE-ZFZAEB ZE=ZFNHAARRAF
AHEBREBRIFEEA - RBLTFE -REBAEE
ZUERZEREAEEARAAREA A&
BREBEHAAVECTAELEES  UTERARYE
120,000,000 (# & 1A #9136,519,000/ 7T) 2 E1%
BEARNBZAIBKRER - ZERKBBUARNRAE ZH]
BREBERER KBS HTEE TRREEE T
FEE - 3 £ % e MR B IR 8 o

(e)  FZFATVEER RERAREREE -

() ZHREMEKRER e RENFKBEAXBE—F
A #7,000,000/% 7T (2009 : 10,949,000/ 7T ) 1B
TR EH E2006F3A3THIEFELEMRHT B A A
(DRlzAEIRRELTEM (BB ARAAREME
BIZRERAR)EA—F=HRBZETKE - H
& =187 K8 A19,000,000/8 T * # B B 77 120094
10 ATAIR £ 458 » H 15,000,000 7T (R R IEL A
8) BH2006F10A30A RO (BF—H) HEH
NREHEE BEERERVAERRZAFEET
B ARRRERILTFIRMARETE - X B HEE
AREE -

2010%3A318 2 B @ B8 M K R E 2 FEUE TR
€ € 58 47 47,000,000/ 7T (2009 : 8,000,000/ jT) ©
HREFUBRRET  RARREZRALZSED
e BERAFERNGEE -

33. BEBEERE

2009
HK$'000
TAT

2010
HK$'000
FTERT

Listed equity securities, at quoted bid price

ETERAFES - REARE

in Hong Kong E5 35,510 13,188
in overseas BN 8,541 -
44,051 13,188
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A31HIEFE
34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34,

35.

The amount as at 31 March 2009 mainly represented

the fair value of an equity call option. In May 2007, the
Group entered into a joint development agreement (the
“Agreement”) with an independent third party (the “joint
development partner”) for a property development project in
Shanghai (the “Property Interests”). Under the Agreement,
the joint development partner granted an unlisted equity call
option to the Group at a consideration of RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,377,000). The

Group had a right to acquire the Property Interests at a
consideration of approximately RMB254,204,000 plus all
development costs expended onto the Property Interests at
any time from the date of the Agreement to the expiry of

10 working days upon issuance of report certifying 25%
completion of the development of the Property Interests. The
joint development partner had a right to cancel the option by
giving RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,753,000) to the
Group at anytime. The equity call option was measured at

fair value at the end of the reporting period, determined with 35.

reference to a valuation performed by an independent valuer.
During the year, the Agreement was terminated and the
consideration for the equity call option paid was refunded to
the Group subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, SHORT TERM BANK
DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to

banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group. Deposits amounting to HK$33,582,000 (2009:
HK$183,439,000) have been pledged to secure general
banking facilities with maturity within one year from the end
of the reporting period and are therefore classified as current
assets.

The pledged bank deposits and short term bank deposits
with maturity date of less than three months carry fixed
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 1.98% (2009: 0.01%
to 1.98%) per annum. The bank balances carry prevailing
market interest rates ranging from nil to 1.35% (2009: nil to
1.17%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMETE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H LFE

36. TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS AND ACCRUED 36.

EZREMEMNRRRETMAX

EXPENSES B5REMEMNERREHBLNBEBTLEH
The following is an analysis of trade and other creditors and ZAMET
accrued expenses at the end of the reporting period:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade creditors aged: B 5 FET BRI BRER -
Within 90 days 90H A 350,107 289,929
More than 90 days and within 180 days HBE0H1BAM180H N 7,384 10,588
More than 180 days HBiE180H 32,682 12,277
390,173 312,794
Accrual of withholding tax on dividend TR B A KA B 2 EHIEMT
income and interest charges - 83,641
Retentions held by the Group for contract NEBBANIREEZRES
works (note a) (Kiita) 312,500 347,846
Construction payables TR ERFKIE 347,277 429,557
Advance receipt from customers BRI 432,697 459,412
Other payables for staff retirement and other &0k 8 TRK M HER 2
benefits of port business (note b) H fth BT RRIE (f b)) 63,546 =
Other accruals Hth T X 72,433 56,462
Other payables H A 5 FRIE 384,199 363,463
Total amount RIAMBEE 2,002,825 2,053,175
Less: Amount due within one year shown W R —F AR ERI N A
under current liabilities RBAEZRE (1,904,888) (2,053,175)
Amount due after one year — IR B 2 3RIE 97,937 -
Notes: iz -
(@ At 31 March 2010, an aggregate amount of approximately HK$66,559,000 (@) H2010%3H31H  #66,559,000/8 7T (2009 :

(2009: HK$74,077,000) is expected to be paid or settled after more than

twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2010, based on agreed payment terms, an aggregate amount
of approximately HK$48,168,000 (2009: Nil) is expected to be paid after
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

RzEELLE -

74,077,000/ 70) BH MR REH AR RBBT —E

(b)  M2010%3A31H BREHMEZHRER ALY
48,168,000/ 7T, (2009 : &) 2 FIEFEH R WME B =
BREBAT_@EAKIM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE2010F3A31HILFE
37. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES 37. BB E ARNRE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on ZERBWEEKR  RERAREREER -
demand.
38. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 38. EfIFEERERNIEA
INTERESTS
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Floating-rate interest at PBC (i.e. 5.31%) AT R 2 IF BN R
per annum (BN5.31%) 28,469 56,717
Fixed-rate interest at 1% per annum R [E 2 B E F =& 22,753 =
Interest-free =N 20,858 18,085
Total amount 48 2 IE 72,080 74,802
Less: Amount due within one year shown B —FREIEAERB A E
under current liabilities 2 A (51,602) (35)
Amount due after one year MN—F &2 2 FIA 20,478 74,767
As at 31 March 2010, the amounts are unsecured 201063 A31H » ZFE T EEF - WEARE K
and repayable on demand except for an amount of W (&1 - 422,753,000/ TTER5h - H 2,275,000
HK$22,753,000, in which HK$2,275,000 is due within one BILR—FRNEE - 520,478,000 T —F 14 5
year and HK$20,478,000 is due after one year. HA o
As at 31 March 2009, the amounts are unsecured and 2009438310 @ LS IBEEE . WAL E K
repayable on demand except for an amount of HK$35,000, B (E 1 - HE/G 35,000 7L A — F 14 547 -
which is due after one year.
39. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 39. ERBEARRE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Unsecured loans payable: FERHEE B
Subsidiary of ITC bears interest at 2% over  EHELCECHBAR  RES
HKBLR per annum SESEEFFIRMET L 18,000 70,000
Associate of ITC bears interest at 2% over EEDEBENR BES
HKBLR per annum BEBEEFEREMET S 50,000 50,000
Associate of ITC bears interest at 2.1% over =¥ & NT]  RES
HKBLR per annum REEEEFMEMAET S 4,000 -
72,000 120,000
Other payables: H A BT RE
Associates of ITC BHECEZHEAR 17,150 13,598
Subsidiary of ITC EEAEZHEAR 338 8,723
89,488 142,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HZE2010F3A31BIEFE
39. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES — 39. ENBEATIRE-—E
continued 201043 H318 K200943A318 - B %A

As at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009, the amounts are
unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free except for
loans payable of HK$68,000,000 (2009: HK$120,000,000)
which bear variable interest rate at 2% over HKBLR (2009:
2% over HKBLR) and HK$4,000,000 (2009: Nil) which bears
variable interest rate of 2.1% over HKBLR (2009: Nil). The
range of effective interest rates of the loans payable during
the year ended 31 March 2010 is 7% to 7.1% (2009: 7% to
7.25%) per annum.

REER EARERKREBRE2E  HENEX
68,000,000 7T (2009 : 120,000,000/ 7t) 8 A %
BNEEEREFTEENEME R (2009 : &
BREBEEEFZEMN2E) 4,000,000/ 7T (2009
E)RAOZEB R EERBZEREENEINAETS
(2009 : %) - BLZE2010F3A3MBLEFE - ERHE
RZFFENTIEETIE (2009 7TEET.25E) o

40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 40. SRITRHEMER
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bank and other borrowings comprise: RITRHEAMMEREIE
Bank loans IRITER 2,485,992 2,639,615
Other loans (Note) H A &R (41 5E) 301,830 77,496
2,787,822 2,717,111
Analysed as: DR
Secured A K 3 1,949,227 2,067,323
Unsecured 35 838,595 649,788
2,787,822 2,717,111
The bank and other borrowings RITRHEAMEREEHANT :
are repayable as follows:
Within one year or on demand —F R A 1,322,464 1,151,958
More than one year, but not exceeding BB —F - BT amE
two years 475,215 406,847
More than two years, but not exceeding HBMF - BRE=F
three years 382,522 325,267
More than three years, but not exceeding BR=F  BETEPF
four years 353,469 352,766
More than four years, but not exceeding HBREE - BT BRFE
five years 117,634 331,520
More than five years BiBehE 136,518 148,753
2,787,822 2,717,111
Less: Amount due within one year or on B — AR BRI A KR P 1E
demand shown under a8 &2 RIB
current liabilities (1,322,464) (1,151,958)
Amount due after one year —F1R BB 2 78 1,465,358 1,565,153
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS - continued

The above bank borrowings include fixed-rate borrowings
of approximately HK$71,701,000 (2009: HK$113,379,000)
repayable within one year carrying interest ranging from
6.48% to 7% (2009: ranging from 7.97% to 9.01%) per
annum and HK$24,880,000 (2009: Nil) repayable more
than one year but not exceeding two years carrying interest
ranging from 6.48% to 7% per annum.

The remaining bank borrowings carry floating-rate interest
ranging from 1.07% to 7.56% (2009: 1.6% to 10.21%) per
annum.

The above other loans include fixed-rate borrowings of
approximately HK$148,394,000 (2009: HK$37,346,000)
repayable within one year carrying interest ranging from

4% 10 12% (2009: 9.138% to 12%) per annum and
HK$21,047,000 (2009: Nil) repayable more than one year
but not exceeding two years carrying interest at 9.138% per
annum.

The remaining other loans carrying floating-rate interest
ranging from 5.4% to 6% (2009: 3% to 6%) per annum.

Note: The other loans include an unsecured loan from an associate of a
subsidiary’s shareholder of HK$102,389,000 (2009: Nil), which bears
floating-rate interest at PBC (ie. 5.4%) per annum and repayable more than
one year but not exceeding two years from the end of the reporting period.
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Pt BT ERBEL71,701,0005 5T (2009 :
113,379,000 7T) 2 E BB - BR—FRNEE -
Wiz F6.48E E7/E (2009 : 7.97E E9.01E) z
FEF R B - 524,880,000/ 7T (2009 : ) AR
—FRETEMFANEER  WIK6ISERTE 2 F
FEFE o

HRBITEFAZTHFEGE FHAEHI07TEER
7.56[E (2009 : 1.6 EE10.21E) 7% -

SR 1T B 5B 4E 49148,394,0005% 7T (2009 ¢
37,346,000 ) A2 EBEHR BER—FRNE
B WM F4EE12/E (2009 0 9.138E £12/F)
ZER R B - 521,047,000 7T (2009 : #) A
R—FRETEMENEE  LIK9.138E 2 F Fl

EKEHE

HHEMERVEFBFEGTE  FFHEXH54EZ6
[£ (2009 : 3E=6[E) 15 -

Met  EHEROEE-—WEBRARBRRE BB ARBRZ —
% 5$0102,389,000/8 7T (2009 : &) 2 E L P E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M IRARM

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE2010F3A31BILFE

41. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE 41. ERATBRRERE
During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company B ZE2008F3A31BIEFERN - AR A EITLAEE
issued zero coupon convertible notes with an aggregate A121,521,0008 T2 EE AR ZE - LNEEE
principal amount of HK$121,521,000 for settlement of Z2007F3A3MBLERE AN KERICAHIEE
the consideration for the LPG assets acquired during the ZRE-TEREBEUSTHE ZBEFER
year ended 31 March 2007. The convertible notes are BEAREFN AIREZEERTABEETRAEEHR
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The notes entitled 2@/ B A (2010548188 %2010%E58318)
the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the B+ T B EA RS P BE B 1R T R4, 2555 T (72008489
Company at any time between 15th day after the date F198 @ 54,1358 T+ & 71200947 30 5 7
of issue of the notes and 15 days prior to their respective 200947 B > 4 BE J 5 22 13935 T (A 4R I 1 2%
maturity dates on 18 April 2010 and 31 May 2010 at a SR S R ) 3 (B Y e i A K )

conversion price of HK$4.25 (adjusted to HK$4.135 on 19
September 2008 and HK$2.139 on 3 July 2009 regarding
the rights issue in July 2009) per share subject to anti-
dilutive adjustments in accordance with the agreement.

If the notes are not converted, they will be redeemed on
maturity date at 114.167% of the principal amount of the
notes outstanding. The Company may at any time and from
time to time purchase the convertible notes at any price

as agreed between the Company and the noteholder. The
respective liabilities and equity portions of the convertible
notes as at date of initial recognition is HK$113,039,000 FATBRBRRBEZABHI 2EBMT
and HK$8,482,000. The effective interest rates of the liability

component of notes issued on 19 April 2007 and 1 June

2007 are 7.02% and 7.58%, respectively.

ZEBR MEBMRLR BRI AEKRT
FEEEASE2114.167%EE o RNQE) 8] REA
KERIMKEUARARERFEARBE Z2EME
REEZIRREER RUSHERER  TRRK
ERZABERBRAEE D D 517/113,039,0007% 7T &
8,482,000 T ° 200748198 K&200746A1H
BOZEBZEBHD 2B RAMESHIRT.02E K
7.58[F °

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
notes for the year is set out below:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHBT FHET
Carrying amount at the beginning FYRREE
of the year 129,068 120,551
Effective interest charge BRF BT 9,121 8,517
Carrying amount at the end of the year FAREEE 138,189 129,068
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company REMTER  ARRREHANERLRRFHE2EA
redeemed and cancelled all convertible notes upon maturity. BIREZE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

42. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

42. EEHE
AT R A R 4 R T B 6 B AE BUR B (R
(AE) - URAZBINR -

prior years:
Fair value
adjustment
on project Fair value
Fair value under  adjustments
Accelerated Recognition adjustmenton  development on other
tax Tax of contracting  investment andstock assets and
depreciation losses income  properties  of properties liabilities Total
RRAERR EHEER
R&N% ELA af
MEHERE REEE BIRKUA  ATEESE  ATEERE  AVEESE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T Thx
At 1 Apri 2008 #0084 A 1A 5213 (4,400) (813) 422,754 883,851 22,755 1,329,360
Exchange realignment ER% = = = 9,586 20,042 515 30,143
Transfer 7 - - - 68,713 (68,713) - -
Change in tax rate (credi) HEEE (BA)R
charge to consolidated FARER
income statement (300) 254 46 - - - -
(Credit) charge to consolidated &AMz 2 (BA)fH
income statement (2,049) 1,282 767 311,543 - (884) 310,659
At 31 March 2009 #2009%3A31H 2,864 (2,864) - 812,59 835,180 22,386 1,670,162
Exchange realignment B} % - - - 3,197 2,850 113 6,160
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBRA - - - 757 - 33,182 33,939
Charge (credit) to consolidated &4 Uiz 2 Hig (B A)
income statement 2,510 (2,570) - 184,814 - (1,092) 183,722
At 31 March 2010 R01063A31A 5,434 (5,434) - 1,001,364 838,030 54,589 1,893,983

At 31 March 2010, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$944,000,000 (2009: HK$924,000,000)
available to offset against future taxable profits. A deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$33,000,000 (2009: HK$17,000,000) of such losses.

No deferred tax asset in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$911,000,000 (2009: HK$907,000,000) has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams on those subsidiaries. The unused tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BB RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE2010F3A31BILFE
42. DEFERRED TAXATION - continued 42. EERE &
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of WEMTAER - WELFEKDIREFHE B ER
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings BARTHEAE B = BB 54 A68,573,000
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not 5T (2009 : 31,000,000 7T) © F 5 AN £ @ 7]
been recognised was approximately HK$68,573,000 (2009: IO S RS M SR E A A 4ETE A
HK$31,000,000). No liability has been recognised in respect BT EE - A ER =R ETR
of these differences because the Group is in a position HEE -
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
43. DEFERRED INCOME 43. EFEW A
The amounts represented the government grants related to ZECHERRXEBETEORLER CBFHAL
certain ports construction projects and will be recognised in THEREBAFTIHEEEZFEAFTFHRNRIER
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related depreciable HRE o
assets.
44. SHARE CAPITAL 44. B
Number
of shares Value
KRG EE &8
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: FARMEE0.10% T2 E Ak
Authorised: SRRE
At 1 April 2008 and R2008F4H1H K&
31 March 2009 2009F3H31H 3,000,000,000 300,000
Additions (note a) & (Htzta) 7,000,000,000 700,000
At 31 March 2010 M2010%3A31H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BBIT REBERE
At 1 April 2008 720084 H1H 1,507,093,517 150,709
Issue of shares under R B ARG BB 1T AR 1D
share option scheme 1,300,000 130
At 31 March 2009 200943 A31H 1,508,393,517 150,839
Issue of shares on subscription of HAR R F A M7 RS
rights issue (note b) (Ki#Eb) 3,019,350,218 301,936
Issue of shares on exercise of TERBEEMEITRGD
warrants (note c) (Batc) 1,381,399 138
At 31 March 2010 20103 HA31H 4,529,125,134 452,913
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBmMRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

44, SHARE CAPITAL - continued

45,

Notes:

(a)

On 9 June 2009, an ordinary resolution was passed to increase the
authorised share capital of the Company from HK$300,000,000 to
HK$1,000,000,000 by the creation of 7,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each.

On 8 July 2009, the Company completed a rights issue by issuing and
allotting 3,019,350,218 rights shares at a subscription price of HK$0.12
each on the basis of two rights shares for every share of the Company held
on 9 June 2009. The net proceeds of approximately HK$350 million are
intended to be used on the Group's investment in port and port-related
projects and general working capital of the Group.

The warrants issued by the Company on 26 September 2008 at an initial
exercise price of HK$1.00 per share (subsequently adjusted to HK$0.51 per
share as a result of the rights issue in July 2009) expired on 25 September
2009. During the year, warrants of HK$1,332,494 were exercised to
subscribe for 1,381,399 new shares of the Company.

WARRANTS

In respect of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2008 distributed in the form of warrants as detailed in note
15, the Company issued warrants of HK$251,398,919 on 26
September 2008 to shareholders of the Company conferring
the rights to the holders thereof to subscribe in cash for
251,398,919 new shares of the Company at an initial
exercise price of HK$1.00 per share (subsequently adjusted to
HK$0.51 per share as a result of the rights issue in July 2009)
at any time during the period from 26 September 2008 to 25
September 2009.

The subscription rights attaching to the warrants are
measured at fair value of approximately HK$12,833,000
on initial recognition and are recognised in equity in the
warrants reserve.
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(a) 20096 A9  —BEBARKE KRB  LIER
7,000,000,0004% & 0. 108 T 2z @A 0 - A A
7] 2% IR 7K $1300,000,0005% 7T 3 I = 1,000,000,000
T e

(b) 2009 7A8H  ARAFEARLE - H X ARREE
HFRR0.128 T ¥ 1T M2 E3,019,350,218A% A& A% {5 -
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RREE
BEE2008F3A3IH L FEURKEE TS
k2 RERR B (RMTsE1SFrsfl) M5 - AR FE
200859 A26 A A A8 A & A% 38 %% 17251,398,919
BILZRREE -FHRRREEFM THEE AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

45,

46.

WARRANTS — continued

The fair value of the warrants issued during last year

was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing model
performed by RHL, independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. RHL have necessary
qualifications and recent experiences to perform the
valuation of warrants. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

Date of valuation 5 September 2008

Share price HK$0.680
Exercise price HK$1.000
Time to maturity 1 year
Expected volatility 56.32%
Expected dividend yield 4.41%
Risk free rate 1.640%

During the year, warrants of HK$ 1,332,494 were exercised
and all remaining warrants lapsed at the expiry date.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 27 August 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentive or reward to any employees, executives
or officers, directors of the Group or any invested entity and
any celebrity, consultant, adviser or agent of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, who have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
or any invested entity (“Eligible Person”). The Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years from
that date.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may at their discretion grant options to any Eligible
Person to subscribe for shares in the Company without
consideration. The directors may at their discretion determine
the specific exercise period which should expire in any event
no later than ten years from date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company and will be at least the higher of:
(i) the subscription price as is permissible under the Listing
Rules from time to time; and (ii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.

45.

46.

mRER A

FRBETZRREEZEZ A FEEHKRIT(EARE
BYEBECBYABRERMEM) A -HEAH
REBRUAE - XMNTABRREEHEZRS
BEBERIOMER - BE2HABNT

(EEN=R=E 200849 A5H
[ & 0.680/8 7T
TfE(E 1.000/ 7T
FERA 14
& BB 18 56.32%
TEHINR B K 4.41%
3 e 1) 3R 1.640%

RARFERE 1,332,498 T 2 AR EZE D ETE
HpRREEHE R BB KK -

UBRBAXNAREZRS

20029 8A27H A AR RM—EERE B
([EREE] R edAE@REM
BRERBIELHER 2 AEESEMBEKRBEZF
MEE THABISRBE EFREZXAL
REBAERKEARIKEAIEEREZZAA B
BB ((6EBALT]D REBE SR - B
BErEGEZBRESAERTF -

RIS AAAEEAMBAEMELEH
AL B AIER 2 EREEE S E
B - EBTWBERTEDR REEAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BZE201063A31H EFE

46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS —

continued

The maximum number of shares which may initially be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company
as at its adoption date, i.e. 103,674,492 shares. Subject

to the approval of the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting, the limit may be refreshed to 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval

by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meetings of
the Company in 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008,
the 10% scheme limit was refreshed to 10% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at the respective
dates of such meetings. Pursuant to an ordinary resolution
passed at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 31
August 2009, the 10% scheme limit was further refreshed to
452,902,545 representing 10% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at the date of such meeting.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect
of which options may be granted to each Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
from time to time unless such grant has been duly approved
by shareholders of the Company at general meeting at
which the Eligible Person and his associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) abstained from voting. Options granted to a
substantial shareholder and/or an independent non-executive
director or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) in any 12-month period in excess of 0.10%
of total number of shares in issue and have an aggregate
value exceeding HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting in advance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBmMRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
continued

(a)

Details of the share options granted on 28 December
2004 to certain directors and advisors of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme and movements in
such holdings during the year are as follows:

46.

LROZINREZRE &
(@) ARFN2004%12 8281815 BT Z M
REBZETESREWNABRE ZEREZ

Number of shares of the Company

to be issued upon exercise of the share options
BRETERATFRAZALARAHE

Exercise Outstanding Exercised Adjustments OQutstanding Adjustments  Outstanding
price as at during made during asat made during as at
Date of grant Exercise period per share 1.4.2008 the year the year 31.3.2009 the year 31.3.2010
1.4.2008 1431.3.2009 #31.3.2010
RHBH e BRITEE HARTE EpfiE  FAfFHER METE FAELEE HARTR
HKS (Note i 1) (Note £ 2)
BT
28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.43762 8,450,000 (650,000) 1,300,000 9,100,000 13,000,000 22,100,000
(Note f72 2)
28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 052940 12,230,000 (650,000) 1,930,000 13,510,000 19,300,000 32,810,000
(Note it 2)
20,680,000 (1,300,000 3,230,000 22,610,000 32,300,000 54,910,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
FERBT I 22,610,000 54,910,000
Notes: Bt -

1.

As a result of the warrants issued relating to the distribution of final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 as set out in note 15,
on 19 September 2008, the Company adjusted the exercise price of
the outstanding share options by reducing it by a factor of 6/7 and
adjusted the number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the
share options by increasing it by a factor of 7/6.

In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the exercise prices of
the share options were adjusted from HK$1.0628 and HK$1.2857
per share to HK$0.43762 and HK$0.52940 per share respectively
and the number of the then outstanding share options under the
Share Option Scheme was also adjusted correspondingly on 3 July
20009, as a result of the rights issue of the Company on the basis of
two rights shares for every share held.

1. MR E D IKE £2008F3A31H LFE 2 RBAREM
LT RABKEE (FANMEE15) - B2008F9H19H » &
AREBETEERSEH, TUABREMKTEER
BZTEE TARBTEBRESBETRIZRG
SEFEIENERT 6

2. BEEBRESE BRECADEEREEAEREKRN
1.0628%8 L £ 1.2857 8 THEB 2GR IXH0.43762/8 7T
£0.52940/ 70 - i AR EET B T 2 R A R ITE B R
Z BB I R2009F7 A3EEAA R BIRERE —RKRNG
A RE MR 2 EAEE TR T EAE R EE o
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS —

continued

(b)  Details of the share options granted to certain directors,

employees and advisors of the Group and invested

entities under the Share Option Scheme during

the current and prior years and movements in such

holdings are as follows:

46. ARG XNMREZRS —#
FRRUL AT - AR BRI AR

(b) at
AEBLRRERBZETES REERWES

AREZ BREFERESHNT

Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise of the share options

BREGERETFRG2AMARGEA

2%

Granted  Adjustments Lapsed Adjustments Lapsed

during  made during during made during
Exercise  Outstanding the year the year theyear  Outstanding during the theyear  Outstanding
price at ended ended ended at year ended ended at
Type Date of grant Vesting date** Exercise period per share 1.4.2008 31.3.2009 31.3.2009 31.3.2009 3132009 31.3.2010* 3132010 3132010
42008 EE3132009 EE3132009 EE3132009  W3132009 EE3132010 EEN32010  #3132010
BB REEH  BEEH 68 BRTEE WATE — LEERE LEEFHEE  LEEXN WATE LEEEEAET  LEEXM WA
[0} 6.2.2006 6.2.2006 6.2.2006 t0 5.2.2007 178 - - - - - - - -
(i) 6.2.2006 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t05.2.2008 250 = = = = = - - -
(i) 6.2.2006 6.2.2008 6.2.2008 t0 5.2.2009 25714 7,600,000 - 1,058,333 (8,658,333) - - - -
(v 622006 6.2.2009 6.2.2009t05.2.2010 1.23529* 7,600,000 - 1,058,333 (1,250,000) 7,408,333 9,750,000 (17,158,333) =
(v) 24.3.2006 24.3.2006 24.3.2006 10 5.2.2007 2325 = = = = = - - -
(i) 2432006  6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t0 5.2.2008 250 - - - - - - - -
(vi) 2432006  6.2.2008 6.2.2008 t0 5.2.2009 25714 2,625,000 - 437,500 (3,062,500) - - - -
(vii)  24.3.2006 6.2.2009 6.2.2009t05.2.2010 1.23529* 2,625,000 = 437,500 = 3,062,500 4,375,000 (7,437,500) =
() 89.2006 8.9.2006 8.9.2006 t0 7.9.2007 248 - - - - - - - -
() 8.9.2006 8.9.2007 8.9.2007 t0 7.9.2008 248 4,600,000 - - (4,600,000) - - - -
() 89.2006 8.9.2008 8.9.2008 t07.9.2009 0.87528* 4,600,000 - 766,667 = 5,366,667 7,666,667 (13,033,334) =
(i) 89.2006 8.9.2006 8.9.2006 t0 26.8.2012 0.85762* 1,300,000 = 216,667 = 1,516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334
(xii)  8.9.2006 8.9.2006 8.9.2006 t0 7.9.2007 243 - - - - - - - -
(iv)  8.9.2006 1.8.2007 1.8.2007 t0 31.7.2008 243 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000) - - - -
(W) 89.2006 1.8.2008 1.8.2008 t0 31.7.2009 2483 1,500,000 = = (1,500,000) = - - -
(i) 89.2006 1.8.2007 1.8.2007 t0 31.7.2008 3.00 1,500,000 = = (1,500,000 - = = =
(i) 8.9.2006 1.8.2008 1.8.2008 t0 31.7.2009 350 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000) - - - -
(il 8.9.2006 8.9.2007 8.9.2007 t0 7.9.2008 3.00 1,850,000 = = (1,850,000) = - - -
(ix)  89.2006 8.9.2008 8.9.2008 t0 7.9.2009 1.23529* 800,000 - 133333 = 933333 1,333,332 (2,266,665) =
() 622007 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t0 26.8.2012 1.05881* 1,300,000 = 216,667 = 1,516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334
(o) 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t0 5.2.2008 400 - - - - - - - -
(i) 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t0 5.2.2008 3.00 - - - - - - - -
(i)~ 6.2.2007 6.2.2008 6.2.2008 t0 5.2.2009 25714 1,190,000 - 186,067 (1,376,667) - - - -
(o) 6.2.2007 6.2.2009 6.2.2009t05.2.2010 1.23529* 1,190,000 - 186,667 (70,000) 1,306,667 1,866,667 (3,173,334 -
() 304.2007 1.8.2007 1.8.2007 t0 30.4.2008 350 1,500,000 = o (1,500,000 - = o =
(exvi) - 15.5.2007 15.5.2007 15.5.2007 to 14.5.2008 350 9,000,000 - - (9,000,000) - - - -
(i) 15.5.2007 15.5.2007 15.5.2007 to 14.5.2009 3.00 6,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) -
(i) 1.8.2007 1.8.2007 1.8.2007 0 31.7.2008 350 550,000 = = (550,000) - = = =
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS — 46. URHEZRREZRS &
continued (b) &
(b)  continued
Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise of the share options
BRETERATFROZADARGHE
Granted  Adjustments Lapsed Adjustments Lapsed
during  made during during made during

Exercise  Outstanding the year the year theyear  Outstanding during the theyear  Outstanding
price at ended ended ended at year ended ended at
Type Date of grant Vesting date** Exercise period per share 1.4.2008 3132009 31.3.2009 31.3.2009 3132009 31.3.2010* 3132010 3132010
M42008  EE3132009 EE3132009 EE3132009  W3132009 EE3132010 EEN320100  #3132010
BB REEH  BEEH  G6F BRTEE WATE  LEERE LCEEFHEE  LEEXN WATE LEEFEAR  LEEXN MRS
(ki) 1.8.2007 1.8.2008 1.8.2008 t0 31.7.2009 141173+ 450,000 = 75,000 = 525,000 750,000 (1,275,000) -
(o) 1.8.2007 1.8.2009 1.8.2009 0 31.7.2010 1.58821* 450,000 = 75,000 = 525,000 750,000 - 1,275,000
(o) 18.9.2007 18.9.2007 18.9.2007 t 17.9.2008 3.546 3,900,000 - - (3,900,000) - - - -
(i) 18.9.2007 18.9.2008 18.9.2008 o 17.9.2009 1.25151* 3,900,000 - 650,000 - 4,550,000 6,500,000 (11,050,000) =
(xxii)  18.9.2007 18.9.2009 18.9.2009 0 17.9.2010 1.25151* 3,900,000 = 650,000 = 4,550,000 6,500,000 - 11,050,000
(oodv) 11.10.2007 11102007 11.10.2007 t0 10.10.2008 25714 250,000 - 41,667 (291,667) - - - -
(o) 11.102007 1142008 11.4.2008 t0 10.10.2008 25714 150,000 = 25,000 (175,000) = - - -
(o) 1110.2007 11102008 11.10.2008 to 10.10.2009 1.23529* 150,000 = 25,000 = 175,000 250,000 (425,000) -
(oonil) - 11.10.2007 11102009 11.10.2009 10 10.10.2010 141173+ 200,000 - 3333 = 233333 333332 - 566,665
(ool 3.6.2008 1.10.2008 1.10.2008 10 2.6.2011 0.70584* = 12,000,000 333333 = 12333333 17,619,047 (12,142,857) 17,809,523
(dx) 36,2008 1.10.2009 1.10.2009 t0 2.6.2011 0.70584* = 12,000,000 333333 = 12333333 17,619,047 (12,142,857) 17,809,523
o) 362008 142010 14.2010102.6.2011 0.70584* - 6,000,000 166,067 - 6,166,067 8,809,524 (6,071,428) 8,904,763
) 3.6.2008 1.10.2010 1.10.2010t02.6.2011 0.70584* - 6,000,000 166,667 = 6,166,667 8,809,524 (6,071,428) 8,904,763
(i) 3.6.2008 36.2008 36.2008t0 2.6.2009 1.7142 = 24,246,000 4,032,667 (4,775,000) 23,503,667 = (23,503,667) =
(i)~ 3.6.2008 362008 36.2008t02.6.2010 0.88232* - 17,038,000 2,839,667 (2,916,667) 16,961,000 22,563,334 (1,166,666) 38,357,668
() 3.6.2008 362009 36.2009t02.6.2010 0.88232* - 3,300,000 541,667 (691,667) 3,150,000 4,499,999 - 7,649,999
() 3.6.2008 36.2009 36.2009t02.6.2011 0.88232* = 2,000,000 333333 = 2333333 3333333 = 5,666,666
(i) 3.6.2008 362010 36.2010t02.6.2011 1.05881* = 3,100,000 508,333 (516,667) 3,091,666 4,416,665 - 7,508,331
73,680,000 85,684,000 16,529,001 (51,184,168) 124,708,833 132,078805  (123918,089) 132,869,569

Exercisable at the end of the year
FRBA T 86,158,834 107,551,712

# As a result of the warrants issued relating to the distribution of final # BN H D IKE £2008F3A318 LFE 2 REBAKREM

* %

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 as set out in note 15,
on 19 September 2008, the Company adjusted the exercise price of
the outstanding share options by reducing it by a factor of 6/7 and
adjusted the number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the
share options by increasing it by a factor of 7/6.

In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the range of the
exercise prices of the share options was adjusted from HK$1.7142
to HK$3.8571 per share to HK$0.70584 to HK$1.58821 per share
and the number of the then outstanding share options under the
Share Option Scheme was also adjusted correspondingly on 3 July
2009, as a results of the rights issue of the Company on the basis of
two rights shares for every share held.

All the above outstanding share options of the Company were
vested in the relevant grantees upon the first date of their respective
exercise periods, except for vesting of the 2,833,334 outstanding
share options which were conditional on such grantee satisfying the
condition attached to the grant.

* %

BT RABAEE (FAMEEIS) » H2008F9A19H » &
R RVE BT 0 B R D B H6/7 A F % M R 1T (5 R AR A
ZATEE  WHAEETERRESETEITZIROE
BE 2 HBMELTE -

RIEERESE BREZCATEEREAERERN
1.7142% T £3.857 18 LA B 2 F KA 0.705847%8 T
£1.58821/8 7 MR 8 T & 0 s R 1T R4
Z BB FR2009F7 A3 AR R BIEEHE —RIKRH
A REMARAER A 2 EAEEITHR T EREFAE -

RAREMFIAEMAKTEZBREHERSTERZ
BHEBRMBEBARA  HHF2,833,334(0 M AITERE
BEBGZEARAEXBELBAMNZ GHEEIER
% °
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS - 46. UM XA REZRS &
continued (© WREBE201043831ALEE  BERER
(©)  During the year ended 31 March 2010, no share RiEEr R M EERES S HERE -
options were granted to directors and employees under
the share option scheme. (d) MREZFE2009F3A31BIEFE  AAFUN
T f%2.007% 7T £3.007% 7T (F20084F9 A %
(d)  During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company AR R2009E7T AR ARE R
granted 85,684,000 share options to directors and 0.705843% 7T % 1.0588 1% 7T) ~ 1718 B 12
employees at exercise prices ranging from HK$2.00 85684000/ R ETFEERIES - FIEDL
to HK$3.00 per share (adjusted to HK$0.70584 to BERR4E > A (B 1E £915,042,00008 T o i 18
HK$1.05881 per sharelas a .resultlof warrants issued in HERET N TS 3E Y BB
September 2008 and rights issue in July 2009). The fair
15,045,000, e oo options o AFRERAL AW EE - Nk KATS
subject’to v,esting conditions ?rom zgro to 2.3 years. Mm-S RAARE AR (R
HIT -BERN G ABBENT
The fair values determination at the grant date were
carried out by RHL using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model (the “Model”). The key inputs into the
Model were summarised as follows:
Options granted during the year ended 31 March REBZ2009F3A3MALFEREZBRE
2009
Type  Type  Type  Type  Type  Type  Type  Type  Type
L] L] Lo L5l Lol BAl EAl BA EA
(oovii)—— (ocxix) (x) (xli) (xli) (xlii) (xliv) (xlv) (xlvi)
Closing share price at date of it BE 2R i B
grant (before adjustment for — (5£200957 3 7 &k
rights issue in July 2009) (HK$) {5820 (A7) 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53
Expected volatility BHRE 44% 44% 44% 44% 40% 38% 38% 4%  44%
Expected life (year) EHEG(F) 3 3 3 3 1 2 2 3 3
Risk-free interest rate ERRTE 2378% 23714% 2374% 2374% 1320% 1.968% 1.968% 2.374% 2.374%
Expected annual dividend yield ~ EHFE R EEHZE 196% 196% 196% 196% 19% 19% 19%% 19% 1.96%
Fair value per share option (HKY) &RkERiEz ATBE (51 0300 0300 0300 0300 009 00% 00% 0211 0.152

The expected volatility used in the Model was

determined by using the annualised standard derivation

of the continuously compounded rate of return on
the ordinary shares of the Company. The expected
life used in the Model has been adjusted, based on

management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-

transferability and behavioural considerations.

190 FYI:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report

ZBEAMBZERRE  DARARAER
BE@EENmBR s FREBEEZETE
HRFEANERTALEEREZEE L&
AFMAcESSG ERBEEEEZHEAT
AT E -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS —
continued
In respect of the share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2009, the closing share price immediately before
date of grant was HK$1.53%.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year
ended 31 March 2009, the weighted average share price at
the date of exercise was HK$1.53* and the weighted average
closing price at the date immediately before exercise date
was HK$1.52*.

There was no consideration received from Eligible Persons
for taking up the options granted during the year ended 31
March 2009.

The amount of cost of share options charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year was
HK$1,337,000 (2009: HK$14,859,000).

# Being the relevant share price before the adjustment for rights issue in July
2009.

Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited (“PYE")

On 7 September 2005, PYE adopted a share option scheme
(the "PYE Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive
or reward to any employees, executives or officers, directors
of PYE and its subsidiaries or any invested entity and any
consultant, adviser or agent of any member of PYE and its
subsidiaries or any invested entity, who have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development of PYE and
its subsidiaries or any invested entity (“PYE Eligible Person”).
The PYE Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
from that date.

Under the PYE Scheme, the directors of PYE may at their
discretion grant options to any PYE Eligible Person to
subscribe for shares in PYE. Consideration to be paid on

each grant of option is HK$1.00. The directors of PYE may

at their discretion determine the specific exercise period
which should expire in any event no later than ten years from
date of adoption of the PYE Scheme. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of PYE and will be at least the
higher of: (i) the subscription price as is permissible under the
Listing Rules from time to time; and (ii) the nominal value of
the shares of PYE.

46.

LROZINREBZRE &
REZ2009F3A3MBIEFERTD 2 BRE RE
BEERHEBZA—BZBRGBKTEA1.538 T

REE2009F3 8318 IEFEITFEZBEIE - RTT
FEEBZMEFHBREA1S3IET REETE
EHZA —HZMEFHRTREAB1.528 T -

REZE2009F3A31BLFE TERAEHBAL
BENER 7 BB R T R BRI (B -

FREREWRERIR 2 EIRER AR S5 51,337,000
7 7T (2009 : 14,859,000 7T) °

# B T95E2009F7 A 2 HAETT FHEE AT 2 AR ARE o

REZXEERRLAA(REREX]D 2
BREE

R2005F9A7H - RER X KM — AR RE &
(MREZZEBRESE)  URHRSSLHRE
EEREMBARSEIMRERBHFELERZR
ERENENBARNEMKRERB 2 EMES
TTRAEXSHRBE EFTRETARERBRRE
BZELEMBARMEAKERRREMRTE RS
ZEE BRAASIRE(REZEXESEBALD
REEBDREH - REZXBRES B EZAE
MRBRLE-

REBEREZXBRETS REZXEFIHER
ERAREZEABERAIRBERE  URBRE
BEZBRND BREMRECBREFTINESR
10082 RE RERXEFANRBEETES
R IEEEMBERT - LATEHR T SERAR
EREBRETIERMERRASTF - THEER
REZEXEZUTIRGEMEE - 2L ROBE
ETRATKAFZREBE  RVRERZERNZ
EfE -
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS —

continued

Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited (“PYE") — continued

The maximum number of shares that may initially be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
PYE Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) adopted
by PYE must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of issued shares of PYE as at its adoption date,

i.e. 57,669,939 shares of PYE. Subject to the approval of
the shareholders of PYE in general meeting, the limit may
be refreshed to 10% of the total number of shares of PYE

in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of
PYE in general meeting. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the
maximum number of shares of PYE which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet

to be exercised under the PYE Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of PYE must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of PYE in issue from time to
time. Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at PYE's
annual general meeting held on 28 August 2009, the 10%
scheme limit was refreshed to 60,267,714, representing 10%
of the total number of issued shares of PYE as at the date of
such meeting.

The maximum number of shares of PYE in respect of which
options may be granted to each PYE Eligible Person under
the PYE Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
PYE (including those exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of

the total number of shares of PYE in issue from time to time
unless such grant has been duly approved by shareholders of
PYE in general meeting at which the PYE Eligible Person and
his associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) abstained from
voting. Options granted to a substantial shareholder and/

or an independent non-executive director of PYE or any of
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period in excess of 0.10% of the total number
of PYE in issue and have an aggregate value exceeding
HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the shareholders of PYE
in general meeting in advance.
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BZE201063A31H EFE
46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS — 46. UBRHBIRREBEZRS &
continued REZELEEERAT (RERED 2
Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group BRESTE -
Limited (“PYE) - continued FRRUHFE BB RE R LW IR Y
Details of movements in share options of PYE granted under B AE RS  SEEWT
the PYE Scheme during the current and prior years are as
follows:
Number of shares of PYE to be issued upon exercise of the share options
BREGERR TR T RERXRHHA
Exercised Lapsed Lapsed
Exercise Outstanding  duringthe  duringthe Outstanding  duringthe Outstanding
price at yearended  yearended at  yearended at
Type Dateof grant Vesting date Exercise period per share 1.4.2008 31.3.2009 31.3.2009 31.3.2009 31.3.2010 31.3.2010
H142008 BE3132000 BEN32009  H332009 BENZN0  H3132010
B3 Ered RS s SRT%E WATE  LEEAR  LEEAX HATE  LEEXX HATE
HKS
BT
| 3.2.2006 3.2.2006 3.2.2006-6.9.2015 0.70 500,000 (500,000) = = - -
I 3.2.2006 1.1.2007 1.1.2007 - 6.9.2015 0.85 500,000 (500,000) - - - -
I 3.2.2006 1.1.2008 1.1.2008 - 6.9.2015 1.00 500,000 (500,000) - - - -
V- 9.2.2006 9.2.2008 9.2.2008-8.2.2009 090 2,800,000 (1,000,000  (1,800,000) = - -
Vo 1372006 1372006 13.7.2006-12.7.2008 1.00 214,000 (214,000) - - - -
VI 1372006 1372007 13.7.2007-12.7.2009 100 1500000  (1,300,0000  (200,000) - - -
VI 13.7.2006 13.7.2008 13.7.2008 - 12.7.2009 1.00 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - - -
VIl 30.5.2007 1.7.2007 1.7.2007 - 30.6.2008 134 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - - -
X 3052007 1.7.2008 1.7.2008 - 30.6.2009 134 1,500,000 - (900,000) 600,000 (600,000) -
X 30.5.2007 9.2.2008 9.2.2008-8.2.2009 1.34 11,300,000 - (11,300,000) = - -
X 862007 1.7.2007 1.7.2007 - 30.6.2009 136 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
X 28122007 1.6.2008 16.2008 - 31.5.2009 140 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000  (1,000,000) -
Xl 28122007 1.9.2008 1.9.2008 - 31.8.2009 1.40 600,000 - (600,000) - - -
25914000  (4014,0000 (18300,0000 3,600,000  (3,600,000) -
Exercisable at the end of the year
EERT TR 3,600,000 -
No options were granted, exercised or cancelled during the MREZE2010F3A31B IEFEMERLY - TF
year ended 31 March 2010. 5 BB UM -
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries

In December 2009, the Group acquired a further
7.11% equity interest in Feeder Port Holdings Limited
("Feeder Port"”), which engages in logistic network
solution, increasing its interest from 87.5% to 94.61%
by subscription of its new capital. The difference of
HK$555,000 between the proportionate share of the
carrying amount of its net assets and the consideration
paid for the additional interest has been debited to
retained profits.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group
increased its interest in D & C Engineering (H.K.) Limited
from 55% to 100% at consideration of HK$800,000.
Goodwill of HK$5,000 had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary

On 28 December 2009, the Group disposed of an
aggregate of 15% equity interest in Yangkou Port

Co to two independent third parties at an aggregate
consideration of RMB300,000,000 (approximately
HK$341 million), reducing its interest from 75% to
60%. The net proceed on disposal of approximately
HK$316,433,000 was received in cash and an amount
of HK$355,257,000 (being the proportionate share of
the carrying amount of the net assets and translation
reserve of Yangkou Port Co) has been transferred

to non-controlling interests. The difference of
HK$3,858,000 between the proportionate share of
the carrying amount of the net assets of Yangkou Port
Co and the consideration received has been debited to
retained profits.

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries
On 5 November 2009, the Group acquired 51%
equity interest and approximately 57% voting right
in Yichang Port Group at a cash consideration of
approximately RMB114 million (approximately
HK$129 million). Consequently, Yichang Port Group
becomes a subsidiary of the Group as the Group
obtained control over the operating and financing
policies of Yichang Port Group. Yichang Port Group is
principally engaged in transport logistics and properties
investments, providing transportation, cargo loading
and discharging, storage, shipping agent, cargo agent,
port logistics and port equipment rental services in
Yichang Port, the PRC. The acquisition reinforces the
Group's target to build an efficient network of ports
and commitment to the rapidly developing ports and
infrastructure sector in the PRC. This acquisition has
been accounted for using the purchase method.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE

47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries — continued

47. W HEWBLSES &
() WBMELR &

HK$'000
TR

Fair value of net assets acquired: BABEFEZATERB:
Property, plant and equipment L ER YL 240,095
Investment properties BB 17,675
Prepaid lease payments T ERIE 70,855
Interests in associates Bih N Al AE 683
Other intangible assets Hin I\ & E 119,224
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 140
Trade and other debtors, deposits and B REMBWERER  5T€ K&

prepayments (note i) TR FRIE (BT 5t 94,406
Amounts due from associates JE Wi Bk i X R FRIE 636
Investments held for trading BIEEERE 8,758
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRE 179,747
Trade and other creditors and accrued expenses B 5 & H M FER R R EET X (305,564)
Amounts due to associates FE TS 4 A RIFRIA (15)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS e HﬂEE%‘K (26,155)
Taxation payable T HiE (48)
Bank and other borrowings $R1T R H MK (45,455)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEA E (33,939)
Deferred income BT A (16,992)

304,051

Cash consideration transferred FrEEzReRE 129,250
Plus: Non-controlling interests (note i) o e R (L) 161,335
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired B B EEFE ATEE (304,051)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (note jij) Bt BB R &) 2 sk (B B W s (B 2t (13,466)
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition of subsidiaries: WEHB AR ZEERAFE

Bank balances and cash acquired Frii i v SRITEF KB 179,747

Cash consideration paid BfARE (129,250)

50,497
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN 47. W HEKNBLAGER &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued (0 WEMBAR-&

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries — continued Wi -

Notes:

(i) The receivables acquired with a fair value of approximately
HK$90,890,000 had gross contractual amounts of approximately
HK$115,433,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flow not expected to be collected is approximately
HK$24,543,000.

(i) The non-controlling interests are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of
Yichang Port Group's identifiable net assets.

(iii) The gain on bargain purchase was mainly attributable to the
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of land
at the date of completion of the acquisition.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately
HK$13,678,000 have been excluded from the
consideration transferred and have been recognised as
an expense in the year.

Included in the profit for the year of the Group

is approximately HK$11,476,000 attributable to

the additional business generated by Yichang Port
Group. Turnover for the year of the Group includes
approximately HK$88,525,000 attributable to the
Yichang Port Group. Had the business combination
been effected at 1 April 2009, the turnover of the
Group would have been approximately HK$4,337
million, and the profit for the year of the Group would
have been approximately HK$265 million.

On 11 June 2007, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group acquired the entire interest in several of its
non-wholly owned subsidiaries, which are engaged

in the provision of property consultancy services,

at a net consideration of HK$1,793,000 (subject to
adjustments). The acquisition was accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting during the year
ended 31 March 2008.

The consideration was subsequently adjusted to
approximately HK$2,162,000 after taking into the
effect of adjustment on fluctuations of various projects
within 18 months counted from acquisition date. An
additional goodwill of approximately HK$369,000

had been recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 March 2009.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BZE201063A31H EFE

47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN

SUBSIDIARIES - continued

(d) Disposal of a subsidiary
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
disposed of its entire interest in FBREY X EES
FRAR ("EIBIRE"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
PYE to an independent third party at consideration of
approximately HK$567,000.

The net assets of FI3B{RZE at the date of disposal were

47. W HEWBLSES &

(d) HEHEQF

NEZE2010F3F831BLFE  AEBEE
BRREZEZZ2EMBRAAMBREYE
ERBRAT(HBRE]) 22HEs T —
B E=7  RERHKS567,000% T °

MBREANHESEAZEEFENT

as follows:
HK$'000
FHT
Net assets disposed of: P& &8 EFE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - MW KRR 2
Trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments B REMERER &k
T FRIE 173
Bank balances and cash WITHEFRE® 239
Trade and other creditors and accrued expenses B REMEMNBERRETRY (32)
382
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary R )N el g 185
Total consideration satisfied by: BREZNAFA :
Cash ]"E 567
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEEAZRESRAFE
Cash received BTt B R & 567
Bank balances and cash disposed of BEERTAETRERES (239)
328

The subsidiary disposed of during the year did not
have any significant contribution to the results and
cash flows of the Group during the period prior to the
disposal.

FAMLEMBARHASERLEMPR X

BLRRERELEBEMERNER -
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48. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 48. FEBWENBLARKBEE
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 7200849 498 + 7 & B fFeeder Port H 1 f§ R
On 9 September 2008, the Group was granted an option by YRR AE - 48 H M Feeder Port2 # 25 F550% 3% A0
the other shareholder of Feeder Port to increase its interest %87.5% * X8 /415,000,000% 7T * 7 £ E 722008
in Feeder Port from 50% to 87.5% at a consideration of FOR17HITF iR AENEEEEKRE
HK$15,000,000. The Group exercised the above option on A W Feeder Porty I A EZS Y Ht o W=
17 September 2008 and the consideration was satisfied HEAEAKEEERAE -NLS5HEAYEE

by converting its loan receivable into equity interests in STEBRMT
Feeder Port. The acquisition has been accounted for as an
acquisition of assets and liabilities. The net assets acquired in
the transaction were summarised as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets acquired: BABEZRE -
Property, plant and equipment YIEE - W K R 494
Prepaid lease payments B HEERE 143,976
Project under development FRPIEA 20,758
Trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments B REWER 24 RIEfHE 15,063
Bank balances and cash RITHERES 6.168
Trade and other creditors and accrued expenses B RIEMER R ETRAY (122,748)
63,711
Less: Non-controlling interests R FERERRAE R (4,604)
59,107
Total consideration satisfied by: BARELATY A XA
Interests in associates REEE R R Z 7,302
Amounts due from associates JE U Bt 44 A R FRIA 15,000
Derivative financial instrument (fair value of option) PTEemITA(BREZATEB) 36,805
59,107
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEBELZRSREFEA
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTEERES 6,168
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
49a. Categories of financial instruments

49. #@MI A

49a. R T A 25

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets ERMEE
FVTPL BAFEERABRZRE
— Investments held for trading —REEEZIRE 44,051 13,188
— Derivative financial instruments —TESRBTA - 22,770
44,051 35,958
Loans and receivables B R IE
— Loans receivable —ERE R 267,130 353,111
— Trade and other debtors, and deposits —ES5REMERER NS 2,019,004 1,817,477
— Amounts due from associates —FENEE S A R FIB 26,133 57,583
— Amounts due from non-controlling — JE U FE4E AR A 25 3R 08
interests 1,138 =
— Bank deposits —RITTER 384,554 360,137
— Bank balances and cash —RITEFERES 648,060 561,982
3,346,019 3,150,290
Available-for-sale financial assets AIEHESREE
— Available-for-sale investments — A HERE 1,346 37,931
Total aEr 3,391,416 3,224,179
Financial liabilities at amortised costs BREBHERAIEzeRmEE
Trade and other creditors B R EMEMNERER 1,497,695 1,453,660
Amounts due to associates JE < Bt 4 1 R 3R 42,939 66,938
Amounts due to related companies FERT @ N B FE 89,488 142,321
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE A~ FE 422 AR 48 %5 RKIE 72,080 74,802
Bank and other borrowings R1T R E A AR 2,787,822 2,717,111
Convertible notes payable FEfF AT AR 22 4 138,189 129,068
4,628,213 4,583,900
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49. ¢RMIE—4&
49b. EREBEEBERBUR

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
49b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
debtors and deposits, loans receivable, available-for-sale
investments, investments held for trading, derivative
financial instruments, trade and other creditors,
amounts due from (to) associates/non-controlling
interests/related companies, bank and other borrowings
and convertible notes payable. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk

is attributable to its financial instruments
that are subject to both variable rate and
fixed rate. Those financial instruments of
variable interest rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk. Details of

the Group’s interest bearing financial
instruments at variable rate have been
disclosed in notes 28, 32, 35, 38, 39 and
40. Financial instruments at fixed interest
rates expose the Group to fair value interest
risk. Details of the Group's interest bearing
financial instruments at fixed rate have been
disclosed in notes 28, 35, 38, 40 and 41.

In order to mitigate the interest rate risk,
the Group adopts a policy of maintaining
an appropriate mix of fixed and floating
rate borrowings which is achieved primarily
through entering into different contractual
terms of borrowings. The position is
regularly monitored and evaluated by
reference of anticipated changes in market
interest rate.
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued 49. €MIA-—E&

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
(@) Market risk — continued
(i)  Interest rate risk — continued

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk
on financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
the rates announced by the PBC arising from
the Group’s RMB borrowings and advance
at variable rates and Hong Kong Inter-bank
Offered Rate and HKBLR arising from the
Group's HK Dollars loans receivable and
borrowings at variable rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for variable rate instruments
at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management
personnel.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the effect to the profit of the
Group is insignificant.

49b. ¢ REREEEERBRE B

(a) WHEAR-E
(i) FI¥xEE—&

AEBRSBABREYZHE
R H#ERAMERNE RS
EeRREEHH -ARMZR
SREMERR FTBEFRA
THRHEREZ K8 (RE A%
B2EBARBERRBER) -
ARBERTRAEREREER
EBEERAE (RBAEE 2T
BATERERRER) -

BRRE DT
TXZHBREDTTIRERRS
HrEERRFEIEITART ZAX
REmERE - 2 HRERBE
PRz KEESRTARE
BEFEEDRREENHRH - M
NEEZ2E R A BE RN X E R
B ThER A 4G NS R D508 F o

e Fl = L7t T BKS0%F - AT

BEMEBHERTE  AIHAK
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(a) Market risk — continued

(ii)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a monetary item will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. Certain receivables of the Group

are denominated in foreign currencies

such as Macau Pataca (“MOP"), RMB

and United States Dollars (“US Dollars")
and which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Group also operates in the Mainland China
with certain transactions denominated in
either RMB or US Dollars. RMB is not freely
convertible into other foreign currencies and
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies

is subject to rules and regulations of

foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government. Certain subsidiaries

of the Company have foreign currency
transactions, including purchase of
materials, expenses and borrowings. The
Group manages its exposures to foreign
currency transactions by monitoring the level
of foreign currency receipts and payments.
The Group ensures that the net exposure

to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued 49. €MIA-—E&

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
(@) Market risk — continued
(i)  Currency risk — continued

All of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in HK Dollars and RMB. It is
the policy of the Group to draw borrowings
in the functional currencies of the entities as
management considers the repayments can
be sourced from income to be generated in
those currencies.

As HK Dollars is pegged to US Dollars,

the Group believes the exposure of
transactions denominated in US Dollars
which are entered by group companies with
a functional currency of HK Dollars to be
insignificant.

The exchange rates between HK Dollars
and MOP would not be materially fluctuate,
hence, the Group’s currency risk in relation
to MOP is expected to be minimal.

The Group considers its foreign currency
exposure is mainly arising from the exposure
of RMB against HK Dollars. The Group
regularly reviews the balances of assets

and liabilities and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as to
minimise the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk.

49b. ¢ REREEEERBRE B

(a) WHEAR-E
(i) EBEEE—&
REBHAAERGUBETRAR
BREM - AEBHEAUER
2R EERMER - DERE
BERRAURAUZEEHAR
B2 W AEK -

ko

i3

BB TR TR - AR EE
EUNBLTRYEER ZEERF
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 49, @I A&
49b. Financial risk management objectives and 49b.cHEAREEEERKE &
policies — continued (a) TERB—&
(@) Market risk — continued (i) EEEE—5
(Il) Currency risk — continued 7N £ [E LA SN HE 5 B8 A7 30 T HM K
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign AR SMEAEREEARE (&
currency denominated monetary assets BERAEAE) NRESHEE
and monetary liabilities, with exposure to B BEEEL T
foreign currency risk which are considered
as significant by management, at the end of
the reporting periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT THT FHBT FHT
US Dollars ETT - = 90,001 293,893
RMB AR 29,165 10,946 271,953 336,404
HK Dollars BT 21,007 21,412 8,980 454
MOP SHLPT 11,320 19,540 29,737 83,904
Sensitivity analysis R E DT

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease

in RMB against HK Dollars and HK Dollars
against RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate

used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel.
The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK Dollars. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK Dollars, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit for the year.
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(@) Market risk — continued
(i)  Currency risk — continued
Sensitivity analysis — continued

49. ¢RMIE—4&
49b. ¢ REREEEERBRE B

() mHEER &
(i) EHEEE -8
BRE ST~

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Increase in profit for the year 4 py%s #IJ3% jin 10,136 12,713

(iii)  Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk from its available-for-sale
investments and all of the held for trading
investments. Management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles. The
Group has monitored the other price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been

determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 5% higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant,
the effect to the profit and investment
revaluation reserve of the Group is
insignificant.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge obligations by the
counterparties is:

—  the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

—  the amount of contingent liabilities as
disclosed in note 51.

(iii) B B 15 a2
AEBERAEAHEERERAA
FIFEBEREAMABRSESZE
RER - EEENERSAAR
FUESREZREAAREZILE
Bl REBESEREMERR
B AEEEFTEEEEEHA
[ERa PN

BRE DT
INTBREESMIDRBE B AE
B2 BRARERERMEE

7 BB A T BB #E E T TR
5% « T HTA H b BB T E
R A B 9 AR 4
B2 HETEK -

(b) FEERR
AEEEXSHFRERBTEEBR
T ARBEEEREEMAEZERXR
EERRE :

- HFAPBRRRLEINEZCHER
TREEZREE: &
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued 49. €MIA-—E&

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(b) Credit risk — continued

In order to minimise the credit risk of the debtors,
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group will understand the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit
sales are made to customers with good credit
history. Credit limits attributed to customers and
credit term granted to customers on different
business units are reviewed regularly. In addition,
the Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual customer to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risks as
follows:

For the Paul Y. Engineering Group segment,

due to the fact that there are only a few major
property developers in Hong Kong, the Group has
significant concentration of credit risk in a few
customers and significant concentration of credit
risk by geographic location in Hong Kong. In view
of their credit standings, good payment record

in the past and long term relationships with the
Group, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is not material. At

the end of the reporting period, the outstanding
balances from the five largest customers
amounted to approximately HK$564,128,000
(2009: HK$445,214,000) in aggregate, of

which the single largest customer represents
approximately 21% (2009: 10%) of the total
debtors at the end of the reporting period.
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BZE201063A31H EFE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued 49. €MIA-—E&

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(b) Credit risk — continued

The Group has advances together with interest
thereon to a non-trade debtor which are
included in trade and other debtors, deposits
and prepayments, amounting to approximately
HK$242,579,000 as at 31 March 2010 (2009:
HK$241,756,000) (see note 32(c) for details)
which expose the Group to the concentration of
credit risk on this single counterparty. In view that
the balance is secured by property interests in
the PRC and that the market value is higher than
the carrying amount of the outstanding balance,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's exposure to credit risk on this balance is
reduced.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the
Group had advanced unsecured loans to

related companies, which are also companies
listed in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2010,

the outstanding amount is approximately
HK$169,627,000 (2009: HK$289,542,000) (see
note 28 for details), which expose the Group

to the concentration of credit risk on these
counterparties. In view of good payment record
and relationship with the Group, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is minimal.

With respect to concentration of credit risk arising
from amounts due from associates, the Group'’s
exposure to credit risk arising from default of

the counterparty is limited as the associates have
strong financial position and the Group does not
expect to incur a significant loss for uncollected
amounts due from these associates.

Details of another concentration of credit risk are
set out in note 32(c).

49b. e RIEREEEERBE &
(b) FERK &

AEBERMIFESEHFA(ERBER
BHREMEBBWRER T2 REMK
B) stBEZK R201063A8318 =
242,579,000 7t (2009 : 241,756,000
HB7r) (B R RE320) - EAEE®
HEFRUE-XZFEUFZEERR -
HRZEERURTEZ Y ERETS
AER METEIRLEXREEES
WARREERA AEEZEER
g -

REZE2010F3A318LFE A&EH
CEEEEAERTHELR 2%
REIRABEB ETARA - #2010F3A
310 - R1EE © % 4 75169,627,000/8
7 (2009 : 289,542,000 7T) (3B 5
Mizr28) EALEEHEEFRZER
SHFZEERR ARBRTHR
HoMmERAEBZBER KNAFES
RR - AEEZEERBREM -

SN E AR RAZEERRME
HRZBERR CHBORRARE K
SERESTENMELEZEERRE
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CNCIE QBN &3 NI SN
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(b)

(9]

F
208 P1L»

Credit risk — continued

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Other than the above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk, the
exposure of which spreads over a number of
counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2010, the Group has available unutilised bank
loan facilities of approximately HK$675 million
(2009: HK$506 million). Details of the amounts
utilised at the end of the reporting period are set
out in note 40.

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. There are unutilised banking facilities
available to finance the Group’s working capital
requirements. The Group relies on borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
The Group will also consider the issue of equity
instruments so as to finance its investment
projects.

The following tables detail the Group's
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

and based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of the reporting period.
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BZE201063A31H EFE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 49. eWMIA-4%&
49b. Financial risk management objectives and 49b. e EAKREER F&BZ% — &
policies — continued (0 RBELEK—2
() Liquidity risk — continued B L F 7/7 T
Liquidity and interest risk tables

Weighted More than
average  Ondemand 90 daysand Total
effective or within within ~ More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365 days 365days  cash flows amount
i #890A ARRRE
THERNZE REAZ0AA  EH36SERA 1218365A b=t 3 BEf
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% T T T T T
2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities #fi4$BEE
Trade and other creditors “”%&ﬁﬁw@ﬁ i - 552,158 781,039 164,498 1,497,695 1,497,695
Amounts due to related companies/ BT/ BENE/
associates/non-controlling interests 3&%%, i
- non interest bearing —Rit8 - 81,285 - - 81,285 81,285
- interest bearing -8 532 100,527 2438 21,432 124,397 123,222
Bank and other borrowings RIREMER
- fixed rate -E8 6.48 63,876 164,521 46,420 214,817 266,022
- variable rate -%8 534 815,215 385,378 1615714 2,816,307 2,521,800
Convertible notes payable ERTAREE - 138,737 - - 138,737 138,189
Financial quarantee contracts HHERRD - 45,506 - - 45,506 -
1,797,304 1333376 1,848,064 4,978,744 4,628,213
2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities #fi4$B&E
Trade and other creditors BAREMERER - 1,133,250 246,333 74,077 1,453,660 1,453,660
Amounts due to related companies/  EREEAT/BEAT/
associates/non-controlling interests 3&%%, i
- non interest bearing —Rit8 - 89,295 - 18,049 107 344 107 344
- interest bearing -8 6.46 120,000 = 59,729 179,729 176,717
Bank and other borrowings RIREMER
- fixed rate -E& 8.84 83,342 68,027 = 151,369 150,725
- variable rate -%8 6.43 576,527 546,663 1833238 2,956,428 2,566,386
Convertible notes payable EfTRRZEE - - - 138737 138,737 129,068
Financial quarantee contracts HBERRD - 22,676 - - 2,676 -
2,025,090 861,023 2,123,830 5,009,943 4,583,900
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

49b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

(9]

Liquidity risk — continued
Liquidity and interest risk tables — continued

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counter party to
the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit
losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

49c. Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

F
210 1D

the fair value of financial assets with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices;

the fair value of derivative instruments is arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out by

an independent firm of professional valuer.

The professional valuer possesses appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar instruments. Details of the
basis are set out in note 34; and

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable
current market transaction as input.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
49c. Fair value - continued
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to

3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

49. ¢RMIE—4&

49c.

AV EE-E

EERR HAVBRRPIZBHKAT R
ZERMEERTREBGBZERAERARSZZA
FEEHMS -

RELDBERIKFELRZ 2F
KE\EEEJLE
MWTHRER-BSBRTAEZON €8T
AU HERRZAFEEE  AKER
—E=  FUBEQFEEZRENE -

. BRA-—AFEEFEERERZEE
FEERERMS 2 RE (REHE)
EXE -

e EBRZATEEEBRTEXR-—FERE
Z#E@-‘iﬁ\\ TREEMBBEZABRZ
Hipsg A (A RBEE[BNER B &
(AVREBR])EE -

. R=nNVEEZFEREBEEFES
iﬁ BRYFRAEETHEHERA
FABRGA) cEELREMEE -

31.3.2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bix— Bx= Bxr= a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT T THET
Financial assets TRMEE
Investments held for BEIEEZFRE
trading 44,051 - - 44,051
Available-for-sale Al HERE
investments 521 - 541 1,062
Total Sl 44,572 - 541 45,113

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in
the current year.

RAFE BAXA—RKREBEAXZ_Z2HEATE
iz -
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50. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for qualifying employees. The assets of the schemes
are separately held in funds under the control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. The subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to contribute a specified percentage of their

payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect

to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The cost charged to the consolidated income statement
represents contributions paid and payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. Where
there are employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no material
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes prior to their interests in the Group’s
contributions becoming fully vested and which are available
to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in future
years.

With effective from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined
a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at the rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBIRRM

For the year ended 31 March 2010

EZ2010F3A31HILEE

50. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES - continued 50. ERBEFRGE &
The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the BiEREMEL ZRAREMNGFEHRERES
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income statement WERNG - HERANEBIRE 2R AR 2 =
represent contributions paid and payable to the funds by the AESENRERZHE -

Group at the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

FA - REERERAZEZRNENG SR 4E
During the year, the total retirement benefit scheme ZE47514,418,0005% 7T (2009 : 15,128,00055 7T )
contributions charged to consolidated income statement
amounted to approximately HK$14,418,000 (2009:
HK$15,128,000).

51. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 51. HAEE
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FHET
Guarantees given to banks in respect of IR F TIALZRITEEMRTT
banking facilities granted to: ER Z R
— an associate N - 11,835
— third parties —$=3 45,506 22,676
45,506 34,511
At the initial date of providing these guarantees, the directors RIEHERER  EFR/UBERZATFEAET
consider that the fair value of the financial guarantees is TERKX -
insignificant.
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BE2010F3A31BILFE
52. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 52. REBERE
(@) The Group as a lessee: (a) EEBEAEMEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBEHTER  KREBETHMEZERB
commitments for future minimum lease payments T HEREEDZ HAVELEE R#
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of WA A FE 4 5 T 9B kR R (K4 2B &
leasehold interest in land, rented premises and plant o fEARYE S AT

and machinery which fall due as follows:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Within one year —E R 24,034 29,903
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_ZEAF(BEREMFEBREEN) 12,181 23,610
Over five years HBRAF 22,244 3,913
58,459 57,426
Leases are negotiated, and monthly rentals are fixed, BOzBALRGAHESETE AIEHRA—FZ
for terms ranging from one to thirty years. =T FEAEo
(b) The Group as a lessor: (b) XEBEEHHBA :
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had NIEMTER  REFHEKREMELH
contracted with tenants in respect of its investment EERARSIERSIIETL - TN :
properties for future minimum lease payments which
fall due as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —E R 7.315 3,824
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFAF(HEMFERIEELEN) 14,070 5,187
Over five years BERE 3,143 -
24,528 9,011
Operating lease arrangements represent rentals KEHETHERESEREYERKZES - A
receivable by the Group for certain of its premises. CHENIT TR AIET6ETE o
Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 year to
6 years.
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BZE201063A31H EFE

53. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 53. EEER
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were RGBT ER - THEED BT TRIT R B#
pledged to banks and financial institutions to secure the B EAAEERS —REEREZER:

general credit facilities granted to the Group:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Investment properties BEMHE 172,241 156,463
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 628,170 473,114
Prepaid lease payments BAEEHRE 204,200 193,923
Bank deposits RITTER 33,582 183,439
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BR X 34,130 -
Other intangible assets HihEp & e 75,756 9,940
Project under development FEHBIEH 167,880 151,163
Stock of properties MERZE 663,803 508,135
1,979,762 1,676,177
In addition, the Group’s benefits under certain construction BN AEBRETEESHZAZE FERE - E
contracts were pledged to secure the facilities granted. RETERHRE 2 ER -
54. COMMITMENTS 54, EiE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Expenditure contracted for but not provided #tUHEIA T1E B B AE KRGS
in the consolidated financial statements in SRR NBEE 2R
respect of acquisition of:
— Property, plant and equipment —WnE - W KGR 33,488 286,231
— Project under development — B REPIEH 63,304 101,280
— Properties under development —BEPYE - 24,234
— Acquisition of a non-wholly owned —WEFEEEHBHE AR
subsidiary - 129,127
96,792 540,872
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE

55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 55. BAE AR REE
BALANCES _ _ (@) BEAHBREEMBGREZN E0
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated AEBBEMEA LTI TRS

financial statements, the Group also entered into the
following significant transactions with certain related
parties during the year:

2010 2009
Class of related party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALZER XHME TER TET
Associates of the Group Project management fees charged to the Group
AEEZHE AR AEEXNBERAERE 6,854 15,629
Project management fees charged by the Group
AEEWBBERERE - 11,867
Jointly controlled entities of the Group Service fees charged by the Group
AEE 2 LRI E AEERRRSE 15 15
Subsidiaries of ITC Service fees charged to the Group
BRAEZINBAR AEELNREE 38 =
Interest charged to the Group
AEEZAFE 1,763 5,007
Rentals charged to the Group
AEEZfiHES 360 360
Motor vehicles rental charged to the Group
AEETRNER M 174
Associates of ITC Interest income charged by the Group
BRMCEZHERT A& BERA S HA 20,421 27,212
Interest charged to the Group
AEBEZ AL 3,576 3,576
Service fees charged by the Group
AEBKERRSEE 229 414
Service fees charged to the Group
AEEZ RS E 2,011 1,985
Carpark rental fee charged by the Group
AEERREESEE 60 68
Interest of bonds entitled by the Group
AEEZHREFLTE 737 737
Disposal of a motor vehicle by the Group
AEEHERE - 170
Construction works charged by the Group
AEBNBERIRER 31,402 12,110
Project and facilities management fees charged by
the Group
AEEWEAR RREERE 4,068 =
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B M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 55. BEATRGRESR &
BALANCES - continued ) FERTEBEREREZHSHAFHER
(b)  The remuneration of directors and other members L2EZFFIABEZRBELTHBERMEE -
of key management, which is determined by the HEWT
remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends, is as
follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Short-term benefits L HEAE A 23,503 20,301
Post-employment benefits RIRAEF 475 478
Share-based payment expense AR A A5k E 2 B A (130) 7,387
23,848 28,166
Details of the share options for the Company’s shares FARTESIMARTEEBARRAIRND 2ER
granted to the directors or outstanding during the year BZEBENT
are set out below:
Exercise
price per  Outstanding Lapsed  Adjustment  Outstanding
Name of director Dateof grant  Exercise period share as at during  made during as at
. 1.4.2009 the year theyeart 3132010
£33 RtiRH i BRAKE 141.4.2009 143132010
HK$ HARTR ERk%  FRELEE HATE
BT
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom ~ 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 043762% 7,583,333 - 10833333 18416666
AR 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.52940% 7,583,333 - 10,833,333 18,416,666
8.9.2006 8.9.200807.9.2009 0.87528* 5366667  (13,033334) 7,666,667 -
18.9.2007 18.9.2008 to 17.9.2009 1.25151* 4,550,000 (11,050,000) 6,500,000 -
18.9.2007 18.9.2009 to 17.9.2010 1.25151% 4,550,000 - 6,500,000 11,050,000
3.6.2008 3.6.2008 t0 2.6.2009 171142 3,931,667 (3,931,667) - -
Chan Shu Kin 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.43762* 758,333 - 1,083,333 1,841,666
REZ 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.52940* 758,333 = 1,083,333 1,841,666
Leung Po Wing,
Bowen Joseph
28% 8.9.2006 8.9.2006 t0 26.8.2012 0.85762* 1,516,667 - 2,166,667 3,683,334
Li Chang An 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 t0 26.8.2012 1.05881* 1,516,667 - 2,166,667 3,683,334
ZER

Sub-total /\st

38115000  (28015,001) 48833333 58933332

* In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the range of the
exercise prices of the share options was adjusted from HK$1.0628
and HK$3.0394 per share to HK$0.43762 and HK$1.25151 per
share respectively and the total number of the then outstanding
share options under the Share Option Scheme was also adjusted
correspondingly on 3 July 2009, as a result of the rights issue of
Company.

* AARARETERZ & H - R2009F7A38  BRIE
BREE - BREZOEERE S AETREKRN
1.0628 8L £3.03948 THEZFRKR1%H0.437628 T
F1.251518 7 c MBRET B TERMARITEZER
TSR B A -
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 55. BMEBEAIRGREH B

BALANCES - continued

(c) Details of the balances with related companies and
associates at the end of the reporting period are set out
in notes 28, 29, 30, 32, 37, 38, 39 and 40.

(0 MREHTHER BEARRBEEARLHS
EHYINHFE28 29303237 38"
39%40 °

56. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 56.

Financial information of the Company at the end of the
reporting period includes:

KRAT 2 HBEHR
RmERTER  AEERBENSEE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Assets BE 3,323,448 3,087,818
Liabilities af& (1,276,842) (1,333,870)
2,046,606 1,753,948
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERN G
Share capital % X 452,913 150,839
Reserves (Note) % (Hat) 1,593,693 1,603,109
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS BEES 2,046,606 1,753,948
Note: Bt -
Convertible  Share-based
Share notes payment Warrants Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
AR LR A3 3% 15
REE EERE RERE RREIBRE REEF &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHAT FAT FHT FHT
At 1 April 2008 200854818 438,714 8,482 28,260 - 1,212,651 1,688,107
Share issue expenses BITROER (510) - - - - (510)
Recognition of equity-settled TERUAR D X 0B
share-based payment expense Z2EBA - - 14,985 - 14,985
Issue of shares under share RIRERERT S
option scheme TR 1,651 - - - 1,651
Release upon lapse of vested options B &7 8 i A& 2 4k 2B 4 5% - - (15,226) 15,226 =
Loss for the year FEER - - - (101,124) (101,124)
Dividends recognised as distribution BRIED K ZIE - - - 12,833 (12,833) =
At 31 March 2009 200943 A31H 439,855 8,482 28,019 12,833 1,113,920 1,603,109
Share issue expenses BIIRNDER (12,083) - - - (12,083)
Recognition of equity-settled TR AR 2508
share-based payment expense ZEBA - - 1,337 - 1,337
Issue of shares on exercise of warrants 17 R % 1 35 217 i (0 1,262 - - (68) - 1,194
Issue of shares on subscription of IR B BB RTRGD
rights issue 60,387 - - - 60,387
Release upon lapse of vested options & 53 /8 8 % 12 2k 4 3 |21 - - (15,240) 15,240 -
Release upon lapse of warrants RIRAE BB B[ - - - (12,765) 12,765 -
Loss for the year FEER - - - (60,251) (60,251)
At 31 March 2010 201063 A31H 489,421 8,482 14,116 1,081,674 1,593,693
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HZE2010F3A3MBILFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57. FEMBLAR BELTARIEREHKE
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED =g
ENTITIES @) AAFEEMERFR20104 %200943A

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

BMAZFBHT

Percentage of issued share capital/

registered capital
BRORE/HREAE AL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BB{TR BHEAE/
WEAEEH i/ g B HRRE/EMER KDEHRE REEERL TEER
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
China Earth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
ERBRAF B BT EBRRG REER
Corless Limited British Virgin Islands US$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
EREREHE BT ERRRA REHER
Feeder Port Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$27,840 ordinary shares 875 94.61 875 94.61 Investment holding
RERAHE 27 B0 T EBRR D RERR
Glory Well Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
BIZBRAT ) 10,0008 T & @R R D REER
Jiangsu Wanhua Real Estate PRC US$8,800,000 100 100 100 100 Property investment
Development Co., Ltd. f registered capital MERE
IHEZRMEREERAF (note (i) below)
8,800,000% ¢
HMER(FXHE))
Jiangsu YangKou Port Development ~ PRC US$136,650,000 75 60 75 60 Port development
and Investment Co., Ltd. HE registered capital BOERE
TEFOAREREERAA (notes (i) and (vi) below)
136,650,000 7Tt & 7K
(Fxchiz(in k)
Jiangsu Yangtong Investment PRC US$30,000,000 75 75 75 75 Port development
and Development Co., Ltd. # registered capital BOERE
IHEBRERERR AR (notes (i) and (vi) below)
30,000,0005 7Lz &7
(FXH )R ()
Jiaxing International Container PRC RMB128,800,000 90 90 78.75 85.15 Port development
Feeder Port Limited f registered capital BO%EE
FRANTERSERBEEERAA (note (i) below)
AR 128,800,000
AR FxHE)
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BZE201063A31H EFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(a)

k1

57. TEMBAT HBEQATARLRIE
B -&

@) —#

R
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— continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRTRA/AREAE AL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BEAR AREAR/
KEAREHE R/ S B BRRA/ EMER AREEE KEEES TEXH
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
Nation Cheer Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1,200,000 100 100 100 100 Securities investment
SEREERAR B ordinary shares EHRE
1,200,000 7T & B IRAX {7
Paul Y. Building Materials Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Trading and installation
Company Limited & VBT ERRRA of building materials
BENMHES RER
Paul Y. Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Ports operation and
REEEFRATA B VELEBRAN infrastructure investment
BOBERERRE
Paul Y. - Concentric Joint Venture  Hong Kong = 51 51 318 31.63 Civil engineering
E (note (i) below) TATR
(Fxhisi)
Paul Y. - CREC(HK) Joint Venture ~ Hong Kong = 60 60 3742 31.2 Civil engineering
E (note (iii) below) TAIR
(Fxhisi)
Paul Y. (E & M) Contractors Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$20,000,000  99.9998 99,9998 62.36 62.02 Provision of electrical,
REBRETRARAT A ordinary shares mechanical and
20,000,000 7T building services
LR REBHEEERS
Paul Y. Builders Group Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
REREEEERAT Bk 2ETERERRG RERR
HK$1,000,000 - - = -
non-voting deferred shares
(note (iv) below)
1,000,000 T &R 21
BRRBRRG (FXH )
Paul Y. Builders Limited Hong Kong HK$102,000,000 100 100 62.36 62.02 Building construction
RERERRAT R ordinary shares e
102,000,000 7T
LERRG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,

ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - continued

57.

FEMNBLAG HEQ
(a)

— &

3

k1

RAREZESEE

(a) - continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/HEREXEA L
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRTR AREAR/
KWEARER R/ ER/ B BERA/EMES AREMEE REEES TERH
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
Paul Y. Construction & Hong Kong HK$42,000,000 100 100 62.36 62.02 Building construction
Engineering Co. Limited BE ordinary shares and spedialist works
RERETRARNLTA 42,000,000 7 BYRERTRIR
ERRR
Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited ~ Bermuda HK$302,999,898 62.36 62.02 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
RERZEEERAA BRE ordinary shares RERR
302,999,898/ T
LRRERD
Paul Y. Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.36 62.02 Provision of finance
RERBERAT EE BT EBRRL RUERE
Paul Y. General Contractors Limited ~Hong Kong HK$200,000,000 100 100 62.36 62.02 Civil engineering and
RERZLERBAA E ordinary shares building construction
200,000,000/ IATRRETRE
ERRR
Paul Y. Interior Contractors Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Interior decoration works
RERBHIRERRA EE VELEBRARN ZRREIR
Paul Y. Management Contracting ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$2,000 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
Group Lirited ZBRLES 2,000% 7T & @R 1 REAZR
RERRIREEARAA
Paul Y. Plant Hire Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Hire of motor vehicles,
REERBEBRAR B VETLRRRG plant and machinery
AE - REREHEE
Paul Y. Construction Company, Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Civil engineering, building
Limited EE AT ERBE R construction and
RERZERAA investment holding
AR BFRER
REER
HK$50,000,000 - - = -
non-voting
preferred shares
(note (v) below)
50,000,000 TERFHE

EEBRBRGN (FxhEY)
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B M RER M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE2010F3A31BILFE

(a)

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57. FEMBAR HEAAR‘RZEFKE
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED BER-4&
ENTITIES - continued @) -—4&
— continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRORE/HREAB AL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BR{TR BHEAE/
WEAEEHE i/ g B HRRA/EMER ADEHRE REBERE TEER
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
Paul Y. Construction (China) Limited  PRC RMB120,000,000 100 100 62.36 62.02  Civil engineering
RERE (PE)BERAA a1 registered capital and building construction
(note (i) below) TAIRREFRE
AR 120,000,000
FMER(FXHE()
Paul Y. Facilities Management Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Facilities management
Co. Limited B VETLRRRG services
REREERBRAF R E B R
Paul Y. Foundation Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.36 62.02 Investment holding
EERRES 1ETEBRE R RERR
Paul Y. Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 62.36 62.02 Civil engineering and
REDBEERAF &k ordinary shares foundation works
10,000,000 7T TARTRRMETR
LR
Paul Y. Foundation (Macau) Limited ~ Macau MOP25,000 100 100 62.36 62.02 Civil engineering and
REME(BM) ERAR po Al registered capital foundation works
25,0008 LM EA TATRRMETE
Paul Y. Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Management and
REERBRAT A BT EBRRA secretarial services
BB RWERE
Paul Y. Project Management Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Project management services
International Limited EiE QAT LRI R and investment holding
REARTRERBRAA BEEBRBRREAR
PY! Infrastructure Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100* 100* 100 100 Investment holding
RERAHE 1ETERRER REAR
PYI Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Management services
RESEERERAA 0 VETERRRG ERRB
PYI Min Sheng Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
RERERARRAT BE VELEBRRS REER
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REUBmMRMEE
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BZE201063A31H EFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(a)

57. FEMBLAR  -BHELQ
B -&

@) —#

k1

RAREZESEE

(note (i) below)
41,000,000 L&A
(FXHE)

— continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRORE/HREAB AL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRAR BHEAE/
WEAEEHE i/ g B HRRA/EMER ADEHRE REEERL TEER
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
PYI Properties (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
RERE(BB)ERAR Bl BT ERRR R REER
PYI Xingdong Properties PRC US$20,000,000 100 100 100 100 Property investment
(Jiangsu) Limited h registered capital MERE
RERREX (L&) ERAHA (notes (i) and () below)
20,000,000 7Lz &7
(FXHR(R )
PYI Yichang Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 100 100 Ports operation and
REBEREERAA EE 1AL ERRRD infrastructure investment
BOBERERRE
Unistress Concrete Products Hong Kong HKS$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.36 62.02 Manufacturing and trading
(H.K.) Limited B 2B E BRI of concrete products and
BhRRLEM(BE)ERAR property investment
REIERUERES
ROERE
HK$10,000 100 100 62.36 62.02
non-voting
deferred shares
(note (iv) below)
10,000 T ERZEEIT
IRRR (D (P xcHT )
Yangtze Feeder Port Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 875 94.61 87.5 94.61 Investment holding
R=ZANABERAR Bk BT BRER RERR
Yichang Port Group Limited PRC RMB162,890,000 - 51 - 51 Port operation
HEABEBBREAAH i registered capital BOEE
(note (ii) below)
AE 162,890,000
HMER (F X))
RERERRRICRERAR PRC US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 LPG distribution and logistics
i registered capital RIEEEREHRIR
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BE2010F3A31BILFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57. TEMBAR BEARARARZEHKE
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED BER-4&
ENTITIES — continued @ —1&

(a) - continued

Percentage of issued share capital/

registered capital
BRORE/HREAB AL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRAR HHEAT/
WEAEEHE i/ g B HRRA/EMER ADEHRE REEERL TEER
2009 2010 2009 2010
% % % %
B RERRERRIER PRC US$4,300,000 100 100 100 100 LPG technical development
ABRAH i registered capital I HARTEE
(notes (i) and (vi) below)
4,300,000% 7L &R
(PR )
HIEREEERAT PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 81.18 81.01  Investment holding
i registered capital REER
(note (i) and (vi) below)
AR 30,000,007
HMER
(FXHZ0% )
RMNEENRAEER A PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 81.18 81.01  Property holding
# registered capital EEME
(note (i) below)
AR 10,000,007
HMER(FXH)
*  The subsidiary is directly held by the Company. « ZHBATIMAATEERS -
All of the above subsidiaries are limited companies L ENB AT ASR AT - HpPaul

except Paul Y. — Concentric Joint Venture and Paul Y.
— CREC(HK) Joint Venture which are unincorporated

bodies. Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited is listed in
Hong Kong.

Y. — Concentric Joint Venture &Paul Y. -
CREC(HK) Joint Venture & 3E/E A B B2 - (REE
BREEEERARERE LT -
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BZE201063A31H EFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(a) - continued

57. TEMBLAT BEQAARAFZHEE
@ —#
Bt

Notes:
(i) Being the wholly-foreign-owned-enterprises.
(ii) Being the sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

(iii) There is no issued share capital/registered capital for the joint
ventures as they are unincorporated bodies.

(iv) The holders of the non-voting deferred shares are not entitled to
vote, are not entitled to any dividends for any financial year and
are, on winding up or otherwise, only entitled out of the surplus
assets of the company to a return of the capital after a total sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of
the ordinary shares of the company.

(v) The holders of the non-voting preferred shares are not entitled
to vote, are not entitled to any dividends unless the net profits of
the company available for dividend exceed HK$100,000,000,000
in which case they should be entitled to a fixed non-cumulative
dividend at the rate of 5% per annum for any financial year
and are, on winding up, only entitled out of the surplus assets
of the company to a return of the capital after a total sum of
HK$10,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of the
ordinary shares of the company.

(vi) As at 31 March 2010, the registered capital of Jiangsu YangKou
Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd., Jiangsu Yangtong
Investment and Development Co., Ltd., PYI Xingdong Properties
(Jiangsu) Limited, #TEME X B AR and ML RAERRGEREL
fiT3% R A BR A 5] are paid up to US$97,799,441, US$16,677,730,
US$16,525,424, RMB 14,084,680 and US$3,793,000, respectively.
The registered capital of all other principal subsidiaries registered in
the PRC are fully paid up as at 31 March 2010.

@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

WERRRIEBEDE -
WERRRTIIEGEGERT -

HRAZERETIIDAAER RYLEDHTR
rRAMER -

HWEERERBETRFAEAEERE F
EREERCMNVBREFEZRS  BERBERE
TZAREBERIEEMBEALT S IRER
100,000,000,000,000/% Tt T2 A Al L@ HFE
ANBHEFGEEZBRT  BEREEAN -

HEEREREARBEABRRE T E
RIS - BRIk A Al AR B 40 F R iE
100,000,000,000 7T - EHBERT  BEH#E
REMMBFEERRE —EFEAEZETEIFE
2EBRE  BEREREZARBRED KA
10,000,000,0008 7t T2 A Bl ERMERFAE AL
MERBEEZBERT BEREEX-

MR2010F3A31H " ITHFABREFHEBR
ARACIHFBRABEREERAR - REH
REX(OIH) ARQA -MIEHEXAR
RARBUAERERREREMERER QA
B8 » B A97,799,4413% 7T ~ 16,677,730
T~ 16,525,424% 7T « AR ¥#14,084,6807T K
3,793,000 Ttz M E AR o Eer R B2
FTEMEQAR2010F3A3THEHREME
$a
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HZE2010F3 8318 IEFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57. TEMBAT BHEAR R EHKIE
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED R &
ENTITIES - continued b) ARFMEHAZTEHAATRN2010ER

(b)  Particulars of the Company’s principal associates 2009F3A31THZHBWT ¢

indirectly held by the Company at 31 March 2010 and

2009 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

Percentage of
issued share
capital/registered
capital attributable

Name of associate registration registered capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTRARE AEEELESRTRE/
BENRAB B/ R 3t B R/ G E R AMMERTD TEXEH
2009 2010
% %
CSCEC - Paul Y. Construction ~ PRC US$10,000,000 19.5 19.4 Civil engineering
Company Limited H registered capital and building
HEREZZERETAT (note below) construction
10,000,000 7T TARIRRETRE
HMER(FXHE)
Jiangyin Sunan International PRC US$12,500,000 = 25 Port operation
Container Terminal Co., Ltd.  HE registered capital OB
TREEEREEREEER AR (note below)
12,500,000% 7T
HMER(FXHE)
Nantong Port Group Limited PRC RMB966,004,400 45 45 Port operation
HBEOEEERAR HE registered capital BOER
(note below)
AR #966,004,4007C
M ER(FXHE)
Zhong Yu - Paul Y. Project PRC US$500,000 249 24.8 Project management
Management Company i registered capital and consultancy

Limited

(note below)

services

LERFFRETRER 500,000% 7T BB ER RHARS
EEBRAT EMER(FXHEE)

All of the above associates are held by the Company
indirectly.

LA BERRHHAARREERE -

Bat: RRRTIIGERERT -

Note: The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company.
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HZE2010F3A831HILFE
57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57.

ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - continued

(¢)  Particulars of the Company’s principal jointly controlled
entity at 31 March are as follows:

TEWBAT BEATRERIEHEE

R85

(0 ARATEARLHBBRIANEZHE
mF

Issued and Percentage of
Name of jointly Place of fully paid interest attributable
controlled entity incorporation share capital to the Group Principal activities

BBRITR rEEEWN
HEZEHEERRE PR3 3t 26 HBERK EREAL TEXER
2009 2010
% %
Paul Y. - Penta-Ocean Joint  Hong Kong - 31.2 31.0 Civil engineering
Venture BB (note below) TARTRE
(FXHtet)

Note: There is no issued share capital for the joint venture as it is an
unincorporated body.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and
jointly-controlled entity of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion

of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled
entities would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

58. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 June 2010, the Group entered into a capital increase
agreement with other beneficial owners of Jiangyin Sunan
to increase the registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan from
approximately RMB100.7 million to RMB400 million. The
Group has contributed approximately RMB134.8 million to
the enlarged registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan to increase
its equity interest held in Jiangyin Sunan from 25% to 40%.

58.

Bat: mRAERETIIDEABRR RUESHITR
o

LRI RESRRIEFEAKTEFEEEAL
HRARERIENEEFELARAMBAR - B
ERABIRARZEHEE -BEERA HIEMCHE
DR BERRRARZEN KB ZERBSREL
£ o

HREHRSE

2010F6 29 - AEEETRAMAMERE
BAGTUEEGZ SIHB AMELRHLY
ARBE1007ETENEARBABEL - ZEEE B
IRHE I EEATMERLEEN ARK1.3481E
T EEAMBERNIRHE R AERBH25%EE
40% °
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ISR

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A31ALEE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET TR FTHET
RESULTS ¥iE
Turnover EHERE 3,242,806 4,643,712 5,502,543 4,835,905 4,260,421
Profit before taxation B ATE R 367,128 326,595 833,297 577,295 402,484
Taxation BiiE (52,804) 50,552 (315,186) (327,784) (165,764)
Profit for the year FEH T 314,324 377,147 518,111 249,511 236,720
Attributable to: FEAS :
Owners of the Company PN/NEIEZ SN 278,861 345,665 359,982 138,794 149,298
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR MR 35,463 31,482 158,129 110,717 87,422
314,324 377,147 518,111 249,511 236,720
At 31 March
M3A31H
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET THET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets REE 5,981,678 7,621,447 10,361,473 12,315,942 14,041,000
Total liabilities waE (2,971,741) (4,372,598) (6,252,163) (7,767,925) (8,383,510)
3,009,937 3,248,849 4,109,310 4,548,017 5,657,490
EQUITY fEm
Equity attributable to owners ~ ARNRQAF#HEH A
of the Company FEfG 2R 2,570,632 2,771,852 3,377,085 3,646,596 4,129,679
Non-controlling interests e AR HE R 439,305 476,997 732,225 901,421 1,527,811
3,009,937 3,248,849 4,109,310 4,548,017 5,657,490
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

TBYEFHE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location
NE

5.16 sq km formed land located at
the north of Changsha Town,
Rudong County, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
HEIIAERMET

MR G R D HEIAIL

516 F AR E

[ - b

1.95 sg km formed land located at
the west of the outer gate of
Yangkou Town, Rudong County,
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

HENIAERET

WNER ¥ OEESNE AT

1.95¥ 78

B

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Location
uE

0.99 sg km formed land of the
Sun Island located at the north of
Changsha Town, Rudong County,
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

RENIAE AT
WMRERDHEAL KRGS
0.99FARE

[ - b

Existing use
REFAR

Undetermined use
M AR E A

Undetermined use
M AR E A

Existing use
BREAR

Held for sale
FHIEHE

REYE
Lease term Group interest
A AEBFLER
Leasehold with 60%
medium term
FEEERS
Leasehold with 75%
medium term
FEEERS
MEFE
Lease term Group interest
HHE AEEFREER
Leasehold with 60% to & 75%
medium term
FHHEERE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, i

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Non-Executive Directors

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan (Alternate to Chan Kwok Keung, Charles)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass

Li Chang An

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Chan Shu Kin (Chairman)

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost »
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass,

Remuneration Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ose, s (Chairman)
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass, »»

Nomination Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ozt s (Chairman)

Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (Alternate to Lau Ko Yuen, Tom)
Chan Shu Kin (Alternate to Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest)

Compliance Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, s» (Chairman)
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Ko Hiu Fung

Share Repurchase Committee

Chan Shu Kin (Chairman)
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph oz, i (Alternate to Chan Shu Kin)
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

230 FYI:) PYI Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report

EER
FE(BLFEHITES)
JE A #E o8E Jp

BERRER
BB

FHITES
PR Bl 588
SRIEME (B LRET )

BYFHTES
I
BR B2

48 Gos, P
FER

EERZEE
EREES
PRIGIER (£ /)
JEIBR#E o8t sp
W&

P EE5 Gas, P

FMZzESY
JEVBR#E ose, P (/)
258

I

2B L Gps, Jp
REZES

JEIBA#E ose, p (£/F)
2mR

B
RER (BT

RIS (FLHL %)

EHREEE

BV BRHE ose, sp (£ /)
CIROE:

PR 45 B2

=BE

BHEBZE®

PRIGIER (£/2)

JEIBAHE ose, p (B EFITES)
2mR



COMPANY SECRETARY
Ko Hiu Fung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lau Ko Yuen, Tom
Ko Hiu Fung
Wong Yiu Hung
(Alternate to Lau Ko Yuen, Tom and Ko Hiu Fung)

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu

BNP Paribas

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

CITIC Bank International Limited

DBS Bank Limited

Deutche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Wing Hang Bank, Limited

Wing Lung Bank Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)

DLA Piper Hong Kong (Hong Kong)

JC Master Law Offices (PRC)

Richards Butler (Hong Kong)

Vincent T.K. Cheung, Yap & Co. (Hong Kong)

FINANCIAL ADVISERS

Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited

BOCI Asia Limited

KPMG Corporate Finance Limited
PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited
Somerley Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES ADMINISTRATORS
BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited

(Share Award Scheme — Trustee)
BOCI Securities Limited

(Share Financing Plan — Custodian;

Share Option Scheme — Administrator)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
31/F, Paul Y. Centre

51 Hung To Road

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Tel:  +852 2831 8338

Fax : +852 2372 0641

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke HM 08

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
26/F, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

WWW.pyicorp.com

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 498
American Depository Receipt PYIFY
Frankfurt Stock Exchange PYW

232 FYI:) PY| Corporation Limited 2010 Annual Report

ROREFE2EEA

FIRBEIRABERBIETETFERAA
(17 2@t &) - X7 A)

TIRERESFERAR
(RUIBEAE - REA -
BIRESE - EEA)

& i 3th HE
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

FTEEEME

BB

NEEE

TG E B 15
RELERLHIE
%% 0 +852 2831 8338
fEH : +852 2372 0641

ROBFELTERE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke HM 08

Bermuda

ROBFERLDE
BENMEBRBERAR
BB

B

ERKNER285
TEER26E

431t

WWW.pyicorp.com

% 13 1% 5%

& B AP 498
XEELES PYIFY
EH R RER PYW



31/F, Paul Y. Centre, 51 Hung To Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NEEIEGEES1RREREFRLIE
Tel |5k :+852 2831 8338

Fax {§H :+852 2372 0641

WWw.pyicorp.com
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